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PERFORMANCE REPORT 

Statement from the Accountable Officer and Chair  
 

Welcome to the NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) 2017/18 

Annual Report. 

2017/18 has been a challenging year for the CCG; however, with robust plans and processes in place to 

meet the challenges we have been able to maintain good financial performance whilst improving the range 

and quality of services available to local people.  We have made good progress towards our local vision and 

our local response to the Five Year Forward View.  We continue to prioritise our work with local communities 

so that we are able to deliver improved services and health outcomes.  

This report details our performance throughout 2017/18 including our financial performance, our approach to 

good governance and how we work with our partner organisations across the health and social care sector to 

achieve our aims.  

The performance report describes our objectives and strategies as a commissioning organisation and our 

successes. It outlines the projects we have led on and how they have improved delivery of healthcare in our 

communities.  

We are particularly pleased that our new 24/7 integrated urgent care service launched on April 1st 2017 has 

been well received by our communities.  Located within our two local hospitals in Stockton and Hartlepool, 

this services provides access to GP led urgent care and access for those with minor injuries and includes the 

ability to conveniently book appointments through NHS 111.  

This year we were also nominated for a “Bright Ideas in Health” Award for our bespoke training programme 

offered to local care homes. The training aims to help local care home staff to improve care through 

increased knowledge and awareness in End of Life and Palliative Care, Dementia and Delirium, Falls 

Awareness and Wellbeing of the Frail and Elderly, and is part of a wider drive by the NHS and local authority 

to meet some of the broader challenges that the care home sector are experiencing. 

In December we held a celebration event for the second birthday of our Community Health Ambassador 

Initiative.  The scheme is proving to be a successful and innovative way to actively involve local people in the 

decisions we make. The Ambassadors are recruited from different areas of our community to ensure we 

engage effectively with our diverse population and we are keen to continue this excellent work in 2018. 

We describe these initiatives and others within the report including how we are linking our work with a key 

transformation programme called the Sustainable Transformation Plan (STP) but we also highlight those 

areas where our performance can be further improved such as the 62 day waiting target for referral to 

treatment for patients diagnosed with cancer 

The financial section of this report shows how we have managed our difficult financial position this year 

which has been closely monitored and assured by NHS England. The CCG cannot deliver its vision whilst 

spending more than we receive in funding, effectively spending tomorrow’s healthcare budget today. The 

scale of the financial challenge facing both the CCG and local health and social care economy is significant.  

 

Delivery of the planned financial position in 2017/18 has required achievement of efficiency savings of 

£16.9m, equivalent to 3.8% of the CCG’s overall budget.  Delivery of this level of savings, significantly higher 
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than levels previously achieved, has been extremely challenging. It is clear that we need to make some 

changes to deliver financial stability in the future and we are committed to working with local partners to 

manage pressures across the health economy to achieve this. 

 

Since 1 May 2016 the CCG has had a shared management arrangement with NHS Darlington CCG with my 

appointment as Joint Chief Officer and during this year we have extended our shared management 

arrangement. Working together has brought real strengths to both CCGs in terms of shared learning and 

development. It has supported the delivery of our statutory responsibilities and helped deliver the 

transformational challenges and aspirations for our respective communities. 

We would like to take this opportunity to thank all of our staff and partners who have helped us to achieve 

our goals this year and our local communities who have helped identify local priorities and help shape our 

response to those.  

We hope that you find this Annual Report informative and interesting. If you would like to find out more about 

us or get involved in the work we do, further information about NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG is 

available on our website www.hartlepoolandstocktonccg.nhs.uk  

 

 

 

Ali Wilson, Accountable Officer       Dr Boleslaw Posmyk, Chair  

 

29 May 2018 

 

  

http://www.hartlepoolandstocktonccg.nhs.uk/
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About NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG - Overview 
NHS Hartlepool and Stockton on Tees Clinical Commissioning Group (the CCG) have an annual duty to 

review national planning guidance and agree a range of priorities for the financial year that form the basis of 

their annual operating plans. These plans, for 2017-18, set out priorities that took into account: 

• Requirements as set out in the Five Year Forward View, Mental Health Five Year Forward View and 

GP Five Year Forward View 

• Sustainability and Transformation (STP) Plan requirements 

• Current financial constraints of the CCG 

• The nine national ‘must do’s’ 

The purpose of the following overview section is to enable you to understand the CCG, our purpose, our 

objectives and any associated risks to the achievement of those objectives. It also tells you how the CCG 

has performed during the year and should enable the lay user to have an overview of the organisation 

without the need to look further into the Annual Report. 

About Us 
NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG was established as a statutory body in April 2013 as a result of 

the Health and Social Care Act 2012. We are responsible for planning and purchasing a range of local 

healthcare services on behalf of patients across the Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees areas. 

We are based at Billingham Health Centre, Queensway, Billingham and we represent all 36 GP practices 

across the two boroughs and our population of almost 300,000.We are a clinically-led membership 

organisation made up of the GP practices we represent. In 2017/18, we had a total annual budget of 

£461million which we received from NHS England. 

We are committed to creating an accessible health service that provides safe, high quality care in the best 

place for our patients and we are dedicated to developing effective working relationships with partners, 

stakeholders and the public to deliver more joined up healthcare that will benefit everyone. 

We are responsible for commissioning the following services;  

 Mothers and newborn children  

 Mental health  

 Learning disabilities 

 Emergency and urgent care  

 Routine operations 

 Long term conditions 

 End of Life  

 Continuing healthcare  

 GP services. 

We work with a broad range of stakeholders including healthcare service providers, neighbouring CCGs, 

Healthwatch organisations, Hartlepool Borough Council and Stockton Borough Council, as well as 
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community and voluntary organisations to ensure a joined up approach to the provision and resourcing of 

healthcare in our community. We know that by working closely with partner organisations who have similar 

priorities and challenges to ourselves we can achieve so much more.  

We Chair the North of Tees Partnership Board which was established to set common goals to work closely 

together to develop services in Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees that will help people live longer, healthier 

lives with a view of ensuring services either health or care are commissioned to meet the needs of 

individuals. The group comprises the CCG and the Local Authorities and includes other stakeholders 

including the local Foundation Trust and Mental Health Trust. It is through a shared approach to transforming 

services across our localities we will remove the barriers organisational boundaries traditionally create.   

Our vision and aims 

Our vision: 

Our vision as NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) is ‘to develop 

outstanding, innovative and equitable health and social care services, ensuring excellence and value in 

delivery of person centred care working across both health and social care’. 

This means: 

 Health services which are safe and of the highest quality 

 Best possible health outcomes 

 Joined up services which benefit patients and the public and give best value for money 

To deliver our vision we focus on these key aims: 

 Work with our patients to promote and support healthy living and self-care 

 Involve service users, carers, staff, providers, partners and the public to develop services and reduce 

health inequalities  

 Work in partnership to transform services and ensure transparency through inclusion of all 

stakeholders to meet patient needs  

 Make use of and contribute to the evidence base that drives service transformation, embracing 

opportunities to innovate  

 Commission sustainable services as close to the patient’s home as possible  

 Ensure services are safe, high quality and cost effective 

 Plan and respond to the identified needs at a locality level for the residents of Hartlepool and 

Stockton on-Tees  

 
 

 
 

https://www.darlingtonccg.nhs.uk/glossary/best-value/
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Sustainability and Transformation Partnership and Better Health Programme 

 
Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP) 

 

The NHS across the region is working together on shared plans to transform health and care in the 

communities we serve. In the past, organisations have each had their own plans, and they will continue to do 

so – but STPs are the first time shared plans have been developed across a geographical footprint. 

 

Towards the end of 2017, discussions between the STP leads in the North East and Cumbria looked towards 

bringing the three STP footprints of NTW, North Cumbria and Durham, Darlington, Tees, Hambleton, 

Richmond and Whitby together under a single governance arrangement. 

 

Our STP geographical footprint is: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Vision – “Meeting our communities needs now and for future generations with consistently 

better health and social care delivered in the best place” 

 

STP footprints are not new, statutory organisations. Our STP is a forum, to bring people and organisations 

together to develop a shared plan for better health and care for our local areas. 

 

The background to the development of STPs is in the NHS Five Year Forward View. This describes how the 

way that health and care is provided has dramatically improved over the past fifteen years – thanks to the 

commitment of NHS staff. 

 

But some challenges remain. The quality of care that people receive can vary; preventable illness is 

common; and growing demands on the NHS mean there is financial pressure on local organisations. 

 

 

The needs and expectations of the public are also changing. We are living longer, but we often require 

different, more complex care. New treatments options are emerging, and we rightly expect better care closer 

to home. 
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There is broad agreement that, in order to create a better future for the NHS, we need to adapt the way we 

do things. That doesn’t mean doing less for patients or reducing the quality of care. It means more 

preventative care; finding new ways to meet people’s needs; and identifying ways to do things more 

efficiently. 

 

The Five Year Forward View brings this together in an overall vision for the NHS. It highlights three areas 

where there are growing gaps between where we are now, and where we need to be in 2020/21. These gaps 

are: 

 

 Health and wellbeing of the population 

 Quality of care that is provided 

 Finance and efficiency of NHS services. 

 

 

Closing these three gaps and the Five Year Forward View vision will be achieved by everyone who has a 

stake in health and care adapting what they do, how they think, and how they act – at both local and national 

levels.  

 

One of the most powerful ways to achieve change is through local services working together - across entire 

communities - to find ways to close the gaps and truly meet the needs of patients in each area.  

 

As a result, clinical commissioning groups, NHS providers and local authorities are working together to find 

new and better ways to improve health and care by 2020/21.  

 

It’s important to note that STPs will not necessarily replace existing plans to improve services in an area. 

Instead it will act as an ‘umbrella’ plan: holding underneath it a number of different specific plans to address 

certain challenges, such as improving cancer diagnosis, mental health care, or transforming urgent and 

emergency care services. 

 

Having a shared STP across a local community does not mean that any organisations in the partnership will 

lose their own autonomy or identity. But it does mean we will be working to a shared, agreed plan which 

addresses how we collectively improve health, care and finance for our local populations by 2021. 

 
The CCG has worked with leaders across the CNE system to propose new governance arrangements that 

better reflect our collaborative working arrangements and that reflect improved shared decision making whilst 

continuing to focus where appropriate on locality integration and delivery. 
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Fig 1: Draft STP governance proposals 
 

 
 
Fig 2: CNE delivery programmes and enabling strategies 
 
Over the coming year, organisations will work together to develop and start to put in place a shared STP 
plan, focused on addressing those issues that affect all organisations across our geographical footprint. 
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The plan will facilitate financial sustainability and enable organisations to achieve greater efficiencies by 
working together, ensuring that the North East and North Cumbria manages within the funding available for 
our populations. 
 
Clinicians will be supported to work together to manage service change as they implement the 
recommendations emerging from the STP workstreams, especially the review of vulnerable acute services 
(including Pathology), the Cancer Alliance, and the Urgent and Emergency Care Network. 
 
Defining our shared priorities for joint working and large scale transformation provides us with a framework to 
clarify and differentiate between this ‘at scale’ work, and what is better planned and delivered at sub-regional 
and local level: 
 
Some workstreams will be taken forward based on a regional ‘do once’ approach:  
 
• Optimal Use of Acute Sector 
• Pathology 
• Cancer  
• Mental health, LD transformation 
• Prevention  
• Workforce planning 
 
Whilst others will be developed on a task and finish basis, with recommendations delivered locally:  
 
• Neighbourhoods and Communities  
• Demand Management  
• Communications 
• Estates 
• Collaborative Working and Knowledge Sharing  
 
Existing regional workstreams that will be reviewed and refreshed during the coming year are:  
 
• Urgent and Emergency Care  
• Digital 
• Learning Disabilities    
 
We are confident that through combining the expertise, resource and capacity of our local health and care 
systems across the North East and Cumbria with a joined up system of governance and NHS leadership we 
will be able to deliver the highest levels of health and well-being to the population. 
 
 
Better Health Programme 
 
Initially, our programme was driven by a focus on potential changes to hospital services at Darlington, 
Middlesbrough and Stockton for the smaller number of patients who require specialist emergency care. This 
aimed to: 
 
• Ensure 24/7 access to specialist emergency care for adults and children, delivered by consultants, in 
 line with national clinical standards 
• Reduce variation in quality depending on when and where someone receives emergency care 
• Respond to medical advances and increasing specialisation 
• Address serious recruitment and retention problems 
 
It was also against a background of a large increase in emergency hospital admissions due to an increasing 
number of older people, and an ambition to transform their care so that they could stay independent at home 
rather than depend on hospital care.  
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Potential solutions for providing emergency and planned care were developed by GPs, hospital doctors, 
nurses and other healthcare professionals. The solutions were designed to improve the quality of services for 
patients and to help resolve recruitment and retention problems. As they involved the reconfiguration of local 
hospital services the solutions would be hugely complex to put in place. Substantial investment in buildings 
would be needed, with a consensus from clinicians working in those hospitals that these would be the best 
future arrangements for services, as well as support from local people and partner organisations. 
 
We have listened to comments made during public engagement events and at meetings with local councils 
and other partners that while it is very important for people to see the right specialist, travel and distance 
remain real concerns. At a stakeholder event in July 2017, there were messages around the importance of 
getting it right first time. 
 
Therefore, the Better Health Programme is changing its focus. It will now place more priority in the short term 
on building clinical networks across hospital trusts. For the longer term, our local clinicians will work with 
colleagues across the region, under our STP arrangements, to build consensus on the right model to deliver 
local urgent and emergency medical care, particularly for the increasing number of older people, and support 
the continued delivery of local specialist emergency care where possible.    
 
 
Providing more care closer to home 
 
We have made significant progress across Durham Dales, Darlington, Easington, Sedgefield, Teesside and 
Hambleton, Richmondshire and Whitby in developing more care out of hospital and close to home. This has 
involved working closely with local councils and other partners, it is in line with national policy and it is also 
what local people have said they want. 
 
Services now in place and others planned will help ensure that people will only go to hospital if the care they 
need cannot be provided safely in the community. There are a range of examples in each of our areas. 
 
We now have groups of GP practices working together across populations of 30-50,000, placing greater 
emphasis on prevention by identifying illnesses earlier and targeting patients most at risk of becoming ill, to 
help them stay well and independent in their own homes. They are working much more closely with 
community health and care services so that care can be wrapped around individuals. 
 
This is enabling more proactive management of long term conditions, with more frail older people being 
cared for at home rather than in hospital. If they do need hospital care, they do not need to stay longer than 
is medically necessary as there are schemes to enable discharge with the right support package if needed.  
As such, pressures on hospital beds are being reduced. 
 
In addition, there have been concerted efforts in each CCG area to improve access to urgent care and GP 
appointments which are aimed at reducing inappropriate A&E attendances. 
 
Schemes are tailored to meet the different needs of each CCG area but all involve close working with 
partners across the NHS, social care and community and voluntary sector. By CCGs working together we 
are sharing this good practice and learning from one another about what works well, which helps us make 
faster progress.  
 

NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG’s Operational Plan 
 
In April 2017 the CCG developed a two year operational plan which articulated how we will deliver 
transformation at scale and pace in order to deliver the requirements of the ‘Five Year Forward View’. The 
plan built on the progress already made during 2016/17focusing on the following areas;  
 

 Further strengthening of our partnership working with all providers and other CCGs across our STP 
footprint in order to understand the shared opportunities and wider impact of our respective plans  
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 Continuing to build on our history of working in partnership to drive improvements in the health and 
wellbeing of our local population  

 Detailing the quarter on quarter benefits of the transformation programmes we plan to deliver and the 
expected outcomes  

 

The plan highlighted the demographics of patients living across Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees and the 

‘triple aim gaps’ which pose significant challenges to the CCG in terms of prevalence of disease, and quality 

and financial constraints. 

 

The below graphics represent the local populations health statistics.  
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The Operational Plan incorporates the CCG plans for new models of care. We are making progress towards 

realising those improvements to meet our vision of how we want services to look like in 2020 with the patient 

at the centre. 

NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG Care Blueprint 
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For information, the full two year operational plan for 2017-9 can be found here: 

 

http://www.hartlepoolandstocktonccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/HAST-

OPERATIONAL-PLAN-Final-Submission.pdf 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

http://www.hartlepoolandstocktonccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/HAST-OPERATIONAL-PLAN-Final-Submission.pdf
http://www.hartlepoolandstocktonccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/HAST-OPERATIONAL-PLAN-Final-Submission.pdf
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Our Achievements 2017/18 
Throughout the financial year the CCG closely monitors performance against agreed operational plans and 

performance frameworks linked to the detailed plans in place.  A robust governance structure is set up to 

support this process (described in the Governance statement) and regular assurance checks are undertaken 

by NHS England to ensure plans are in progress. 

The following section sets out our achievements against the ambitions set out in our detailed operational 

plan.   

 

CCG 2017-18 Ambitions 
 

Ambition 1 Reduce unwarranted variation across a range of services to ensure patients 

receive equitable access to high quality services in the right place at the right 

time 

Ambition 2 Design and implement plans to transform a range of service in line with 

national, regional and local initiatives to improve access, sustainability and 

achieve the best possible outcomes 

Ambition 3 Strengthen care outside of hospital to ensure that individuals and their carers 

are able to take more control of their health and maintain independence for 

longer through early intervention and prevention, whilst preventing or 

delaying the need for more services in an acute setting and avoiding 

unnecessary complications and acute crisis 

Ambition 4 Implement plans to deliver a sustainable primary care offer fit for the 21st 

century, delivering access to high quality, cost effective, patient centred care 

through a motivated, diverse and appropriately skilled workforce 

 

 

 

 

Urgent Care 

You said We did Measures of success 

You wanted new, integrated 
urgent care services that 
brought together three separate 
services, creating 24/7 
seamless access to urgent care 

Based on national best practice 
evidence and feedback from 
local people, we commissioned 
and implemented a new 
integrated urgent care service 

Improved access to urgent care 
services, with 98% of patients 
presenting at the new centres 
being treated within 2 hours 
(data up to October 2017). 

AMBITION 1: Reduce unwarranted variation across a range of services to ensure patients 

receive equitable access to high quality services in the right place at the right time 
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in the right place at the right 
time. 

across the locality. 
 
The new service brings together 
three separate services under 
two designated ‘urgent care’ 
centres at the University 
Hospital of Hartlepool and North 
Tees Hospital (adjacent to 
A&E).  

 
There is improved access to 
care via A&E, 96% of patients 
are treated within 4 hours which 
is a 3 percentage point 
improvement on the year end 
position last year. 
 

 

Gastro-intestinal pathway 

We said We did Measures of success 

We would review the gastro-
intestinal pathway to assess 
any unwarranted variation and 
implement new pathways as a 
result to make improvements to 
services 

 We introduced the use of a 
new test, called a ‘Faecal 
Calprotectin Test’ test to 
support patients receiving 
access to diagnostics closer to 
home and reduce the need for 
scopes to be carried out. 

The campaign was launched in 
January 2018 and progress will 
be measured throughout 2018-
19 

 

Reducing the risk of stroke 

We said We did Measures of success 

We would review the atrial 
fibrillation pathway to assess 
any unwarranted variation and 
implement new pathways as a 
result to reduce the risk of 
people having a stroke 

We introduced a new campaign 
regarding checking your own 
pulse and what to do if it feels 
irregular, across the locality via 
leaflets and social media  to 
raise awareness of this and 
encourage early management 
to reduce the risk of stroke.  
We implemented a range of 
education and training with GP 
practices to improve early 
detection, diagnosis rates and 
reduce the risk of stroke. 

The campaign was launched in 
January 2018 and outcomes will 
be measured throughout 2018-
19 
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Osteoporosis 

We said We did Measures of success 

We would review the 
osteoporosis and fragility 
fractures pathway with our 
partners to assess any 
unwarranted variation and 
implement new pathways as a 
result to reduce the risk of 
people being diagnosed with 
osteoporosis and the amount of 
people falling and suffering 
fracture 

We held an ‘optimum pathway 
design event’ with partners from 
across health and social care to 
explore a number of key themes 
including pro-active prevention, 
early detection and optimal 
support following a fracture.  
This event pinpointed some key 
themes for further exploration to 
make positive changes to how 
patients are supported to 
ensure they achieve maximum 
bone health. 

The campaign was launched in 
January 2018 and outcomes will 
be measured throughout 2018-
19 

 

Respiratory care 

We said We did Measures of success 

We would review the respiratory 
pathway to ensure that all 
patients have access to the 
same level of care in the 
community regardless of where 
they live and to increase access 
to rapid intervention at home 
following an exacerbation to 
reduce non elective admissions 

We implemented a ‘Hospital at 
Home’ model of care to offer 
rapid access to care in the 
community following an 
exacerbation.  
We undertook a review of the 
current respiratory model of 
care in the community and 
worked closely with partners to 
redesign the pathway to offer 
equitable access to all patients 
across all aspects of service 
including Chronic Obstructive 
Pulmonary Disease, asthma 
and TB 

This has resulted in a reduction 
in non-elective admissions for 
COPD conditions by 5% in 
17/18 compared to the previous 
year. This work is currently 
ongoing and will be taken 
forward in 2018/19 
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Clinical Assessment and Peer Review (CASPeR) 

We said We did Measures of success 

We would implement a Clinical 
Assessment and Peer Review 
(CASPeR) programme across 
primary care to support a 
reduction in unwarranted 
variation in referrals to 
secondary care, reduce 
inappropriate secondary care 
demand and increase education 
and training for GPs where 
required to ensure that patients 
are managed in the right place, 
first time 

We designed, developed and 
implemented clinically led 
pathways across 12 specialty 
areas to provide high quality 
standards of care all practices 
must adhere to when 
considering the best treatment 
programme for every patient. 
We implemented a local triage 
process to offer advice and 
guidance regarding the best 
possible treatment option for 
every patient and produced 
patient posters and leaflets 
which were issued to al GP 
practices 

To date the scheme has 
supported the review of 824 
referrals from August 2017 to 
December 2017, offering 
increased access to advice and 
guidance and education/training 
where required.  
It has offered alternative 
management options for 7% of 
referrals received, supporting 
access to care closer to home 
and access to treatment in the 
right place, first time.  
 
It has also contributed to a 
reduction in first outpatient 
appointments (April 2017 – 
December 2017 compared to 
the same period in 2016/17), 
supporting patients receiving 
access to care closer to home 
and being seen in the right 
place, first time 

 

Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) 

We said We did Measures of success 

We would establish a post for a 
designated clinical officer, to 
support the CCG in enacting 
their responsibilities around 
SEND 
 
 
 
We would work with the Local 
Authority to establish a 
mechanism for identifying 
children and young people with 
SEND, which would support 
smarter commissioning 
 
 
 

A job description was 
developed and evaluated and 
we gained commitment to 
recruit into the position on a 
permanent basis 
 
 
 
We developed a data flow 
which allowed for the accurate 
identification of children and 
young people with SEND within 
health services and worked with 
health providers to establish an 
on-going process that would 
allow for future needs 
assessments of children and 

The post was successfully 
recruited into 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Identification of children and 
young people who had 
education, health and care 
plans across both local 
authorities within acute and 
mental health services 
A system developed within the 
acute setting to support the 
ongoing requirement to 



 

19 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
We would improve access for 
children and young people in 
need of support for eating 
disorders, Crisis and liaison 
services and Intensive home 
treatment 

young people to be completed.  
We have completed an 
application to NHS digital, 
requesting the permission to 
analyse all data for this cohort 
of children and young people 
together which will result in a 
comprehensive dataset to 
intelligently inform 
commissioning 
 
 
We have invested additional 
resource in services, to ensure 
that national targets are being 
met 
 
 
 

understand the health needs of 
this cohort for future 
commissioning 
application approved for SLA in 
place with NHS digital to allow 
for health and care data to be 
analysed together 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Early Intervention Psychosis (EIP) service 

We said We did Measures of success 

We would ensure that the Early 
Intervention Psychosis (EIP) 
service is compliant with NICE 
guidance 
 

Undertaken a full review of the 
EIP service. Staffing levels have 
been reported and investment 
standards met.  
Routine monitoring of the 
service established on a 
monthly basis, supplemented by 
annual audits reviewing 
compliance with NICE 
standards 
 

A performance measure for this 
service is the percentage of 
service users experiencing a 
first episode of psychosis that 
commenced a nice-concordant 
package of care within two 
weeks of referral. For HaST 
CCG the service is currently 
achieving an almost 90% rate 
against a target of 50%. 
 

Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT)  

We said We did Measures of success 

We would undertake review of 
current Improving Access to 
Psychological Assessment 
Therapies (IAPT) services with 
a view to making improvements 

Agreed to undertake a joint 
service review and pathway 
development with all Tees and 
Durham CCGs to ensure 
consistency in service provision 
across the locality areas 

The national target for 
proportion of people that enter 
treatment against the level of 
need in the general population 
is 16.8%. The CCG is currently 
achieving 22.2%. Work is 
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Market engagement workshop 
held in July 2017. Further 
market engagement is planned 
to commence at the end of 
February and will be completed 
end March 2018.  
A period of pre-engagement 
with service users has taken 
place across all five CCG’s. 
 
Tees Valley Joint Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee continues 
to receive updates on progress 
including the rationale for 
developing an expanded IAPT 
service in line with national 
guidance, pre-engagement 
feedback, planned model 
engagement and a copy of the 
Stakeholder Briefing and 
Proposed IAPT Model. 
 
 
A clinical lead is in place and 
working as part of the review 
team advising on drafting a 
specification, pathway design 
including a Long Term 
Condition pathway and welfare 
offer. 
 

continuing to ensure increasing 
targets through to 2021 are 
achieved via the continued 
service review/development. 

 

 

 

 

Cancer Diagnosis 

We said We did Measures of success 

We would work with the Cancer 
Alliance to utilise 
Transformation Funds to 
improve Early Cancer Diagnosis 
rates 

We recruited a clinical navigator 
at North Tees and Hartlepool 
NHS Foundation Trust (NTHFT) 
who works with endoscopy 
services to reduce delays and 
to support GPs to streamline 
patient pathways.  

We have supported NTHFT to 
meet its constitutional 
performance targets for 2 
weeks waits across all months 
up until December 2017, expect 
for April, and performance 
continues to improve 

AMBITION 2: Design and implement plans to transform a range of service in line with 

national, regional and local initiatives to improve access, sustainability and achieve the 

best possible outcomes 
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We supported NTHFT, to pilot 
on the North Tees site, the 
same or next day access to CT 
following report on suspicious 
chest x ray. This pilot is 
speeding up the lung cancer 
diagnostic pathway. Patients 
are supported by additional 
specialist nurse time.  
 
We developed a programme of 
work focussed on community 
based interventions that will 
raise awareness of cancer signs 
and symptoms and reduce 
barriers to accessing cancer 
screening. At the time of writing 
the report, two posts have been 
recruited to in relation to this 
project.  
 
We have designed and agreed 
a training programme for Health 
Care Assistants and 
Administrative staff in GP 
practices to improve awareness 
of and identify signs and 
symptoms of cancer. This 
training will be delivered 
throughout March and into early 
April 2018. 

31 day treatment targets have 
been met consistently. 
 
 62 day treatment targets have 
fluctuated though the trend in 
the last few months is strongly 
up achieving 92% against a 
target of 85% in December 
2017. 

 

Diabetes Prevention 

We said We did Measures of success 

We would work towards 
implementation of a new 
national Diabetes Prevention 
Programme across the locality, 
supporting patients who have 
been identified as having an 
increased risk of diabetes to live 
healthier lives to reduce this risk 

We worked with local GP 
practices to enable them to 
identify patients suitable to be 
referred into the programme to 
benefit from access to 
behavioural interventions to 
reduce their risk of developing 
diabetes 

We raised awareness of the 
programme across local 
partners, the public and all 
health and social care services 
to ensure the new programme 
is well embedded into existing 
pathways for managing 
diabetes. Changes to the 
pathway are being designed in 
early 2018 with a launch date of 
April 2018 and will be 
implemented and monitored 
throughout 2018/19 
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Children and Young People’s Health and Wellbeing 

We said We did Measures of success 

We would update and 
implement a partnership wide 
transformation plan, for children 
and young peoples’ emotional 
health and wellbeing 
 
We would review the care 
pathway for conduct disorder 
and establish an understanding 
of actual need 
 
 
 
 
We would facilitate the training 
of children and young people 
across the CCG footprint to 
become peer researchers 

We have worked with partners 
across education, health, local 
authorities and youth offending 
to refresh and update the plan. 
 
 
We completed a comprehensive 
needs assessment across 
education, health and social 
care and mapped/benchmarked 
to determine the appropriate 
intervention for the varying 
spectrum of need. 
 
 

The updated plan is available 
on both local authority and CCG 
websites 
 
 
 
This has resulted in the 
production of a report to support 
smarter and targeted 
commissioning/delivery of 
services for this cohort of 
children and young people 
 
 
A report in the form of a 
presentation was produced, this 
information is being utilised to 
inform future commissioning for 
children and young people's 
mental health services 

 

Persistent Physical Symptoms Service (PPS) 

We said We did Measures of success 

We said we would pilot a 
Persistent Physical Symptoms 
service (PPS) to better 
understand the benefits and 
outcomes such a service could 
offer. 

Agreed a training package for 
practices to enable them to 
work differently to better support 
this cohort of patients  
Outcomes of the pilot will be 
used to inform a potential new 
way of working across the 
region. 

PPS programme initiated and 
pilot with training taking place. 
To finalise and report in 2018. 
 
2 practices (one in Darlington 
and one in Stockton) are 
engaged within the pilot project 
to identify the ‘selection criteria’.  
 
2 Training sessions have been 
delivered, first review is due in 
June 2018 
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Mortality Steering Group 

We said We did Measures of success 

We would develop and 
administer a CCG Mortality 
Steering Group which 
undertakes reviews where 
required and share 
learning/best practice as part of 
regional pilot 

Established in all areas across 
Tees and Darlington. 
 
The CCG have staff in place 
who are trained to carry out 
mortality reviews of people with 
a learning disability. The impact 
of this will be the ability to 
identify any improvements in 
care which are required in order 
to enhance a person’s life.   

National LEDER data is available  
http://www.bristol.ac.uk/sps/leder/ 
 

 

 

 

Genito- Urinary Pathway 

We said We did Measures of success 

We would review the genito-
urinary pathway to assess any 
unwarranted variation and 
implement new pathways as a 
result to reduce the risk of 
patients being admitted to 
hospital from a care home with 
a Urinary Tract Infection (UTI) 

 We designed and implemented 
a new pathway to support care 
homes managing patients with 
a UTI, including education and 
training regarding early signs 
and symptoms to support 
prevention of admission to 
hospital and increased 
management with a care home 
setting. 

Reduced non elective 
admissions for patients from 
care homes with UTIs by 7% in 
17/18 compared to the previous 
year 

 

Voluntary and Community sector 

We said We did Measures of success 

We would continue to fund 
Catalyst Stockton (the voice of 
the voluntary and community 

We commissioned a range of 
projects throughout the financial 
year to support a wide range of 

The CCG funded Health 
Initiatives Programme continues 
to show a substantial positive 

AMBITION 3: Strengthen care outside of hospital to ensure that individuals and their 

carers are able to take more control of their health and maintain independence for longer 

through early intervention and prevention, whilst preventing or delaying the need for 

more services in an acute setting and avoiding unnecessary complications and acute 
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sector to commission from the 
Voluntary and Community 
Sector Enterprises (VCSE) a 
number of projects that support 
addressing: childhood obesity, 
long term conditions, mental 
health (adults and young 
people), learning disabilities, 
supporting discharge, domestic 
violence, and cancer. 
 
All of the above is aimed at 
increase patient engagement 
with their own health; reduce 
admissions and attendance at 
A&E as well as reducing the 
number of delayed discharges. 
In addition we also planned to 
work with Northern Cancer 
Alliance to support patients 
living with and beyond cancer. 
The intention being to provide 
an enhanced set of services 
with the voluntary sector that 
would allow people to manage 
their care before returning to 
primary or acute settings 

organisations/community 
groups in line with the outcomes 
we aimed to achieve 
Examples include; 
Groundworks Active Play 
delivers play sessions for 5-16 
year olds into the school 
holidays with the aim of 
encouraging healthy eating and 
physical activity, Middlesbrough 
and Stockton MIND, Active 
Minds project supports adults 
with mental health issues to use 
physical activity as an 
intervention in partnership with 
Tees Active, Hardwick in 
Partnership support isolated 
and vulnerable people in 
Hardwick and the surrounding 
areas, delivering support 
groups, craft sessions and IT 
sessions in the community, 
Volunteering Matters – Sporting 
Chance supports men over the 
age of 55 in sport and 
reminiscence activities, 
Artsbase CIC provide art based 
psychotherapies for children 
and their families with low level 
mental health support. 
 
In regard to supporting patients 
living with and beyond cancer 
the CCG has utilised funding 
from the Northern Cancer 
Alliance to seek and expression 
of interest from the voluntary 
sector to provide additional 
support with care co-ordination 
and basic support.  
 
This pilot will run from late 
March 2018 to March 2019. 

benefit in terms of Social Return 
on Investment.  Overall for 
every £1 awarded over £10 in 
social benefit value was 
generated. Many of the 2016-
2017 projects worked with 
highly socially marginalised and 
hard to reach clients who do not 
generally access service in a 
timely and effective way. This 
can lead to increased lengths of 
stay and poorer outcomes. 
The same can be said of 
patients with sensory issues. 
Users can be at higher risk of 
social isolation/ disengagement 
and the corresponding negative 
effects of this upon their 
physical and mental wellbeing 
as compared to the general 
population. 
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Frail Elderly 

We said We did Measures of success 

We would have more 
accessible and effective 
integrated care to support older 
people and their carers to stay 
healthy with long term 
conditions through early 
invention and prevention 
avoiding unnecessary 
complications and acute crisis. 

We would build upon the 
foundations of the Better Care 
Funds Plans laid in 2015/16 and 
2016/17 to further support 
integration and partnership 
working to deliver improved 
outcomes for older people.  
 
Agreed joint areas of 
opportunity as part of BCF Plan 
to support people to remain at 
home and independent for as 
long as possible through the 
transformation and integration 
of health and social care 
services including; 
 
-Integrated Single Point of 
Access 
-Integrated Intermediate Care 
services  
 
We have worked in partnership 
to promote transformational 
change across health and social 
care cultures, fostering positive 
relationships through multi 
agency and partnership working 
to ensure the delivery of Better 
Care Fund Plans. Work will 
continue in 18/19 to deliver 
agreed areas of opportunity 
Better Care Fund Plans (BCF) 
for 2017 – 2019 coproduced 
with social care and assured by 
NHS England in Nov 2017. 

Following a CQC review in 
Hartlepool in Oct 2017 which 
looked at how health and social 
care services support local 
residents, findings indicated 
that: 
 
The BCF planning had resulted 
in positive outcomes for people 
in relation to social inclusion, 
hospital admission avoidance 
and timely discharge 
Our shared priorities and the 
way we work together 
demonstrated a commitment to 
partnership working across 
Health and Social Care 

 

 

We said We did Measures of success 

We would improve the 
experience of older people who 
are admitted into hospital and to 

We worked in collaboration with 
partners and stakeholders to 
develop solutions and defined 

A Discharge to Assess service 
to provide 14 days support post 
discharge  Across HaST 
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ensure they do not remain in an 
acute hospital bed for longer 
than is clinically necessary 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

discharge pathways to improve 
unnecessary delays for people 
leaving hospital once their acute 
care is complete.   
 
Developments include: 
Involvement in NHS England’s 
Integrated Personal 
Commissioning Programme 
enabling all partners to become 
part of a ‘100 Day Challenge.’  
 
This further accelerated 
improvements to discharge 
pathways and empowered staff 
to develop and test ideas using 
a Plan, Do Study, Act (PDSA) 
approach to test the ‘norm’ 
 
Development of an Integrated 
Discharge Team (IDT) made up 
of NHS, Social care and the 
third sector 
 
A Home Safe Sooner ‘Working 
together to get you home safely’ 
communication campaign for 
patients and staff which 
included awareness, posters, 
roller banners etc. 
 
Various information sharing 
agreements and development 
of joint assessment documents 
 
IDT ‘huddles’ to facilitate 
discharge 
 
Drop-in sessions in ward areas 
for patients and families to 
discuss early discharge 
planning 
 
Commissioning of ‘low level’ 
support services to support 
people to return home safely. 

Delayed Transfers of Care have 
reduced by 12% (April – 
December 2017/18 compared 
to the same period in 2016/17) 
  
The Integrated Discharge Team 
won an award for Best 
Innovation Project at the North  
East, Cumbria, Yorkshire and 
Humber Commissioning Awards 
in 2017 

 

You said We did Measures of success 

You wanted to tell your story We have worked closely with In 17/18 the care co-ordinator 
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only once through agreed joint 
assessment and care planning 
processes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

the GP Federation to develop 
new ways of working through 
the funding of a care co-
ordinator service in GP 
practices to help to support frail 
older people more proactively.  
 
The Care Coordinators link with 
patients and their families to 
understand the needs and 
support, unique to them, and 
develop  a person centred care 
and support plan, linking in to 
lots of different health, social 
care and community based 
services, as required. 
 
We worked with people and 
professionals to develop an 
assessment tool that focused 
on a personalisation approach 
to care and support planning, 
unique to each individual and 
their personal circumstances. 
This was adopted and is now 
used by a number of services, 
including the care co-ordinators 
In 18/19 the intention is to work 
with GP practices who will be 
brought together into groups of 
practices called ‘community 
hubs’ so they can share their 
skills to match the needs of 
local residents 

service delivered the following 
outcomes during the period 
September 2017 – November 
2017: 
 
2062 patients were supported 
by the care co-ordinator service. 
911 of those patients supported 
now have a personalised care 
with the aim of maintaining their 
independence.  
 
852 are utilising local voluntary 
and community sectors 
services. We have also seen an 
increase in personal health 
budgets giving people control 
over their health and wellbeing. 

 

Dementia  

We said We did Measures of success 

We would ensure early 
diagnosis, treatment and 
ongoing support for people with 
dementia and their carers 
through good access to 
services and information 
promoting independence for as 
long as possible 

We have ensured that dementia 
remains a priority within our 
strategic plans with the local 
authority. In each local authority 
area there is a dementia hub 
which provides support for 
people who have been 
diagnosed with dementia and 

The local Dementia diagnosis 
rates, as of December 2017, 
are 79.2% in Hartlepool and 
91.5% in Stockton. The regional 
average is 74.1%, the STP 
average is 78.3% and the 
National target is 66.7%. The 
combined estimate for both 
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their carers. The hub will link 
people in to local services and 
support groups. 

CCG localities is 87.1%, well 
above all local and national 
targets 

Care Homes 

You said We did Measures of success 

You wanted to improve the 
health, wellbeing and safety of 
people living in care homes 
 
 
 
 

We have worked with care 
home providers and partners 
community services, GP’s and 
adult social care to develop a 
number of schemes and 
services aligned to adult care 
homes to ensure to support 
both equity and high quality 
care can be delivered for  
people living in care homes 
across HaST including: 
Realigning the community 
matron service to provide 
support to people in all adult 
care homes across HaST to 
prevent the need for admission 
to hospital – previously just 
aligned in Hartlepool 
 
Delivering care home education 
and training programme with 
partners to provide training to 
staff working in care homes  
 
Providing pharmacists to work 
with care homes in Hartlepool to 
support homes regarding 
managing medications for 
residents 
 
Pro-active Intensive Community 
Liaison Service (PICLS) Service 
Pilot Stockton-on-Tees 

We have seen, over the last 
year, a 15% reduction in 
emergency admissions to 
hospital for residents from 
Stockton-on-Tees Care Homes 
and a 4% reduction in 
emergency admissions for 
residents from Hartlepool Care 
Homes over the last year. 
 
In Hartlepool A&E Attendances 
from care home residents has 
reduced by 18% compared to 
the same period in 2016 and 
this is reduced by 22% in 
Stockton over the same period.  
 
Training has been delivered to 
over 1194 care home staff 
across Hartlepool and Stockton 
on the following: 
 
Dementia and Delirium; Falls 
Prevention (Stockton only); End 
of Life Care and Well-being of 
the Frail and Elderly Resident 
 
PICLS have received a total of 
85 referrals in the last quarter, 
and 100% of those were offered 
an assessment within 4 weeks 
of the referral and 100% of 
eligible patients were then seen 
within the 5 day timescale, 
meaning that patients are seen 
quickly and can commence their 
care or treatment plan without 
delay 
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Reducing duplication of services 

We said We did Measures of success 

We would reduce duplication of 
services with people seeing the 
right person, right place right 
time 
 
 
 

We have commissioned 
additional clinical nursing triage 
scheme to enhance the Single 
Point of Access to ensure that 
the right support was being 
provided as quickly as possible 
following clinical oversight.  
Work will continue into 18/19 
with further plans to integrate 
both and health and social care 
into one single point of access 
for agreed health and social 
care services. 

The clinical triage service 
ensures that service users are 
directed to the most appropriate 
service at the earliest 
opportunity and demonstrates 
how people have been 
seamlessly redirected should 
the initial request have been for 
the wrong service or support.  
It also provides a single contact 
for care homes, GPs and 
patients to call to request a 
community service and ensure 
that this is appropriately 
allocated depending on the 
health or social needs of the 
patient.  
 
Success is demonstrated by the 
increase in calls coming from 
care homes and GPs 
requesting community support 
in a patient’s own home who 
are assured by the timely 
response they receive following 
the nurse triage 

 

Crisis Care Concordat 

We said We did Measures of success 

We would continue to be an 
active member of the Crisis 
Care Concordat groups and 
engage with the different 
strands of work 
 
 

As part of the Teesside Crisis 
Concordat work the CCG and 
its partners commissioned a 
pilot for a MH professional to 
work in the Police Control 
Room. The impact of this pilot 
will be assessed in April 18 but 
early indications are that there 
are many calls upon police 
resources being freed and 
public experience, including a 
better experience for people in 
crisis, supporting the ongoing 
operation of the Street Triage 

Funding for STT has been 
secured for 2018-19 during 
which a review of all crisis 
services will be undertaken. 
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Team (STT). 

 

Multi-agency suicide action plan process  

We said We did Measures of success 

We would become actively 
involved in the multi-agency 
suicide action plan process. 
 

A detailed Teeswide suicide 
prevention plan has been 
produced with partner agencies 
in the Suicide Prevention Task 
Force. Funding has been 
provided and an early alert 
system developed across Tees 
which is helping prevent 
suicides by responding 
proactively to incidence of self-
harm and the threat of suicide. 

Suicide audit data will be  
tracked through the Suicide 
Prevention Task Force in 18/19 
and onwards 

 

Urgent care for those in mental Health Crisis 

We said We did Measures of success 

We would develop a cross-
system approach to prepare for 
forthcoming waiting time 
standard for urgent care for 
those in a mental health crisis, 
including the evaluation of the 
systems resilience funded 
Mental Health conveyance 
scheme. 

The CCG has invested funding 
to reduce the length of time a 
person in mental health crisis 
has to wait for an ambulance 

The impact of this work has 
resulted in the average wait for 
an ambulance being reduced 
from 4 hours to 1 hour.   

 

Integrated Care Partnership 

We said We did Measures of success 

We would support the 
development of an Integrated 
Care Partnership (ICP) for 
learning disability services.  

The CCG is working with 
adjoining CCGs and social care 
partner agencies to form an 
Integrated Care Partnership. 

The impact of this work has 
resulted in the average wait for 
an ambulance being reduced 
from 4 hours to 1 hour.   



 

31 
 

 
The new model will review 
current community provision 
and propose a new model of 
care as a result to support 
delivery of a national inpatient 
bed reduction trajectory. The 
model will also support 
development of the community 
infrastructure required for 
resilient community services to 
support people in their own 
homes 

The first phase of the work is to 
pool learning disability budgets 
to provide integrated and 
improved services and to work 
towards meeting the aims of the 
national Transforming Care 
agenda which aims to prevent 
hospital admission and to return 
people in hospital to homes in 
the community with the 
appropriate support. 
 
The CCG has worked with the 
regional Transforming Care 
Board, the regional Learning 
Disability Network, NHS 
England, the regional 
resettlement hub and local 
groups on this agenda. There 
are currently 6 people with 
learning disabilities in CCG 
commissioned in-patient 
hospital care. Work will continue 
to further resettle people in the 
community to achieve the target 
of a maximum of 3 people  
The CCG’s are working with 
partners towards all mental 
health and learning disability 
funding to be included in the 
ICP. 

 

Mental Health Liaison service  

We said We did Measures of success 

We would undertake a review of 
the Mental Health Liaison 
Service specifically against the 
‘core 24’ standards and propose 
service improvements where 
required to ensure delivery of all 
applicable service standards. 

Mandated to carry out the 
review via national priorities 

The CCG national targets are: 
90% of assessments to be 
undertaken in A&E within 1 hour 
- currently achieving 97%, up 
from 73% in 2016-17. 
 
90% Assessments are to be 
undertaken on wards within 24 
hours – currently achieving 
98%, up from 92% in 2016-17. 
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Improving access to GPs 

We said We did Measures of success 

Our ambition is to commission 
7-day access to pre-bookable 
and same day GP services from 
1 April 2017; with services to be 
delivered at population level via 
a hub approach.  
The General Practice Forward 
View (GPFV) sets out plans to 
ensure that, by 2020 everyone 
has improved access to GP 
services including sufficient 
routine appointments at 
evenings and weekends to 
meet locally determined 
demand, alongside effective 
access to out of hours and 
urgent care services. 

We have commissioned a two 
year pilot scheme delivered by 
our local GP Federation,  
Hartlepool and Stockton Health 
(H&SH), that commenced in 
April 2017.   We saw this 
scheme as an opportunity to 
pilot a service which provided 
additional benefits to patients 
not currently offered during in-
hours general practice (e.g. 
pharmacy support, 
physiotherapy and mental 
health therapy).  
 
We undertook an Equality 
Impact Assessment to develop 
and commission the pilot 
service on the basis of three 
hubs: 
  
Hub 1 – Chadwick Practice, 
One Life Centre, Hartlepool 
Hub 2 – Tennant Street Medical 
Practice, Stockton 
Hub 3 – Woodbridge Practice, 
Ingleby Barwick 
 
In 2018/19 it is the intention to 
undertake a full evaluation of 
the pilot service to inform the 
future commissioning of 
improved access to general 
practice from April 2019. 

We have developed Local 
Quality Requirements in the 
service specification to measure 
the success of the scheme and 
these are monitored through the 
contract management process. 
One of the measures is to 
monitor the utilisation of 
appointments in the service.  
 
In the first six months of the 
pilot we have increased access 
to primary care in Hartlepool 
and Stockton with the following 
appointments being utilised: 
Monday - Friday (7,245 booked 
appointments), Saturday – 
Sunday (4,861 booked 
appointments).  
 
We will continue to monitor the 
utilisation of appointments at 
each hub location, and for each 
of the staff skill-mix, as part of 
the full evaluation of the pilot 
service. 

 

AMBITION 4: Implement plans to deliver a sustainable primary care offer fit for the 21st 

century, delivering access to high quality, cost effective, patient centred care through a 

motivated, diverse and appropriately skilled workforce 
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We said We did Measures of success 

We would reduce variation and 
improve efficiency across 
primary care, to secure 
maximum value for patients and 
service users whilst delivering 
high quality care 

We successfully facilitated a 
number of engagement events 
with practices across Hartlepool 
and Stockton-on-Tees to 
discuss the advantages of 
cluster working to support peer 
review and sharing of best 
practice. Following engagement 
with practices the RIVIE 
scheme specification was 
developed and 29 practices 
across Hartlepool and Stockton-
on-Tees signed up to the 
scheme. 
 
Annual practice visits were 
undertaken with every member 
practice to build relationships 
and gain an understanding of 
views and concerns. We also 
created a taskforce of team 
members to undertake practice 
visits, including completion of 
audits in relation to non-elective 
admissions. 

Practices are working together 
and sharing best practice and 
engaging in peer review. It is 
anticipated that working 
collaboratively to reduce 
variation will also drive 
significant resource efficiencies 
Clinical meetings where held 
with practices where audit work 
was presented and agreed 
action plans were developed 
and monitored 

 

We said We did Measures of success 

We would ensure that the 
APMS procurement in 
Hartlepool was undertaken and 
mobilised 

The procurement process 
began in November/December 
2016. Two bids were received 
and fully evaluated with the 
contract being awarded to the 
McKenzie group. 
Monthly mobilsation meetings 
were established between 
NHSE and the CCG to ensure 
smooth transition from two 
providers to one 
 
For scrutiny functions relating to 
health and well being, frequent 
updates have been provided at 
the Hartlepool Council Audit 
and Governance Committee 

Following a successful bidding 
process, the contract was 
awarded to a successful 
provider. Processes have been 
standardised across the two 
practices, to ensure the patients 
are receiving the same quality 
of care with a number of Key 
Performance Indicators set 
within the contract which are 
being monitored and adhered 
too by the practices. 
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We said We did Measures of success 

We would support the education 
of GPs and Nurses across 
primary care 

Clinical leads developed a 
programme of education events 
for 2017/18. 

There were good rates of 
clinical attendance at each 
event and an evaluation of each 
event took place to support and 
inform future plans 

 

We said We did Measures of success 

We would produce a process 
that supports practices to 
improve quality and 
performance and be able to 
robustly report against a range 
of key performance indicators 

A bi-monthly Local Quality 
Group has been established 
which includes members from 
planning and performance, an 
executive nurse and GP lead 
and members from the primary 
care team. Future engagement 
events with practices have been 
organised to present the launch 
of the framework 

The project is currently in its 
early stages, however terms of 
reference, a process map and 
an indicator crib sheet have 
been drafted 

 

We said We did Measures of success 

We would provide a highly 
trained and multi-skilled, 
sustainable clinical and non-
clinical workforce in GP 
practices delivering integrated 
out-of-hospital services based 
around the needs of our 
population with Primary Care 
(GPs) utilising new ways of 
working through technology 
such as video consultation, e-
consultation and remote 
working. We wanted our 
practices working together 
through shared resources 
and/or practice mergers to 
improve quality, reduce 

We would continue to support 
and roll out the General 
Practice Forward View by 2020 
under five key headings; 
Investment 
Workforce 
Workload 
Practice infrastructure 
Care redesign and recruitment 
of Clinical Pharmacists 

Investment 
We said we would provide 
funding to enable practices to 
work in a different way. The 
CCG have allocated funds to 
the GP Federation to facilitate 
the development of a provider 
forum. 
 
Workforce 
Clusters of practices, supported 
by the CCG, have submitted 
bids to NHS England to secure 
financial support to employ 
Clinical Pharmacists to cover 
populations of 30,000-50,000, in 
line with the national GP Five 
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variation and strengthen local 
GP services 

Year Forward View (5YFV). 
NHS England advised CCGs to 
join the collaborative approach 
to international recruitment 
which was being established 
across the North East.  
 
The model will streamline the 
approach to international 
recruitment, draw on regional 
expertise and make more 
effective use of resources e.g. a 
single procurement exercise.   A 
programme board for the North 
East model has been 
established and several 
meetings have already been 
held.  
 
Practices have been consulted 
and those wishing to receive a 
new recruit are engaged and 
being constantly updated about 
the process. 
 
The CCG have promoted the 
use of the Primary Care 
Workforce Tool across all 
practices to help understand 
workforce needs now and in the 
future.  
 
 
Workload 
Staff from all local GP practices 
are trained in Active 
Signposting and 90 staff are 
trained in document workflow 
management.  
 
 
Work is also underway to 
develop system templates and 
protocols to support staff to 
implement the training in 
practice.  
 
Practices are engaging with 
external services to ensure staff 
are fully appraised of how they 
can support patients.  
 
An application has been 
submitted to NHS England to 
secure funding for 3 years to roll 
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out an e-consultation pilot in 
2018/19. A project plan has 
been developed to support 
mobilisation and implementation 
of the project in 2018/19.  
 
The CCG will continue to roll 
out GP online across all 
practices. The CCG is part of 
the transactional services 
steering group in the North and 
is continuing to drive forward 
the aim of all practices to 
achieve 20% of practice 
population signed up to Patient 
Online by March 2018, offering 
patients access to appointment 
booking online and repeat 
prescriptions. Nine practices are 
achieving over the 20% aim 
with additional support being 
offered to the practices just 
below the target. All practices 
have been funded to enable 
continuation of text reminders to 
support a reduction in patients 
not attending appointments and 
not cancelling them. 
 
Infrastructure 
The CCG is working towards 
achieving 100% consultant led 
first outpatient appointments 
through the electronic referral 
service from 1st March 2018.  
There is now WiFi in all 
practices- 100% of practices 
now have free patient and 
public accessible WiFi in place. 
Funding has been awarded to 
support the development of a 
feasibility study to support the 
creation of a hub in Ingleby 
Barwick Hartlepool Hub on the 
hospital site. Agreement was 
reached for Elmtree Surgery to 
relocate in to a more fit for 
purpose premises in 2017/18, 
creating a better experience for 
patients and staff. 
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Respite Services for People with Learning Disabilities and Complex Needs 
Following a formal public consultation between 4 September and 10 November 2017, the CCG alongside 

NHS South Tees CCG agreed to introduce changes to respite services for adults (18+) with a learning 

disability, complex needs and/or autism. The decision taken at the Governing Body In-Common on 

1st February 2018 agreed to commission a range of services to improve choice whilst recognising the 

importance of retaining the current bed based facilities available. 

 

This means that bed based services will continue to be delivered from 2 Bankfields Court in Middlesbrough 

and Aysgarth in Stockton-on-Tees. Other changes to be implemented to make the service more equitable for 

people with a learning disability include: 

 Changing the assessment and allocations process, making it more needs led; 

 Offering more choice and improved focus on the needs of people with a learning disability and their 

carers and families; 

 Buying flexible community-based respite services and clinically-led outreach support services so that 

people with a learning disability can choose from a range of respite activities with the appropriate 

support they need. 

 

The decision follows extensive feedback from people who currently access services, their families and 

carers, and other key stakeholders as part of the 10-week formal public consultation process. The CCGs are 

pleased to support the recommended changes and would like to thank all those who contributed to the 

consultation; from people who access current services and their families and carers to key stakeholders such 

as our local authorities for their participation and feedback which has made this a truly participative process. 

We know how much the existing services and staff mean to people. We heard first-hand at our public 

consultation events the impact the services have on families across South Tees and the Hartlepool and 

Stockton areas. 

All the feedback received from the consultation; including both verbal and completed questionnaires; was 

vitally important in helping the CCGs make an informed decision on the future of learning disability services, 

and a decision that we believe reflects the majority view of people who took part in the consultation process. 

Following the outcome of the decision making in relation to the future of respite services for people with 

Learning Disabilities and complex needs on 1 February 2018, the CCGs are keen to continue to involve 

families and carers in how future services are developed and are working with them to progress this. 

Prescribing 
The decision to prescribe is the most common intervention in the NHS. Hartlepool & Stockton-on-Tees CCG 

work collaboratively with other health professionals and social care providers to deliver evidence-based cost 

effective use of medication to maximise patient outcomes from medication prescribed to them. This is 

facilitated through the Tees Medicines Governance Group (TMGG) and the Northern Treatment Advisory 

Group (NTAG).  

All CCG member practices receive practice-based prescribing support which includes audit work to support 

implementation of NICE guidance and medication related issues in general practice, support to encourage 

prescribing decisions in line with the Tees formulary and monitoring and analysis of prescribing patterns.  

Medication review is a key element of the practice-based medicines optimisation workplan, where 

pharmacists and technicians work with practices and care homes to ensure the safe and effective use of 
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medicines and to reduce the likelihood of medication-related hospital admissions. In 2017/18 over 3400 

individual patient medication reviews were carried out by the team, generating over £191,000 of annual 

medication savings. 

A prescribing support tool, Optimise Rx, provides pop-up information messages to support decision making 

at the point of prescribing, based on local and national best practice guidance, clinical effectiveness and 

cost-effectiveness. The Tees formulary and medicines optimisation websites are also available to support 

clinicians. Clinical engagement of healthcare professionals is key to the delivery of the medicines 

optimisation agenda and longer term strategy.  

The CCG medicines optimisation workstream leads on local implementation of medicines related issues and 

provides guidance to local prescribers. This past year has been challenging in managing prescribing costs 

within primary care. The CCG has a QIPP implementation plan for medicines optimisation as well as horizon 

scanning for future budgetary pressures. This plan includes reviewing prescribing opportunities highlighted 

by NHS RightCare. In 2017/18 the medicines optimisation QIPP plan achieved over £2.7million of savings. 

All practices receive monthly prescribing reports, detailing performance against budget and prescribing cost 

growth. The CCG medicines optimisation workstream review practice level performance on a monthly basis 

and where this is at variance with other CCG member practices, a detailed analysis of prescribing is carried 

out following which action plans are developed to support practices to improve prescribing practices and 

processes.  

NHS England introduced antibiotic prescribing targets in the CCG Quality Premium in 2015/16, which has 

continued each year since.  Many practices in Hartlepool and Stockton have made excellent progress to date 

with this, reflecting the continued hard work that many prescribers undertake around this area on a day to 

day basis which has led to an 8% reduction in antibiotic prescribing across Hartlepool and Stockton over the 

past 2 years.  Practices receive quarterly antimicrobial prescribing reports, in line with the Department of 

Health's UK Antimicrobial Resistance Strategy and NICE recommendations.   

Assurance around the safe management of controlled drugs is provided to the CCG via quarterly prescribing 

reports presented to the CCG medicines optimisation workstream, ensuring robust procedures are in place 

within primary care. Hartlepool & Stockton-on-Tees CCG is also a member of the NHS England Local 

Intelligence Network for Controlled Drugs. 

 

 

North East and North Cumbria Urgent and Emergency Care Network 
The North East and North Cumbria Urgent and Emergency Care Network brings together over 30 

organisations to improve the quality, safety and equity of services. 

 

Established through the New Models of Care (vanguards) programme, the network has led on a range of 

innovations which have helped the region to record some of England’s best A&E performance figures.  

 

With its ‘vanguard’ work now completed, the network is focused on a three-year strategy to reduce hospital 

admissions and A&E attendances, make better use of GPs and pharmacists, and help patients improve their 

own health. 

 

Through the network, our hospitals work together as a single, well-coordinated system, monitoring demand, 

sharing information in real time, and supporting each other through busy periods. This means emergency 
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responses are better coordinated and the risk of queueing ambulances and unnecessarily long waits in A&E 

is reduced. 

 

This ‘whole system’ approach includes: 

 The ‘Flight Deck’ system, which monitors emergency care services, predicting peaks in demand so that 

ambulance crews and emergency departments can support each other better. The second phase, which 

is well advanced, will improve data quality and take live feeds from hospital bed management systems. 

 A new ‘UEC-RAIDR’ urgent care application, using data from Flight Deck, will enable wider members of 

the system to see a clearer picture of system pressures at both regional and provider levels. This will 

show levels of ambulance activity, patients present, waiting times in Emergency Departments and bed 

availability. Further development of the app will provide proactive alerts showing increases in activity 

levels, and explore options to include a wider range of information, from areas like pharmacy, primary 

care and community services. 

 Respond, a pioneering training package for professionals involved in mental health crisis care to learn 

together using a simulated scenario with audio and video clips. Now accredited for Continuous 

Professional Development, Respond was singled out for praise by HRH The Duke of Cambridge at a 

national conference on mental health and policing.   

 The Clinical Assessment Service (formerly known as the urgent care hub), which provides 

multidisciplinary clinical support for NHS 111 call handlers and patients, to ensure that no clinical 

decision is made in isolation. Every month, between 800 and 1,000 patients who would otherwise have 

been sent directly to A&E are provided with this additional intervention, leading to a consistent 80% 

channel shift to more appropriate services and a reduction in the number referred to emergency 

departments.  

 Behavioural analysis and multi-award winning social marketing campaigns, using detailed evidence 

about patient choices to support surge management.   

 Successful rollout of the Medical Interoperability Gateway (MIG) system means a range of medical 

professionals now have secure, real-time access to a summary of GP-held records, helping them to 

make clinical decisions more safely and efficiently. Since May 2017, GP-held patient records have been 

accessed through the MIG more than 120,000 times.  A further phase is now extending sharing 

throughout receiving trusts, which will ensure seamless access to information when patients transfer to 

another department from A&E. 

 The NHS Child Health app, which gives expert guidance on childhood illnesses, as well as when and 

where to seek treatment. Now downloaded over 19,000 times, initial monitoring suggests that the app 

may be helping to reduce unnecessary A&E attendances by under-fives.  

 Improvements to the Directory of Services, which guides referrals from NHS 111 and 999, are helping to 

reduce some of the pressure on emergency departments. Monitoring shows that an average of 3-4 

patients per setting per day are now being referred to more appropriate services instead of A&E.  

 The Community Pharmacy Referral Scheme (CPRS), launched in December 2017, has enabled around 

3,000 additional referrals to community pharmacies for minor ailments. The network’s DoS team is now 

working to improve referrals to dental services through NHS 111. 

 A range of other initiatives including a patient flow study which is helping to address issues with 

ambulance handover times, training in falls prevention and the National Early Warning System (NEWS) 

for care home staff, and increased sharing of anonymised activity data from GP practices, making it 

easier to predict surges in demand for secondary care. 

 

These shared initiatives, alongside careful planning and the skill, commitment and hard work of staff 

throughout our NHS and partner organisations, helped to ensure that the region was in a relatively strong 

position to cope with this year’s winter pressures compared with other parts of England.  
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The highly pressured holiday period showed a reduction in the numbers attending A&E inappropriately, while 

an increase in numbers attending with higher acuity and more complex problems, and significant issues 

arising from flu and norovirus, underlined the importance of our collaborative work to improve urgent and 

emergency care. 

Regional surge campaign 
Following the success of last year’s ‘plasticine people’ campaign, we have once again worked with other 

CCGs in the region to implement a shared regional marketing campaign for winter and beyond. The 

campaign used a social marketing approach, building on detailed behavioural analysis research carried out 

through the North East and North Cumbria Urgent and Emergency Care Network.  

This provides a robust evidence base showing what works – and what doesn’t – in influencing patient 

decisions. In particular, this demonstrates that messages about ‘keeping A&E for emergencies only’ can be 

counterproductive due to patients’ confusion about what counts as ‘an emergency’. Most people agree with 

such messages but do not change their behaviour, as they believe that they have a good understanding of 

NHS services and do not use them inappropriately. 

The surge marketing campaign and public relations activities take this research into account, instead offering 

positive guidance and advice, using the relatable ‘plasticine people’ characters to offer positive guidance and 

advice, signposting people to appropriate services. This is the most effective way to influence people’s 

decisions and the way they choose to use urgent care services. 

The campaign features a blend of digital, broadcast, print and outdoor advertising until March 2018, mapped 

closely against peak surge activity at key times of year, and dovetails with the national winter campaign 

agreed by NHS England, Public Health England and the Department of Health.  This is backed by weekly 

media releases and other media opportunities where possible. 

The campaign will run for 12 months, mapped against peak surge activity at key times of the year. Key 

themes include the NHS Child Health app, first aid kits, GP extended access, coughs and colds and stomach 

bugs, as well as key surge messages at peak periods. 

Impact is monitored closely, with 569,000 people reached through Facebook alone in the first two months of 

the campaign – and a total of almost 20,000 downloads of the app to date. 

Key Issues and Risks 
During 2017/18 the CCG has been managing a number of identified issues and risks, all of which have been 

actively managed and the CCG’s risk register was fully reviewed in Q4 2017/18 to ensure that all risks are up 

to date.  

The key risks themes on the CCG’s risk register relate to clinical engagement, deprivation of liberties, public 

engagement, financial position and delivery, working with commissioning partners particularly local 

authorities and performance issues with regards to constitutional standards.  

As at the end of the year, the CCG was actively managing 18 corporate risks. All of these risks have key 

controls identified against them and also the delivery of both external and internal assurance regarding these 

risks. They also include mitigating actions where appropriate and are subject to an action plan.  The 

Governing Body discussed the CCG’s risk register on 27th March 2018 confirming that they agreed that all 

risks were being actively managed and appropriate mitigations were in place. However, the CCG’s risk 

register is a dynamic document and is constantly subject to update and change in order to reflect the nature 

of the risks the CCG faces. 
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The Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG Assurance Framework has also been reviewed. Details of the 

principal risks can be found in the Governance Statement.  The Assurance Frameworks were presented to 

the Audit and Risk Committee’s on 6th March 2018 and Governing Body on 27th March 2018. 

Going Concern  
The accounts within this report have been prepared on the going concern basis. Public sector bodies are 

assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is 

anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents. Where a 

CCG ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same 

assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the 

final set of Financial Statements. If services will continue to be provided the Financial Statements are 

prepared on the going concern basis.  

Financial Review 
Overview  

During the year we have worked hard to secure high quality services, making every effort to ensure we use 

the resources allocated to Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG economically and with effectiveness and 

efficiency.   

Robust systems of financial governance and financial management processes monitored by the CCG’s 

Finance Committee have allowed all financial risks to be appropriately identified and managed during the 

year enabling the delivery of financial targets.  

The CCG’s financial position has been maintained in the current year and it is pleasing to report that we have 

again been successful in achieving our key statutory and administrative financial duties during the financial 

year ended 31 March 2018.   

This continues to be a challenging time for the NHS with significant financial pressures and the financial 

performance outlined in the CCG’s annual accounts is pleasing to see, reflecting the strong financial 

management within the organisation. 

 
CCG allocations 

Two distinct funding streams are provided to CCGs: 

 Programme Budget Allocation – this funding relates to direct health care expenditure, 

 Running Cost Allowance – this funding, amounting to £22.03 per head of population, is to cover the 
administrative costs of running the CCG. 

 
The funding resources available to the CCG during the year were as follows: 
 

 Programme 

Budget 

Allocation 

£’000  

Running 

Cost 

Resources 

£’000 

Total 

£’000 

Initial baseline allocations  411,021 6,360 417,381 

Delegated primary care commissioning 

budgets 
39,960 0 39,960 

Other in-year allocation adjustments  3,581 192 3,773 

Total final allocations 454,562 6,552 461,114 

    

Total funding per head of population * £1,528 £22.03 £1,550 
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* funding per head of population has been calculated based on the registered population of the CCG, as 

published by NHS England, of 297,442.    

 
 
Financial targets and performance for the year 

CCG surplus position 

 
In addition to the requirement to fulfil its statutory duties, the CCG is expected by NHS England to deliver a 
cumulative surplus of at least 1% of its funding allocation.  This surplus is carried forward from one year to 
the next. 
 
For Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG, the cumulative surplus at 31 March 2017 was £9.43 million 
(2.0% of funding allocation), which carried forward to 2017/18.  It was agreed with NHS England as part of a 
planned drawdown of that cumulative surplus that £0.61 million would be available to the CCG to spend in 
2017/18 as an additional in-year allocation, leaving £8.82 million as the cumulative surplus. 
 
As part of the planning requirements for 2017/18, all CCGs were mandated by NHS England to hold 0.5% of 
their total funding allocation uncommitted as a ‘risk reserve’.  For Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG this 
equated to £2.03 million.  NHS England has required the CCG to leave that funding uncommitted during the 
year.   
 
During the year NHS England also held the category M drugs rebate which would have otherwise been 
available to CCGs.  For Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG the value of that rebate equated to £0.54 
million. 
 
In March 2018, NHS England confirmed that all CCGs were required to increase their surplus by both the 
value of the 0.5% risk reserve as well as the category M drugs rebate returned from NHS England.  This 
resulted in the CCG delivering an in-year surplus of £2.57 million in total.   
 
This additional surplus will be used by NHS England nationally to offset financial pressures on the wider NHS 
system. 
 
A summary of the CCG’s final surplus position at the end of the year is as follows: 
 
 £ million % of total 

funding 
   
Surplus brought forward from prior year 9.43 2.0% 
Agreed 2017/18 drawdown (0.61) (0.1%) 
   

Total funding allocation received for the year 452.30 100% 

Total spent by the CCG (449.73) 99.4% 

Additional surplus delivered in year 2.57  0.6% 

   
Final surplus carried forward to 2018/19 11.39 2.5% 
 
 
It is important to note that this final surplus balance of £11.39 million is not a ‘profit’ or surplus generated 
during the financial year.  The majority of it reflects a historical balance carried forward from previous years, 
with an additional £2.57 million of surplus generated during 2017/18 as a result of NHS England 
requirements. 
 
The CCG’s successful results in 2017/18 are set out in the table below, with further detail included in note 23 
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of the full annual accounts published alongside this Annual Report 
 
 
 

Target Outcome 

 

Target 

Met? 

Maintain expenditure within ‘in-year’ 

funding allocation plus 0.5% 

uncommitted 

In-year surplus of £2.571 million 

against an in-year funding allocation 

of £452.298 million 



Maintain running costs within separate 

running cost allowance 

Surplus of £0.831 million delivered on 

running cost budgets 


Maintain capital spending within capital 

resource limit 

No capital resource required and no 

capital spend in year 
N/A 

Ensure cash spending is within the 

cash limit set 

Cash managed within available 

resources 
 

 
 
Expenditure not to exceed resource limits 

 
Unlike commercial companies which make a profit or loss, CCGs are set resource limits within which they 
must contain net expenditure for the year. There are separate resource limits set for revenue and capital 
expenditure, with revenue expenditure limits further split between programme spend and running costs. 
 
Previously NHS England has reported CCG financial performance by reference to the cumulative 
surplus/deficit position.  For 2017/18 onwards, CCG financial performance is now reported on an in-year 
basis. 
 
The CCG’s final in-year programme budget allocation for 2017/18 was £445.746 million.  
 

 

Operational financial balance 

 
The funding for the CCG is based upon an allocation formula, taking into account population growth, 
deprivation and the impact of an ageing population, which has provided target allocations at a CCG level. 
 
This funding is used to fund health care services including hospital and community health services (for both 
physical and mental health), prescribing costs for drugs and appliances, and continuing health care. 
 
Relevant costs amounted to £444.006 million and resulted in an in-year surplus being delivered on 
programme budgets of £1.740 million. 
 
When combined with the position reported on running costs below, this resulted in a total in-year surplus 
being delivered on all revenue budgets of £2.571 million. 
 
Running costs 

As highlighted above, a separate running cost allowance is provided to all CCGs, amounting to £22.03 per 
head of population served for Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees, to cover the administrative costs of running 
the CCG.   
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There is a requirement to manage administrative costs within this allowance. 
 
Total running costs for the year amounted to £5.721 million, compared to a running cost allowance of £6.552 
million.  That underspend on running costs was used during the year to increase spend on direct healthcare. 
 
Capital resource limit 

The CCG had no capital expenditure in 2017/18 and therefore did not require any capital resource, hence 
this target is not applicable in the current year.  In future the capital requirements of the CCG, and any 
related capital resource received, are expected to be minimal. 
 

Other financial targets and disclosures 

In addition to the above statutory duties, CCGs have similar responsibilities to other NHS organisations to 
record performance against the Better Payment Practice Code (BPPC) published by the Department of 
Health. 
 
Compliance with Better Payment Practice Code 

The BPPC requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of a 
valid invoice, whichever is later. 
 
The NHS aims to pay at least 95% of invoices within 30 days of receipt, or within agreed contract terms.  
 
Details of compliance with the code are given in note 5.1 to the financial statements. 
 
Performance against the target is monitored by the CCG on a monthly basis with performance maintained at 
over 95% of invoices paid within 30 days of receipt, measured against both total invoice value and overall 
volume of invoices.  
 
Prompt payments Code 

In addition to compliance against the BPPC, on 11 February 2014 the CCG became an approved signatory 
of The Prompt Payment Code. This initiative was devised by the government with The Institute of Credit 
Management (ICM) to tackle the crucial issue of late payment and to help small businesses. Suppliers can 
have confidence in any company that signs up to the code that they will be paid within clearly defined terms, 
and that there is a proper process for dealing with any payments that are in dispute.  
 
Approved signatories undertake to:  
 

 pay suppliers on time,  

 give clear guidance to suppliers and resolve disputes as quickly as possible,  

 encourage suppliers and customers to sign up to the code.  
 
Setting of charges for information 

The CCG has complied with HM Treasury’s guidance on setting charges for information. 
 
Utilisation of resources 

Financial pressures arise each year, but the CCG was able to manage these by prudent financial planning 
and careful financial management.   
 
One of the CCG’s main objectives during the year was to maintain financial stability and probity while 
ensuring that resources were used as efficiently and effectively as possible in meeting the strategic aims as 
set out in the CCG’s strategic and operational plans. 



 

45 
 

 
A number of financial challenges and risks were identified during the year and a range of actions were 
implemented to successfully address these pressures.  This included delivery of additional efficiencies 
through the CCGs QIPP plan, as well as utilisation of relevant contingency funding. 
 
One of the strategic aims of the CCG is to bring care closer to home, reducing the historic reliance on 
secondary care acute services in particular. This will be essential over the coming years to deliver the shifts 
in activity from secondary care services to primary and community care settings that will be required to 
support the delivery of the NHS Five Year Forward View and management of the financial pressures facing 
the NHS. 
 
It is important that this transformation of care is managed in a planned and progressive manner and the CCG 
has remained committed to supporting its main providers of secondary care services to maintain a balanced 
local health economy.  This is to ensure the delivery of key targets and in overall terms the majority of 
funding currently continues to be spent on acute hospital services.   
 
The utilisation of available resources in 2017/18, across the relevant areas of programme spend, can be 
seen below: 
 

 
 
 
Pensions 

Details of the accounting for pension liabilities can be found in the accounting policies and pension costs 
notes in the CCG’s financial statements (notes 1.8.2 and 3.5 respectively).  Further details of senior 
managers’ pension benefits can be found in the Remuneration and Staff Report. 
 
Audit and Risk Committee 

An Audit and Risk Committee has operated throughout the year, chaired by the Lay Member for Governance 
and Audit.  Details of other members of the committee can be found within the Members Report. 

 
External auditors 

Following a procurement and selection process undertaken by the CCG, Ernst Young were appointed as 
auditors to the CCG for 2017/18. 
 
The cost of audit services can be found in note 4 of the CCG’s financial statements. 
 
The auditors bring an annual work plan to the Risk and Audit Committee for approval.  This states that the 
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audit team are independent of the CCG and also would include any details of non-audit work if applicable.  
When considering whether the level of any non-audit work is appropriate the CCG would consider the 
composition of the team (and whether any audit team members are involved) and the level of fees. 
 
Looking forward 

The financial pressures facing the NHS are substantial and well documented, with the impact of an aging 
and growing population leading to significantly increased costs against a backdrop of limited financial 
resources. 
 
Significant pressures continued to be evident during 2017/18, not only for the CCG but across the local 
health economy, and it is likely these pressures will continue to grow over the coming years. 
 
The CCG has refreshed its operational plan for 2018/19 and is committed to working with all partners as part 
of the sustainability and transformation plan to ensure sustainable, high quality services are available for our 
local population. 
 
The implementation of this plan in 2018/19 and delivery of the necessary financial efficiencies represents a 
significant challenge for the CCG.  There are significant opportunities available to reduce variation in 
services, both from a quality and financial perspective, and this will be the focus of much of the work in 
2018/19 to ensure best use of the limited financial resources available. 

Performance Summary 
Measuring our performance helps us to ensure our services are delivered to a quality standard and provide 

value for money. The CCG has internal processes in place to manage performance against the range of 

indicators including a mechanism to work with internal and external colleagues to identify areas of risk, and 

implementation of action plans to mitigate these.  

This ensures improvements in performance are delivered. Throughout the year, reports are provided to our 

Governing Body setting out our performance against the agreed local and national measures. Monitoring 

performance also helps us in understanding the effectiveness of services, together with the role of quality 

assurance and financial management. 

We have continued to work hard with our partners and stakeholders to achieve our targets as set out by the 

NHS Constitution and the CCG Assurance Framework. In the section below, we highlight our performance 

against the key areas, such as A&E four hour waits, ambulance handover times, cancer waiting times, 

referral to treatment, our local quality indicators, healthcare acquired infections and mental health. The most 

up to date available data has been used to prepare this report. 

 
Referral to treatment  
 
Patients have the legal right to start their NHS consultant-led treatment within a maximum of 18 weeks from 
referral.  
 
CCG performance in 2017/18 for incomplete pathways is above target, reporting 93.3% against the 92% 
threshold.  
 
No patients should be waiting more than 52 weeks for treatment. HaST CCG has reported 2 breaches in 
2017/18. In 2016/17 one breach was reported. 
 
Diagnostic test waiting times  
 
No more that 1% of patients should wait over 6 weeks for a diagnostic test.  
HaST CCG has achieved this target for 5 of the 12 months in 2017/18.  
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The main provider North Tees and Hartlepool Foundation Trust achieved the target for 10 out of the 12 
months in 2017/18.  
 
Cancer waiting times  
 
HaST CCG has met the 2017/18 targets in seven out of the nine categories for cancer waiting times. 
Performance against the 2 week waits for urgent GP referral and the 62 day wait for treatment to commence 
following an urgent GP referral and subsequent cancer diagnosis are the areas reporting below target.  
 
The 62 day wait remains the main concern, with the year-to-date position for 2017/18 reported as 82.5% 
against the 85% target. This standard has remained non-compliant in eight of the twelve months in 2017/18.  
 
Patient level breach analysis is being undertaken to try and identify any trends within the breach reasons 
which can then inform further actions with the Trusts.  
 
Although there are some capacity issues there are an increasing number of complex pathways which 
seriously impact Trusts ability to achieve the target. Performance continues to be monitored through contract 
meetings and the CCG performance framework. 
 
Ambulance response times  
 
Data in respect of ambulance response time indicators was reported by NEAS up to and including the month 

of October 2017 only. New performance measures have been introduced for 2018/19. 

All ambulance trusts were expected to respond to 75% of immediately life threatening calls within eight 

minutes. The performance of the North East Ambulance Service against this indicator is reported as 58%. 

Where onward transport is required, 95% of life-threatening calls should received an ambulance vehicle 

capable of transporting the patient safely within 19 minutes of the request for transport being made. The 

performance of the North East Ambulance Service against this indicator is reported as 87.5%.  

A comprehensive action plan is in place which is monitored through the Contract Management Board along 
with the Clinical Quality Review Group. The action plan is broken down into three main areas/themes:  
• Demand  
• Capacity  
• Efficiency  
 
The action plan will deliver incremental improvements on performance over the coming year.  
 
Healthcare acquired infection  
 
Reducing healthcare acquired infection remained a key challenge for the CCG and the local NHS throughout 
the year.  
 
• MRSA (methicillin resistant Staphylococcus Aureus)  

There is a zero tolerance of MRSA which means that all commissioner and provider targets are zero. The 
CCG have reported no cases this year.  
 
• Clostridium difficile  

In 2017/18 the CCG have reported 88 cases in total against a trajectory of 72.  
 
Accident and emergency (A&E) performance  
Provider organisations have a number of targets in relation to emergency care. One key target is that 95% of 
patients should wait no longer than four hours for treatment in an emergency department. The main provider 
North Tees and Hartlepool Foundation Trust (NTHFT) has achieved the 95% target for 11 out of the 12 

months in 2017/8. 
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Performance Analysis   
 
CCG performance is reviewed by NHS England to ensure that they are delivering quality outcomes for 
patients, both locally and as part of the national standards. The following pages set out areas performing 
particularly well and some that still require improvement. 
 
Indicators described include: 
 

 A&E four hour waits 

 Ambulance response times 

 Ambulance handovers 

 Cancer waiting times 

 Reduction in avoidable emergency admissions 

 Healthcare acquired infections (MRSA and Clostridium difficile) 

 Referral to treatment times 

 Friends and Family Test 
 

 
The indicators are set out in the following layout: 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Annual Comparison – 
standard line in red 

 

Statistics 
shown in 

central table 

Quarterly trend 
analysis. 

Green is at or above 
standard and red is 
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Urgent Care Performance 
 
Four Hour Waits in Accident & Emergency: 
 

 
 
In 2017/18 97.1% of patients who attended A&E were seen and treated within 4 hours, an increase from the 
previous year. The provider performance is above the 95% standard this year.  
 
Ambulance Response Times: 
We commission ambulance services from North East Ambulance Service NHS FT (NEAS) and specify that 
they comply with operational standards. 
Data for the indicators outlined below was collected by NEAS up to and including the month of October 2017 
only. New performance measures have been introduced for 2018/19. 
 

 
 
In 2017/18, 80.4% of Category A Red 1 patients who required an ambulance urgently because their 
condition was related to respiratory/cardiac arrest and considered immediately life threatening waited less 
than 8 minutes for an ambulance to arrive, which is 5.4 percentage points above the standard of 75%.  
 

Standard 95.0%

2014/15 95.1% 95.0%

2015/16 94.7% 95.0%

2016/17 94.5% 95.0%

2017/18 97.1% 95.0%

2016/17 Q1 93.8%

2016/17 Q2 95.9%

2016/17 Q3 94.3%

2016/17 Q4 93.8%

2017/18 Q1 98.0%

2017/18 Q2 97.5%

2017/18 Q3 96.2%

2017/18 Q4 96.7%

% <4 hours in A&E
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Standard 75.0%

2014/15 70.7% 75.0%

2015/16 69.8% 75.0%

2016/17 70.2% 75.0%

2017/18 80.4% 75.0%

2016/17 Q1 66.8%

2016/17 Q2 68.0%

2016/17 Q3 69.1%

2016/17 Q4 75.8%

2017/18 Q1 81.0%

2017/18 Q2 79.1%

2017/18 Q3 82.4%

2017/18 Q4 0.0%

Ambulance Cat A Red 1 response < 8 mins
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In 2017/18, 60.5% of Category A Red 2 patients who required an ambulance urgently because their 
condition, though not respiratory or cardiac in nature, but still considered immediately life threatening waited 
less than 8 minutes for an ambulance to arrive. This is 14.5 percentage points below expectations, and there 
has been a steady and quite dramatic decrease in performance since 2014/15, during which time the 
standard of 75% has never been reached. 

 

 
 
In 2017/18, 88.8% of people who required a fully equipped ambulance to attend urgently but did not have a 
condition considered immediately life threatening waited less than 19 minutes for an ambulance to arrive. 
This is below the standard of 95% and performance overall is showing a downward trend. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Ambulance Cat A Red 2 response < 8 mins

Standard 75.0%

2014/15 74.4% 75.0%

2015/16 70.9% 75.0%

2016/17 64.2% 75.0%

2017/18 60.5% 75.0%

2016/17 Q1 69.4%

2016/17 Q2 67.6%

2016/17 Q3 62.7%

2016/17 Q4 57.6%

2017/18 Q1 63.0%

2017/18 Q2 59.6%

2017/18 Q3 55.4%

2017/18 Q4 0.0%
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Standard 95.0%

2014/15 95.4% 95.0%

2015/16 93.8% 95.0%

2016/17 90.2% 95.0%

2017/18 88.8% 95.0%

2016/17 Q1 93.8%

2016/17 Q2 91.6%

2016/17 Q3 88.7%

2016/17 Q4 87.0%

2017/18 Q1 90.5%

2017/18 Q2 88.0%

2017/18 Q3 85.7%

2017/18 Q4 0.0%

Ambulance Cat A response < 19 mins
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Cancer Waiting Times 
 

 
 
In 2017/18, 93% of patients referred by their GP urgently with suspected cancer were given an outpatient 
appointment within two weeks, which is a decrease of 0.4 percentage points from 2016/17. Performance is in 
line with the 93% standard. 
 

 
 
In 2017/18, 96.3% of patients who were referred urgently with breast symptoms were seen within two weeks. 
This represents a slight decrease from 2016/17 but performance remains above standard. 
 

CWT - 2WW All Cancers

Standard 93.0%

2014/15 94.1% 93.0%

2015/16 93.0% 93.0%

2016/17 93.4% 93.0%

2017/18 93.0% 93.0%

2016/17 Q1 93.1%

2016/17 Q2 92.7%

2016/17 Q3 93.4%

2016/17 Q4 94.3%

2017/18 Q1 91.6%

2017/18 Q2 92.4%

2017/18 Q3 93.6%

2017/18 Q4 94.2%
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CWT - 2WW Breast Symptomatic 

Standard 93.0%

2014/15 93.8% 93.0%

2015/16 94.3% 93.0%

2016/17 96.5% 93.0%

2017/18 96.3% 93.0%

2016/17 Q1 95.2%

2016/17 Q2 97.4%

2016/17 Q3 98.1%

2016/17 Q4 95.5%

2017/18 Q1 93.8%

2017/18 Q2 97.0%

2017/18 Q3 97.0%

2017/18 Q4 98.0%
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In 2017/18, 97.5% of patients who were diagnosed with cancer waited less than 31 days for their treatment 
to commence, which is a decrease from the previous year.  Performance does however remain above 
standard. 
 

 
 
In 2017/18, 95.5% of people diagnosed with cancer and requiring surgery waited less than 31 days for that 
surgery, a decrease of 1.1 percentage points from the previous year.  The CCG has remained above 
standard for the last three years.  

CWT - 31 Day Treatment - All Cancers

Standard 96.0%

2014/15 98.4% 96.0%

2015/16 97.9% 96.0%

2016/17 98.2% 96.0%

2017/18 97.5% 96.0%

2016/17 Q1 99.2%

2016/17 Q2 97.7%

2016/17 Q3 98.6%

2016/17 Q4 97.4%

2017/18 Q1 99.3%

2017/18 Q2 96.0%

2017/18 Q3 97.0%

2017/18 Q4 97.0%
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CWT - 31 Day Treatment - Surgery

Standard 94.0%

2014/15 96.9% 94.0%

2015/16 94.3% 94.0%

2016/17 96.6% 94.0%

2017/18 95.5% 94.0%

2016/17 Q1 91.9%

2016/17 Q2 97.0%

2016/17 Q3 100.0%

2016/17 Q4 97.2%

2017/18 Q1 95.9%

2017/18 Q2 90.0%

2017/18 Q3 100.0%

2017/18 Q4 100.0%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

16/17 Q1

16/17 Q2

16/17 Q3

16/17 Q4

17/18 Q1

17/18 Q2

17/18 Q3

17/18 Q4

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

16/17 Q1

16/17 Q2

16/17 Q3

16/17 Q4

17/18 Q1

17/18 Q2

17/18 Q3

17/18 Q4



 

53 
 

 
 
In 2017/18, 99.2% of patients who required drug treatment for their cancer diagnosis waited less than 31 
days for that treatment, a decrease of 0.3 percentage points from the previous year.  The CCG has been 
above the standard for the last four years. 
 

 
 
In 2017/18, 96.6% of patients who were diagnosed with cancer and required radiotherapy waited less than 
31 days for treatment to commence.  Performance has decreased by 1.8 percentage points from 2016/17 
however the CCG is still above standard. 
 

Standard 98.0%

2014/15 99.8% 98.0%

2015/16 99.8% 98.0%

2016/17 99.5% 98.0%

2017/18 99.2% 98.0%

2016/17 Q1 100.0%

2016/17 Q2 99.4%

2016/17 Q3 99.3%

2016/17 Q4 99.3%

2017/18 Q1 98.6%

2017/18 Q2 99.0%

2017/18 Q3 99.0%

2017/18 Q4 99.0%

CWT - 31 Day Treatment - Anti Cancer Drug Regimen
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Standard 94.0%

2014/15 99.3% 94.0%

2015/16 99.1% 94.0%

2016/17 98.4% 94.0%

2017/18 96.6% 94.0%

2016/17 Q1 98.2%

2016/17 Q2 99.0%

2016/17 Q3 98.4%

2016/17 Q4 97.9%

2017/18 Q1 96.9%

2017/18 Q2 96.0%

2017/18 Q3 97.0%

2017/18 Q4 96.0%

CWT - 31 Day Treatment - Radiotherapy
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In 2017/18, 82.5% of patients who were diagnosed with cancer following an urgent referral from their GP 
waited less than 62 days from referral for treatment to commence.  The CCG has been below standard for 
the past 4 years. 
 

 
 
In 2017/18, 94.3% of patients who were diagnosed with cancer following referral from an NHS Screening 
Service waited less than 62 days from that referral for treatment to commence. This is slightly below the 
performance level reached in 2016/17 but remains well above the 90% standard. 
 

Standard 85.0%

2014/15 80.4% 85.0%

2015/16 79.4% 85.0%

2016/17 82.5% 85.0%

2017/18 82.5% 85.0%

2016/17 Q1 82.0%

2016/17 Q2 79.8%

2016/17 Q3 84.3%

2016/17 Q4 83.6%

2017/18 Q1 80.3%

2017/18 Q2 80.0%

2017/18 Q3 84.0%

2017/18 Q4 86.0%

CWT - 62 Day Treatment - GP Referral
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Standard 90.0%

2014/15 94.7% 90.0%

2015/16 94.5% 90.0%

2016/17 94.9% 90.0%

2017/18 94.3% 90.0%

2016/17 Q1 97.6%

2016/17 Q2 97.1%

2016/17 Q3 97.3%

2016/17 Q4 83.3%

2017/18 Q1 94.4%

2017/18 Q2 90.0%

2017/18 Q3 100.0%

2017/18 Q4 90.0%
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In 2017/18, 92.5% of patients who were diagnosed with cancer following a consultant’s decision to upgrade 
their priority waited less than 62 days from the decision made for treatment to commence. This is an 
increase from last year’s performance, but it is important to note that the rates will tend to fluctuate widely as 
they are based on small numbers. 
 
 

 
Reduction in Avoidable Emergency Admissions 
 

 
 
In 2017/18 there have been 3419 avoidable emergency admissions per 100,000 head of population for 
HAST CCG.   

 
 
 
 

Standard 0.0%

2014/15 84.6% 0.0%

2015/16 86.8% 0.0%

2016/17 91.7% 0.0%

2017/18 92.5% 0.0%

2016/17 Q1 100.0%

2016/17 Q2 100.0%

2016/17 Q3 100.0%

2016/17 Q4 66.7%

2017/18 Q1 75.0%

2017/18 Q2 100.0%

2017/18 Q3 90.0%

2017/18 Q4 100.0%

CWT - 62 Day Treatment - Upgrade
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Standard 0

2014/15 3233 0

2015/16 3297 0

2016/17 3625 0

2017/18 3419 0

2016/17 Q1 886

2016/17 Q2 824

2016/17 Q3 943

2016/17 Q4 972

2017/18 Q1 810

2017/18 Q2 766

2017/18 Q3 931

2017/18 Q4 912
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Healthcare Acquired Infections 
 
All CCGs have objectives for HCAIs set by NHS England. There is a zero tolerance of MSRA (Methicillin 
resistant Staphylococcus Aureus), which means that all commissioner and provider targets are zero.  
 

 
 
In 2017/18 there were no reported incidents of MRSA compared to 2 in 2016/17 and 3 in 2015/16. 
 

 
 
In 2017/18 there were 88 cases of C.difficile attributable to the CCG among HAST patients.  There were 109 
reported cases last year. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Standard 0

2014/15 2 0

2015/16 3 0

2016/17 2 0

2017/18 0

2016/17 Q1 2

2016/17 Q2 0

2016/17 Q3 0

2016/17 Q4 0

2017/18 Q1 0

2017/18 Q2 0

2017/18 Q3 0

2017/18 Q4 0
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Standard 0

2014/15 88 0

2015/16 95 0

2016/17 109 0

2017/18 88

2016/17 Q1 29

2016/17 Q2 30

2016/17 Q3 27

2016/17 Q4 23

2017/18 Q1 31
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Mixed-Sex Accommodation 
 
Under the NHS constitution, providers of NHS funded care are expected to eliminate mixed sex 
accommodation.  

 
 
There have been 2 breaches in 2017/18 which are the first reported for the past four years. 

 
 
Referral to Treatment 

 
 

 
 
As at the end of 2017/18, 93.3% of patients who continue to wait for treatment have waited less than 18 
weeks, a slight decrease from the 2016/17 position. Performance remains above the standard expected. 
 

Standard 0

2014/15 0 0

2015/16 0 0

2016/17 0 0

2017/18 2

2016/17 Q1 0

2016/17 Q2 0

2016/17 Q3 0

2016/17 Q4 0

2017/18 Q1 0

2017/18 Q2 0

2017/18 Q3 1
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2014/15 96.6% 92.0%

2015/16 94.9% 92.0%

2016/17 93.5% 92.0%

2017/18 93.3% 92.0%

2016/17 Q1 93.6%

2016/17 Q2 93.1%

2016/17 Q3 93.4%

2016/17 Q4 94.0%

2017/18 Q1 94.3%

2017/18 Q2 93.5%
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2017/18 Q4 92.3%
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In 2017/18, 2 patients requiring non-urgent consultant-led treatment waited longer than 52 weeks for that 
treatment to commence.  There was 1 patient in the previous year. 
 
 

 
  

Standard 0

2014/15 2 0
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2016/17 1 0
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Friends and Family Test 
 
The friends and family test is intended to be a simple metric against which to measure patient experience.  
 
FFT Inpatients Response: 
 

 
 
Response rates for inpatients have decreased this year compared to previous years.  Performance at South 
Tees has decreased below the 15% standard however North Tees has remained above. 
 
FFT Inpatients % Recommended: 
 

 
The satisfaction score remains above the national target for both providers. 
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FFT A&E Response: 
 

 
 
Response rates for A&E patients have dropped considerably this year for both providers, with North Tees 
falling below the 15% standard. 
 
FFT A&E % Recommended: 
 

 
 
The A&E satisfaction scores for both providers have dropped considerably this year. 
 

Sustainable Development  
As an NHS organisation, and as a spender of public funds, we have an obligation to work in a way that has a 

positive effect on the communities for which we commission and procure healthcare services. Sustainability 

means spending public money well, the smart and efficient use of natural resources and building healthy, 

resilient communities.  

By making the most of by making the most of social, environmental and economic assets we can improve 

health both in the immediate and long term even in the context of rising cost of natural resources. Spending 

money well and considering the social and environmental impacts is enshrined in the Public Services (Social 

Value) Act (2012). We acknowledge this responsibility to our patients, local communities and the 

environment by working hard to minimise our footprint.  

As a part of the NHS, public health and social care system, it is our duty to contribute towards the level of 

ambition set in 2014 of reducing the carbon footprint of the NHS, public health and social care system by 

34% (from a 1990 baseline) equivalent to a 28% reduction from a 2013 baseline by 2020. It is our aim to 

meet this target by reducing our carbon emissions 28% by 2020 using 2013 as the baseline year. 
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Modelled Carbon Footprint 

Category   tCO2e % CO2e 

Core   
              
23  87% 

Commissioning                  -    0% 

Supply chain                  -    0% 

Community   
              
14  13% 
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Modern Slavery Statement 

The CCG Modern Slavery Statement can be viewed on the CCG website 

www.hartlepoolandstocktonccg.nhs.uk  

 
Travel 

Category   Mode 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

Staff commute   miles 28,819 32,661 37,479 53,795 

    tCO2e 10.59 11.81 13.55 19.17 

Business Travel   miles 24,207 6,692 0 0 

    tCO2e 8.89 2.42 0.00 0.00 

Active and public transport miles 0 0 0 0 

    tCO2e 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Owned Electric and PHEV mileage miles 0 0 0 0 

    tCO2e 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Total cost of business travel 
£ 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 
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Energy 

Resource   2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

Gas Use (kWh) 67,007 83,552 30,692 312,077 

  tCO2e 14 17 6 66 

Oil Use (kWh) 0 0 0 0 

  tCO2e 0 0 0 0 

Coal Use (kWh) 0 0 0 0 

  tCO2e 0 0 0 0 

Electricity Use (kWh) 24,436 77,185 31,733 138,040 

  tCO2e 15 44 16 62 

Green Electricity Use (kWh) 0 0 0 0 

  tCO2e 0 0 0 0 

Total Energy CO2e   29 62 23 128 

Total Energy Spend   
 £  
12,422  

 £      
13,433   £                -    

 £            
28,507  

 

 

Water 

Water   2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

Mains m
3
 99 1,081 180 1,187 

  tCO2e 0.09 0.98 0.16 1.08 

Water & Sewage Spend  £            -     £                -     £                -     £                      -    

 

Improving Quality and Safeguarding 
 

The CCG has a responsibility to ensure that we commission safe, good quality and effective services that 

result in positive experiences for patients.  

We understand that securing continuous quality improvement in our commissioned services is an ongoing 

process and to ensure we remain sighted on all aspects of quality and are able to constructively challenge, 
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scrutinise and assess individual provider’s performance and service delivery, we have established robust 

internal and external quality assurance mechanisms.  

These mechanisms are described in our Quality Strategic Framework. It outlines the CCG’s approach to 

quality detailing how it manages and champions the local clinical quality agenda to ensure compliance with 

the CCG improvement and assessment framework.  

In order to effectively address quality issues with our commissioned services and seek assurance, we 

systematically undertake a range of activity. This activity informs and shapes the CCG Quality and 

Safeguarding annual Work Programme.  

Priorities identified have been positively progressed through proactive collaboration with partners. 

Monitoring, evaluation and scrutiny of these areas of work have been completed through implementation of 

the CCG Quality Strategic Framework.  

A range of quality assurance activities have been undertaken by the CCG in 2017/18, this includes listening 

to concerns, face to face contact, analysis of provider data and information, and the sharing of intelligence 

with relevant NHS commissioners, local authority organisations, Healthwatch and regulatory bodies.  

More detail described below: 

Quality, Performance and Finance Committee (QPF) 

Their role is described within the annual governance statement later in the report.  

Clinical Quality Review Groups (CQRGs) 

Throughout 2017/18 work has continued with the four main NHS provider Trusts that we commission 

services from – North Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust (NTHFT); South Tees Hospitals NHS 

Foundation Trust (STHFT); Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust (TEWV); and North East 

Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust (NEAS) to monitor, evaluate and drive forward quality standards 

and we have held regular CQRG meetings involving CCG, GPs and Trust clinicians. These forums enable 

Commissioners and Providers to have a productive dialogue and provide the opportunity to identify 

innovation, best practice, areas for improvement, lessons learnt and evidence of improving patient outcomes. 

We are able to gain insight into the quality of care delivered to local people and promote lessons learnt.  

CQRGs focus on areas of concern through in-depth analysis and discussion reported by exception, and also 

allows the promotion of best practice and quality outcomes.  

Commissioner Assurance Visit Programme 

An important part of seeking assurance from our providers is undertaking announced and unannounced 

visits to services which provide a valuable opportunity to gain patient and staff feedback, quality assurance, 

and meet families and Provider staff.  

This programme of work is an integral part of the contract management and quality assurance processes, led 

by the Head of Quality and Safeguarding and involves a wide range of clinicians.  

Before the visits take place intelligence is gathered from a range of sources to identify any key areas to visit 

or areas of concern: The intelligence gathered includes: 

 Soft intelligence from GP practices and patient complaints. 

 Quality Surveillance Groups chaired by NHS England. 

 Regular contract review and monitoring meetings. 
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 Regular liaison between the Chief Officer and provider Chief Executives. 

 Regular communication between the CCG Director of Nursing and Quality and the Provider 

Directors of Nursing.  

Once the visit is complete a report is compiled by all members of the group who undertook the visit, this 

represents the findings from the visit. Areas of concern or that requires improvement will be included in a 

provider action plan, and monitored through CQRG. Engagement in this programme is positive from both 

internal and external staff, and providers have engaged positively to clinical challenge, scrutiny and 

constructive feedback.  

Serious Incidents 

Healthcare systems and processes can have weaknesses which can lead to errors. It is important the NHS 

system responds appropriately when things go wrong to ensure services and processes continue to improve.  

We are responsible for ensuring there is an effective governance process in place to manage incidents that 

occur within providers or within the CCG. Incident investigations are undertaken to identify a root cause 

analysis and timeline of events, the process manages the incident to ensure lessons are learnt and 

improvements are embedded into practice.  

The governance process is managed through the SIRMs system supported by the North of England 

Commissioning Support Unit (NECS) and CCG staff. Part of this process is the Serious Incident Panel, who 

is responsible for reviewing Serious Incidents, ensuring appropriate actions are taken and lessons are learnt. 

This panel is led by the CCG Director of Nursing and Quality who will only close an incident once assurance 

is gained, the appropriate action has been taken to safeguard patients, prevent the incident happening again, 

that lessons have been learnt to ensure patients receive quality care. Key themes and trends have been 

identified throughout 2017/18 and we have worked with providers to understand the processes that require 

improvement and agree actions that will be taken to improve quality of care.  

Serious Incidents are subject to debate and scrutiny both during the panel and CQRGs held regularly with 

providers.  

Gram Negative Blood Stream Infection collaboration  

The CCG has been working collaboratively across the healthcare system to develop an action plan that will 

identify changes in clinical practice to reduce gram negative blood stream infections. A Tees wide Health and 

Social Care Infection Prevention and Control Collaborative TIPCC group has been established and chaired 

by the CCG’s Executive Nurse. An action plan is in the process of being developed to include all health and 

social care activities across the Tees Valley. The plan will focus on key areas such as, identifying best 

practices, training and education, surveillance and audit, interventions and development of performance 

indicators, communication and engagement and infrastructure within and across organisations.  

 

Quality Surveillance Groups 

We are a member of the local Quality Surveillance Groups (QSGs) which are led and co-ordinated by NHS 

England. These forums bring together regulators, commissioners and providers of services to review quality 

by sharing intelligence and local knowledge to help identify early signs of service failure or poor quality.  

In 2017/18 there has been a wide range of intelligence shared by the group in relation to services across 

acute, community, specialist mental health and learning disability, care homes and primary care services. 

Primary care services include services provided by all the following providers; GP practices, Dentists, 

Pharmacists and Optometrists.  
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The QSG provides an opportunity to discuss concerns or risks with the quality of care delivered by providers 

at a local level, as well as gain an insight into regional and national quality concerns that are ongoing with 

providers.  

NHSE Safeguarding Forum 

The CCG have shared information and intelligence at the Safeguarding Forum, a health commissioner sub 

group of the Quality Surveillance Group which has enabled focused attention on specific quality issues in 

relation to adult and children’s services, and generated local solutions and opportunities for collaborative 

working across the North Durham, Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield, Darlington, Hartlepool and 

Stockton-On-Tees and South Tees CCG areas.    

Safeguarding  
 
The CCG has a close and effective working relationship with partner agencies which includes both Local 

Authorities and the police. We work closely together and share expertise to respond to early warning 

indicators, and address these in a timely and efficient manner.  

 

To address the rising concerns relating to Modern Slavery and Trafficking the Police and Crime 

Commissioner has set up a group across Teesside to establish a network to enable greater 

awareness/intelligence picture locally and ensure an improved multi-agency response for those affected by 

Human Trafficking and Modern Slavery.  The CCG is representing the main health providers on this group 

until the work is formalised, 

 

The CCG is a statutory member on the Hartlepool Borough Council Local Safeguarding Children Board 

(HSCB), Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council Local Safeguarding Children Board (SLSCB), and the Tees 

wide Safeguarding Adults Board (TSAB).  

The Adult and Children’s designated safeguarding leads attend the providers Safeguarding meetings and 

sub groups and provide expertise and challenge to these groups.  

The Director of Nursing and Quality and Head of Quality and Adult Safeguarding nurses actively work with 

the Tees wide Safeguarding Adults Board. The CCG works with the Care Quality Commission (CQC) in 

relation to provider quality concerns. The CQC links include both the NHS providers and nursing home 

providers, so this involves additional close working across the Health and Social Care economy. 

The Designated Nurses for Children and Adults continues to seek assurance from provider services relating 

to performance and has refreshed the Local Quality Requirements to include Special Educational Needs and 

Disability.  

Learning Disabilities Mortality Review Programme has been established and is chaired by the Head of 

Quality and Adult Safeguarding for the CCG and comprises of a multi-agency panel across Teesside 

involving all four local authorities and major health providers. This process reviews the life and death of any 

person with Learning Disabilities and shares good practice and any lessons learned. 

The Designated Nurse offers expert advice in relation to safeguarding children and looked after children. 

This involves being a member of a variety of multi-agency sub-groups acting as a source of expertise across 

sectors on all matters regarding planning, strategy and identifying any gaps in service provision with regards 

to the safety of vulnerable children, child abuse, child deaths and Looked After Children.  

Within this reporting period this has included the development and implementation of a serious case review 

action plan following the publication of a Hartlepool SCR in June 2017 where a vulnerable adult (subject to a 

safeguarding adult review) was murdered by 2 teenage girls. 
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In November 2017 there was a joint targeted area inspection of the multi-agency response to abuse and 

neglect in Stockton-On-Tees. This was undertaken by Ofsted, CQC, Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of 

Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services (HMICFRS) and HMI Probation (HMI Prob). The Designated 

Nurse Safeguarding Children took a strategic lead on this inspection in relation to the health services 

commissioned by the CCG and following the findings has contributed to the development of an action plan. 

 

A peer review was held in Stockton Local Authority in October 2017 in relation to looked after children. The 

Designated Nurse contributed to this through focus groups providing evidence of the collaborative work 

undertaken between the CCG, the local authority and the providers of the Looked After Children’s Service, 

working together to fulfil the statutory requirements. 

 

The children’s multi-agency Performance Management Framework (PMF) which provides a common data 

set for all agencies to collate, analyse and compare data to inform current and future practice continues to be 

used by all four Tees Local Safeguarding Children Boards. The CCGs Director of Nursing and Quality has 

been fundamental in chairing this group and driving forward this work to allow for its implementation and 

continued development.  

The adult and Children’s safeguarding leads attend the LA domestic abuse strategy groups and have been 

contributing to the Domestic Abuse Strategies in relation to Domestic Abuse. 

The Head of Quality and Adult Safeguarding participated in a Tees wide Task and Finish Group to redesign 

the Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference for victims of Domestic Abuse. Changes involved included 

increasing the frequency of the meetings, employing an independent chair and convening a Strategic 

Management Board. 

The named GP safeguarding children has continued to produce and distribute bulletins containing pertinent 

information in relation to safeguarding children, to all GP practices across the area. This has also been 

enhanced by the GP peer engagement sessions held throughout this reporting period and the initiation of 

safeguarding sessions for the administrative leads. There are plans to refresh the delivery of these sessions 

to reach a wider audience within primary care. The GP bulletins and engagement sessions have included the 

following: 

 Learning from serious case reviews 

 Impact of parental behaviours upon child neglect (ie. substance misuse, mental health, domestic 

abuse) 

 Child sexual exploitation (CSE) including CSE awareness day 

 Non-accidental injuries in immobile babies and children (including SAFER form)  

 Neglect and special educational needs  

 Early help and intervention 

 Information sharing, safeguarding processes, record keeping 

 Safer sleep campaign 

 Links to FGM, PREVENT, e-safety,  

Both the Named GP and Designated Nurse Safeguarding Children have undertaken and participated in 

multi-agency case file audits across Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees to identify areas for development and 

good practice. 

Response to national drivers continues, such as mandatory reporting of Female Genital Mutilation in 

children, the Channel Duty guidance and PREVENT strategy from HM Government have been disseminated 

to GPs and work is ongoing to progress compliance with the NHS England PREVENT Training and 
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Competencies Framework. All the Health PREVENT leads attended a regional conference hosted by NHSE 

in relation to the developing the PREVENT agenda. 

 

Engaging people and communities 

 

NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG listen’s carefully to the views of our population including 

patients, carers, the general public, the voluntary and community sector and is committed to acting on the 

feedback we receive. By contributing their opinions about our current services and future needs, the 

community can take a greater role in decisions about healthcare provision in our area. During 2017/18 we 

have encouraged our communities to get involved in a wide variety of ways:  

What are our statutory responsibilities? 

Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG is bound by several statutory and regulatory obligations with regards 

to engagement and involvement. For example, the NHS Act 2006 (Section 242) explains that we have a 

legal duty to involve current and potential service users or their representatives in everything to do with 

planning, provision and delivery of NHS services. Similarly, the Health and Social Care Act 2012 tells us that 

CCGs must show how the views of patients, carers, public, communities of interest and geography, Health 

and Wellbeing Boards, Local Authorities, and practice populations “… are translated into commissioning 

intelligence and shared decision-making.”  

The NHS Constitution enshrines public ownership of the NHS as a fundamental value:  

 “The NHS belongs to the people. It is there to improve our health and wellbeing, supporting us to keep 

mentally and physically well, to get better when we are ill, and when we cannot fully recover, to stay as well 

as we can to the end of our lives.”  

As well as the benefits to the NHS and the population as a whole, public involvement offers personal benefits 

for individuals. People who are involved are likely to find that their involvement increases their knowledge of 

services and how to use them appropriately, supporting them to be in.  

We know that our ambitions will not be achieved unless patients and the public are at the heart of everything 

we do. Our aim to improve health and health services requires that we can understand, and act on, what 

really matters to people and to bring them with us as active partners in decisions about their health and 

health services.  

Everyone has a stake in the health of their community and an engaged and supportive public can provide a 

powerful mandate and resource for our CCG as we evolve.  

The principles of participation  

The CCG will ensure the principles of participation are applied by:  

1. Reaching out to people and asking them how they want to be involved, avoiding assumptions.  

2. Promoting equality and diversity and encouraging and respecting different beliefs and opinions.  

3. Proactively seeking participation from people who experience health inequalities and poor health 

outcomes.  

4. Providing clear and easy to understand information and seeking to facilitate involvement by all, 

recognising that everyone has different needs.  

5. Planning and budgeting for participation early as possible.  

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-nhs-constitution-for-england
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6. Being open, honest and transparent in the way we work; telling people about the evidence base for 

decisions, and being clear about resource limitations and other relevant constraints. Where 

information has to be kept confidential, explaining why.  

7. Recognising, recording and celebrating people’s contributions and providing feedback on the results 

of involvement; showing people how they are valued.  

 

How public Involvement informs commissioning  

Public involvement in commissioning is about enabling people to voice their views, needs and wishes, and to 

contribute to plans, proposals and decisions about services. Our use of the term ‘patients and the public’ 

includes everyone who uses services or may do so in the future, including carers and families.  

How public participation can support the commissioning cycle  

 

 

 

The CCG has a Communication and Engagement strategy which supports the delivery of patient 

participation. You can view this strategy on our website www.hartlepoolandstocktonccg.nhs.uk  

The engagement cycle 

NHS England’s guidance for CCGs (Transforming Participation in Health and Care) focuses on embedding 

communication and engagement at every stage of the commissioning cycle.  

Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG follows the principles as highlighted in the Engagement Cycle when 

commissioning services. The cycle explains how patients, the public, staff and stakeholders can work 

together throughout the commissioning cycle; and how patient, public and stakeholder views can genuinely 

influence commissioning decisions on a daily basis.  

http://www.hartlepoolandstocktonccg.nhs.uk/
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Choosing appropriate engagement processes and activities at any stage of the commissioning cycle requires 

clarity of the purpose of engagement and influence that can be achieved.  The voice of patients and their 

communities will inform:  

 Our decision-making throughout our organisation on an ongoing basis 

 Our quality improvement work by contributing towards needs assessments, strategy development 

and service redesign; and  

 Our quality assurance work by highlighting patient, carer and community experience to inform our 

monitoring and evaluation of existing services, care pathways, providers and healthcare 

interventions.  

 

Our engagement and involvement objectives  

Help people to help themselves:  By expanding and improving the tools currently used by Hartlepool and 

Stockton-on-Tees CCG to engage with service users and the public we aim to give people the local 

knowledge, skills and confidence to be involved with their own health and wellbeing. 

Getting the public involved in our decision making:  By putting patients and the public at the heart of our 

decision making we can give local people a say on how our services are developed locally.  We will do this 

through an effective engagement programme that is innovative and accessible and promotes continuous 

engagement with people from all areas of Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees 

Patient and Public Voice:  To support the CCG to ensure that the patient and public voice is at the heart of 

the organisation and its business and that the appropriate engagement and involvement arrangements are in 

place to enable the CCG to meet its statutory requirements in relation to the duty to involve and consult 

(sections 242 and 244 of the Health Act 2006). These include ensuring that there are: 

a. effective engagement, involvement and consultation mechanisms in place, and  

b. arrangements in place for feeding back to key stakeholders about how their involvement has 

impacted on the development of services commissioned by NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees 

CCG.  
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This will be achieved via a range of communication channels and will be delivered through the operational 

communications and engagement plan. 

To help us achieve our objectives we will:  

 Ensure appropriate and proportional involvement from the third sector, community groups and 

communities, when commissioning proposals affect them, by ensuring on-going and effective 

conversations 

 We will understand the profile and needs of our population, to ensure we offer everyone the 

opportunity to have a voice 

 We will continue to build on and create new links with the third sector and community groups, through 

our community health ambassadors and our close working relationship with our local Healthwatch 

organisations. This will ensure that we use their experience and strengths to regularly engage with 

those people whose views are seldom heard.  

 Always ensure that we feedback to individuals and groups who’ve contributed and/or provided us with 

feedback, in a timely way.  

 

Legislative Framework and Best Practice 

Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG is committed to working within the legislative framework which 

significantly influences how this plan is delivered.  National and local policy guidelines acknowledges and 

promotes the need to improve involvement for the communities we serve and as such we are developing 

involvement and engagement activities to ensure the active participation of the public, patients, carers, local 

communities and other stakeholders, as partners in the design and commissioning process as identified 

within Better Health, Better Experience, Better Engagement – why good commissioning needs patients and 

public at its heart (August 2011).  

This strategy also takes account of Transforming Participation (NHS England 2013) which seeks to help 

CCGs benchmark their individual participation, public participation and patient insight. It includes information 

on legal duties for commissioners, suggested measures and some commentary on health inequalities. 

The CCG recognises the importance of building relationships with key partners, patients, the public and 

stakeholders.  

This strategy will ensure that the CCG has a clear and up-to-date understanding of their views, needs and 

preferences. As identified in Patient and public engagement in the new commissioning system (NHS 

Confederation, 2011). 

This strategy supports Section 242 of the NHS Act 2006 (formerly section 11 Health and Social Care Act 

2001), which came into force in November 2008 and strengthened the statutory duty on all NHS 

organisations to make arrangements to consult and involve patients and the public. 

The Health and Social Care Act 2012 is clear in its ambition to put patients at the heart of the NHS ‘nothing 

about me, without me’; to increase patient choice and control; strengthen the collective voice of patients and 

to improve health outcomes. It also considers, and aims to reflect the NHS Constitution and the requirements 

of the 2010 Equality Act: Public Sector Equality Duty. 

The NHS belongs to the people: a call to action (July 2013) highlights that responsibility belongs to us all to 

transform the NHS to ensure it is sustainability for the future.  

In supporting this objective we will develop future engagement and consultation to incorporate the principles 

of the ’call to action’:  



 

72 
 

• What is the best way to improve quality for the NHS?  

• How can we plan to deliver everyone’s health care needs?  

• How can we prepare for the financial challenge ahead?  

• What must we do to build an excellent NHS now & for future generations?  

Ensuring individual patients are actively involved in decisions about their care and treatment will help us in 

driving forward strong engagement. In line with Transforming Participation we will demonstrate that shared 

decision making is effective in improving patient’s satisfaction, reducing unwanted variation and sends the 

strong message that as commissioners, clinical leaders and practicing clinicians we have patients at the 

heart of all aspects of health and health services.  

CCG involvement and engagement practice as detailed in the supporting action plan, will seek to adhere to 

the CCG’s action plan that seeks to respond to the Mid Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust Public Inquiry 

Report (Francis report). This will ensure the patient voice is considered at all CCG committees meetings and 

appropriately affects CCG quality development systems, for example: standard setting and commissioning 

for quality and innovation (CQUIN).  

Community Health Ambassadors  

Our Community Health Ambassadors (programme) continue to go from strength to strength. Recruited from 

the local community the health ambassadors help us to effectively engage with local people in the planning, 

development and commissioning of health services, with a particular focus on engaging people from 

minority, marginalised and disadvantaged groups and communities. 

Since 2015 the CCG has worked in partnership with Catalyst and Xivvi to recruit and manage a team of CHA 

volunteers who represent a wide range of communities from across all areas of Hartlepool and Stockton-on-

Tees including those with learning difficulties/disabilities and their carers, BME community, deaf community, 

blind community, homeless community, over 50’s/ageing population, ex-offenders, faith groups, mental 

health and more. 

Ambassadors are encouraged to provide feedback and recommendations that are solution focussed, 

allowing the CCG to provide a practical response to concerns and issues; whilst also providing a real 

opportunity to improve patient experience when accessing health services. 

We currently have nine ambassadors for Hartlepool and twelve for Stockton-on-Tees and we are actively 

recruiting. The CHA volunteers represent or are involved with a range of organisations/groups detailed 

below; 

Stockton-on-Tees: 

 Age UK 

 HALO 

 Lifeline 

 Stockton United for Change (SUFC) 

 Thornaby Community Partnership 

 Healthwatch Stockton 

 Little Sprouts 

 Water Aid 

 Groundwork 

 LGBT Matters Stockton Voices 
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 Over 50’s Assembly 

 Christians Against Poverty 

 Big Life Families 

 NHS North Tees and Hartlepool Hospitals 

 Patient Participant Group – Norton Medical Centre 

 Lighthouse Mental Health Peer Support 

Hartlepool: 

 Hartlepool Blind Welfare Centre 

 The Heart Community Centre 

 Epilepsy Outlook 

 Hartlepool Families First 

 Home Group 

 Wharton Trust 

 Hartlepool Deaf Centre 

The CHA’s are a mix of employees and community volunteers who both make the most of their existing 

relationships via personal and professional networks to provide feedback to the CCG on key priorities as 

required. The CHA Programme was nominated for the NECS Commissioning Awards 2016 and was Highly 

Commended in the ‘Excellence in Public Involvement’ category. A range of inclusive communication 

methods are used to ensure ambassadors and the wider publics’ diverse requirements are accommodated 

including 

Throughout the past year the CHA volunteers have attended a number of events/forums including: 

 Health Information Day – Hartlepool 

 Stockton Central Library Stall 

 Thornaby Library Stall 

 Thornaby Family Fun Day 

 North Tees Hospital Stall 

 TEWV Mental Health Information Showcase 

 Catalyst Conference 

 Billingham Community Centre Good Mood Food Café 

 Billingham Council Health & Wellbeing Event 

 SUFC Information Day 

 Big Life Families Family Fun Day 

 Stockton-on-Tees Locality Forums (Eastern, Western and Central) 

 Stockton-on-Tees Voice Forum 

 LGBT Stockton Voices 

Engagement events 

The CCG has held a number of engagement events in 2017/18 asking local people to get involved in local 

CCG decision making. These included;  

Additional engagement events were organised in April 2017 with local people regarding the future of 

Stockton NHS Health Centre 
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From 4 September to 10 November 2017 the CCG held a formal public consultation regarding Respite 

Services for People with Learning Disabilities and Complex Needs, As part of this consultation the CCG held 

21 facilitated discussion groups run by Inclusion North and four public events in September 2017 

Members of the public and stakeholders were invited to attend a birthday celebration at Billingham Forum 

recognising the work of the Community Health Ambassadors. A range of stakeholders were invited to take a 

stand along to the event on 7th December 2017 

The CCG sponsored the North of Tees Dementia Collaborations Living Well with Dementia in Stockton 

celebration event on 21st February 2018 at the River Tees Watersports Centre 

Five phases of pre-engagement for the Better Health Programme/STP, including over 30 engagement 

events across Durham, Darlington and Tees. 

The CCG worked with Hartlepool Borough Council on four engagement events surrounding the Hartlepool 

Local Health and Social Care Plan.  

We carried out a series of engagement with patients at Stockton NHS Health Care Centre (Tithebarn) but 

unfortunately we were unable to secure a provider for a part-time branch service and had no option but to 

close the practice on 31 October 2017 and ask patients to register with another GP practice. Between 18 

July and 24 August 2016 the CCG conducted engagement work with local stakeholders and patients at the 

practice with the objective of informing them that from 1 April 2017:- 

 Services for registered and walk-in patients would be separated 

 That services to registered patients would be retained in the Hardwick area via a branch surgery of an 

existing GP practice 

 That the opening hours of the surgery would be 8.00am – 6.30pm Monday to Friday 

The CCG then invited local practices to apply to provide the branch surgery, with opening hours between 

8am and 6.30pm, Monday to Friday. Unfortunately no applications were received. The CCG therefore 

extended the existing contract for a further three months, with Elm Tree GP practice providing GP services 

from Stockton NHS Health Care Centre on a temporary basis from 1st April 2017 until 30th June 2017.  

The final option to maintain GP services at Stockton NHS Health Care Centre beyond June 2017 was to 

secure a provider to run a part-time branch service. The temporary extension of the contract allowed time for 

further engagement with patients to gain their views on the times and days that a part-time branch service 

would best meet their need. This engagement took place on 6 April and 26 April 2017.The contract with Elm 

Tree GP practice was extended further until 31st August 2017 and then 31st October 2017 up until closure. 

We carried out a survey in November of all patients to gather their views about the GP Extended Hours 

Scheme which offers evening and weekend GP appointments at one of three surgeries in Hartlepool, 

Stockton-on-Tees and Ingleby Barwick, offering appointments until 8.00pm weekdays and 5.00pm on 

weekends. 

My NHS 

By signing up to My NHS, a free membership database, local people can influence decisions about their 

healthcare, receive e-mail updates about local services and receive invitations to events. My NHS for the 

CCG currently has 755 members.  We are re-freshing our marketing materials in 2018/19 and recruiting new 

members. 
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Governing Body and Annual General Meeting (AGM)  

We hold our Governing Body meetings and our AGM in public. In 2017, the AGM was held on the 26th 

September at Billingham Forum and was open to the public. At each Governing Body meeting we hold a 

‘question time’ when members of the public can ask questions and make comments on items on the agenda. 

In addition, our Governing Body includes a lay member with responsibility for patient and public engagement 

that ensures that the interests of patients, the public and community are included in the heart of discussions.  

Website  

Our website www.hartlepoolandstocktonccg.nhs.uk  includes up-to-date information on local news and 

campaigns, key documents and objectives. The website also promotes opportunities for local people to have 

their say via local events and surveys.  

Social Media  

The CCG has a Facebook page and Twitter feed to keep our followers up to date with health and CCG 

information. Follow us on Facebook at www.facebook.com/HASTCCG or on Twitter @HaSTCCG 

Patients and Families  

Through the Commissioner Assurance Visits programme the CCG also actively engages with patients, 

families and carers that are currently in receipt of services. This valuable source of information is used to 

validate the Friends and Family Test information as well as ensuring feedback in relation to information about 

quality and patient experience.  

Healthwatch 

Local Healthwatch are well placed to carry out engagement activity because of their links with patients and 

the public and local networks, including the VCSE sector and local authority health overview and scrutiny 

committees. These links also enable local Healthwatch to engage with harder to reach groups and those who 

have problems accessing services. Local Healthwatch provide a good source of existing patient and public 

insight into how services are being used at a local level and this information should be shared to help inform 

commissioning decisions. 

We seek patient views from people in all 9 protected characteristics and other disadvantaged groups via the 

CCG’s communication and engagement strategy. 

Patient Participation Groups 

We are currently carrying out a mapping exercise of our practice Patient Participation Groups (PPGs) with a 

view to improving communication with practices and patient reps and re-freshed the CCG’s communications 

and engagement strategy which is being updated and uploaded to the website in Spring 2018. 

Reducing health inequality 

Our commitment to equality and diversity is driven by the principles of the NHS Constitution, the Equality Act 

2010 and the Human Rights Act 1998, and also by the duties of the Health and Social Care Act 2012 

(section 14T) to reduce health inequalities, promote patient involvement and involve and consult with the 

public. 

We have demonstrated our commitment to taking Equality, Diversity and Human Rights (EDHR) in 

everything we do, whether that is commissioning services, employing people, developing policies, 

communicating, consulting or involving people in our work as evidenced below. 

http://www.hartlepoolandstocktonccg.nhs.uk/
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Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) 

We understand that we are required under the Public Sector Equality Duty  (PSED) which is set out in s149 

of the Equality Act 2010, to have due regard to: 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and other conduct prohibited by the 

(Equality) Act 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and those who 

do not 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who do not. 

We are also required as part of the Specific Duties Regulations 2011 to publish: 

 Equality objectives, at least every four years  

 Information to demonstrate our compliance with the public sector equality duty. 

 

Governance 

Equality, Diversity and Health Inequalities is governed and reports into the Audit and Risk committee and the 

Governing Body. The committee ensures we are compliant with legislative, mandatory and regulatory 

requirements regarding equality and diversity, develops and delivers national and regional diversity-related 

initiatives within the CCG, provides a forum for sharing issues and opportunities, functions as a two-way 

conduit for information dissemination and escalation, monitors progress against the equality strategy and 

supports us in the achievement of key equality and diversity objectives. 

 

A quarterly Governance Assurance Report is submitted to the board outlining relevant updates in relation to 

Equality, Diversity and Health Inequalities. 

 

Equality Strategy  

Our Equality Strategy was refreshed in 2016 and aims to ensure that the CCG promotes equality of 

opportunity to all our patients, their families and carers, and our staff, and to proactively address 

discrimination of any kind. 

We are fully committed to meeting the diverse needs of our local population and workforce, ensuring that 

none are placed at a disadvantage. 

The Equality Delivery System 2 - Our Equality Objectives 

We have implemented the Equality Delivery System (EDS2) framework and have been using the tool to 

support the mainstreaming of equalities into all our core business functions to support us in meeting the 

Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) and to improve our performance for the community, patients, carers and 

staff with protected characteristics that are outlined within the Equality Act 2010. Working through the EDS2 

framework has provided an opportunity to raise equality in service commissioning and gain insight into the 

local population’s diverse health needs. 

The Governing Body and Audit and Risk committee approved plans detailing actions we will take to ensure 

that individuals, communities and staff are treated equitably. 

We have used the NHS Equality Delivery System 2 (EDS2) to develop and prepare our equality objectives, 

our action plan and objectives are outlined below: 
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Objective 1 – Continuously improve engagement, and ensure that services are commissioned and designed 

to meet the needs of patients in at least 6 protected characteristics. 

Objective 2 – Improve and simplify the Complaints Process for patients and increase awareness of current 

services available. 

Objective 3 – Continuously monitor and review staff satisfaction to ensure they are engaged, supported and 

have the tools to carry out their roles effectively. 

Objective 4 – Ensure that the CCG Governing Body actively leads and promotes Equality and Diversity 

throughout the organisation. 

 

Our Staff - Encouraging Diversity  

We encourage a diverse range of people to apply to and work for us as we recognise the benefits such 

diversity brings to the quality of our work and the nature of our organisation. 

 

 

We continue to offer guaranteed interviews to applicants with a disability who are identified as meeting the 

essential criteria for any advertised roles; and reasonable adjustments under the Equality Act 2010 are 

considered and implemented during the recruitment process and during employment.  

This year, working closely with DWP, we have maintained our ‘Level 2 Disability Employer’ status for 

2017/2018 by demonstrating our commitment to employing the right people for our business and continually 

developing our people.   

Workforce Race Equality Standard 

In accordance with the Public Sector Equality Duty and the NHS Equality and Diversity Council’s agreed 

measures to ensure employees from black and ethnic minority (BME) backgrounds have equal access to 

career opportunities and receive fair treatment in the workplace, the CCG has shown due regard to the 

Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES). 

We have collated staff data as outlined within the updated WRES reporting template for 2017. We have due 

regard to the standard by seeking assurance of compliance from trusts and aim to improve workplace 

experiences and representation at all levels for black and minority ethnic staff. 

 

Equality Impact Assessments 

 

Our Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) Toolkit has been implemented into core business processes to 

provide a comprehensive insight into our local population, patients and staff’s diverse health needs.  

 

The tool covers all equality groups offered protection under the Equality Act 2010 (Race, Disability, Gender, 

Age, Sexual Orientation, Religion/Belief, Marriage and Civil Partnership and Gender Re-assignment) in 

addition to Human Rights and Carers,  as well as including prompts for engagement with protected groups 

the tool also aids compliance with the Accessible Information Standard. 
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Our EIA process ensures that we can consider the impact or effect of our policies, procedures and functions 

on the population we serve. For any negative impacts identified we will take immediate steps to deal with 

such issues as part of the action plan set out in the tool. This will ensure equity of service delivery is 

available for all as well as the opportunity to continuously monitor progress against challenges identified to 

monitor and reduce inequality for our local population. 

 

The EIA is embedded into our governance process and sign off from the Governing Body is required for 

monitoring and completion. 

 

Accessible Information Standard 

The Accessible Information Standard aims to make sure that disabled people have access to information that 

they can understand, and access to any communication support they might need. 

The standard tells organisations how to make information accessible to patients, service users and their 

carers and parents. This includes making sure that people get information in different formats if they need it, 

such as large print, braille, easy read, and via email. Organisations were required to follow the standard in 

full since 31 July 2016.  Further information can be found at: 

https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/accessibleinfo/ 

 

Health Inequalities 

 

We have regard to the need to reduce inequalities between patients in accessing health services for our local 

population. 

 

We understand our local population and local health needs, through the use of joint strategic needs 

assessments (JSNAs) and we collate additional supporting data including local health profiles as well as 

qualitative data through our local engagement initiatives which aim to engage hard to reach groups. We are 

an organisation made up of 38 GP practices across the area that covers a population of around 300,000.  

 

The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) highlights the main health and wellbeing priorities for the 

residents of Stockton-on-Tees and Hartlepool taking account of data and information on inequalities within 

and between communities. A range of plans, strategies, and policies have been developed to help us work 

effectively in partnership to make a difference to the lives of residents. The JSNA states the health 

conditions that most affect people in Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees include: 

 

• Cardiovascular disease – including heart disease and strokes 

• Cancer 

• Smoking-related illness 

• Alcohol related illness 

• Mental health including dementia 

 

Health Inequalities are spread across the CCG and localities e.g. smoking prevalence varying from 16% 

to 48%, and emergency admissions for heart disease two and a half times more likely in the most 

deprived wards than in the least deprived. 

 

 

https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/accessibleinfo/
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The life expectancy of males is 77.8 years and women 81.7 years. Life expectancy is 15.1 years lower for 

men and 12.7 years lower for women in the most deprived areas of Stockton-on-Tees than in the least 

deprived areas and 11.9 years lower for men and 10.9 years lower for women in the most deprived areas 

of Hartlepool than in the least deprived areas. 

 

We work in partnership with local NHS Trusts as well as local voluntary sector organisations and community 

groups to identify the needs of the diverse local community we serve to improve health and healthcare for 

the local population.  

 

We seek the views of patients, carers and the public through individual feedback/input, consultations, 

working with other organisations and community groups, attendance at community events and engagement 

activity including patient surveys, focus groups and Healthwatch. 

  

As the local commissioners of health services, we seek to ensure that the services that are purchased on 

behalf of our local population reflect their needs. We appreciate that to deliver this requires meaningful 

consultation and involvement of all our stakeholders.  We aim to ensure that comments and feedback from 

our local communities are captured and, where possible, giving local people the opportunity to influence local 

health services and enable people to have their say using a variety of communication methods enabling 

them to influence the way NHS health services are commissioned. 

Through our Commissioning Support Unit, we have continued to work closely with other local NHS 

organisations to support the regional working that has been a legacy of the Equality, Diversity and Human 

Rights Regional Leads Meetings. Also nationally we have been awarded E&D Partner status for 2016/17 and 

have continued to work closely with partners as part of the alumni programme for 2017/18. 

Further information can be found at: 

 

Health Profiles: https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/health-profiles 

 

Public Health England – Local Health: http://www.localhealth.org.uk 

 

Hartlepool JSNA: http://www.teesjsna.org.uk/hartlepool/ 

 

Stockton JSNA: http://www.teesjsna.org.uk/stockton/ 

 

Health and wellbeing strategy  
We continue to work with our local partners to promote healthier lifestyles and to support the longer term 

wellbeing of all our patients. In particular we have worked with the Voluntary Development Agencies through 

grant funding to support the VCSE sector to commission a range of projects to contribute to improving 

physical and mental health. These projects accept referrals from numerous sources and provide advice and 

support on a range of issues such as housing, health, welfare, social and community.  

The CCG works as part of the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) for each local authority. The HWB is 

responsible for understanding the health and wellbeing needs of local populations and co-ordinating the 

NHS, public health and social care in collaboration with other local agencies. Senior clinical leaders and the 

Chief Officer sit on the HWBs in each locality with Public Health colleagues and wider partnership groups, 

including Healthwatch. This ensures that there is clinical and strategic awareness of the locality priorities 

which can be reflected in the health and wellbeing workstream and the CCG plans. Some members of The 

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/health-profiles
http://www.localhealth.org.uk/
http://www.teesjsna.org.uk/hartlepool/
http://www.teesjsna.org.uk/stockton/
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Health and Wellbeing Board also regularly attend the CCG Governing Body meetings to ensure an 

awareness of our commissioning priorities and plans including our annual report.  

A representative from the Department of Public Health, Miriam Davidson attends the CCG Governing Body 

and a member of Stockton Borough Council’s Health and Wellbeing Board is also invited to attend the CCG 

Primary Care Commissioning meetings as a non-voting observer.  

Partnership working is a key element for the CCG and this year we have worked with Cleveland Fire Brigade 

so that they can conduct “safe and well” visits. These structured contacts allow vulnerable members of the 

community to have their homes fire assessed as well as directed to health and social care services that can 

help to maintain their health and well-being. 

The CCG has also worked to raise the profile of domestic abuse and the impact of smoking and alcohol on 

our patients in the medium and longer term.  

We know that many of our patients have existing long-term conditions such as respiratory disease or 

diabetes that will require support. The best way for many patients to look after themselves and their 

independence is to make them feel confident that they can manage their own condition. We have therefore 

commissioned a number of support programmes for patients, which they can access at various stages of 

their diagnosis and condition. We are also aware that many practices also provide similar advice and support 

to patients on an on-going basis. In addition we are one of nine national demonstrator sights for Integrated 

Personal Commissioning, this initiative will support people with COPD to hold their own budget and take 

control of their care planning.  

In addition to the above we have worked with our partners to bid for national transformation funding for 

diabetes and cancer and have had success in relation to these bids. This allows the CCG to progress with 

plans in relation enhancing earlier cancer diagnosis and supporting the prevention of type 2 diabetes.  

The prevalence of obesity in England is increasing at all ages; almost two-thirds of adults and one-third of 

children are either overweight or obese. It is directly associated with many different illnesses, chief among 

them insulin resistance, type 2 diabetes, metabolic syndrome, hypertension and several types of cancer. 

Following the launch of the national Childhood Obesity: A Plan for Action, earlier this year, we will now work 

towards an effective weight management pathway along the whole life course.  

We have an agreed Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy for each locality based on our Joint Strategic Needs 

Assessment which clearly sets out our shared health and wellbeing goals for the next five years. As part of 

the consultation on the annual report a copy of the draft annual report was provided to the Chair of both 

Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees Health and wellbeing Boards for their comments. Their responses and any 

issues have been incorporated into the annual report. 

Health and Wellbeing Board Hartlepool 

During the year some of the work of the Board has included: 

 Development of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy which was presented to the CCG Governing Body 

 Review of performance measures associated with the Better Care Fund 

 Review of the NHS Planning Guidance Delivering the Forward View: NHS Planning Guidance 

2017/18-2020/21  

 Partnership working with Cleveland Fire Brigade with the “Safe and Well Visit” Development Plan. 

The Health and Wellbeing Board have during the last year undertaken a fundamental review of the Health 

and Wellbeing Strategy which builds on our collaborative engagement work that resulted in the publication of 

“Hartlepool Matters”.  Whilst we have made progress over the last year in our collaborative endeavours to 
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address the aims of the previous strategy we wanted to take a new and more innovative approach to health 

and wellbeing improvements, focusing much more on the partnership between statutory and voluntary sector 

organisations and the assets our community brings. 

Our aims and priorities going forward are: 

 Starting Well – All Children and young people living in Hartlepool have the best start in life. 

 Working Well - Workplaces in Hartlepool promote and support healthy living. 

 Ageing Well – Older People in Hartlepool live active and independent lives and are supported to 

manage their own health and wellbeing. 

 Living Well – Hartlepool is a safe and healthy place to live with strong communities. 

 Dying Well – People in Hartlepool are supported for a good death. 

Dr Nick Timlin is the vice chair of the Hartlepool Health and Wellbeing Board and the Chief Officer is also a 

statutory member of the board.  

Hartlepool Matters  

The CCG is actively engaged in the ‘Hartlepool Matters’ project, a local plan which has been developed 

jointly by Health (CCGs, Acute and Mental Health), Local Authority, GP Federation and most importantly the 

people of Hartlepool.   

Development of the plan started in 2015 with Hartlepool Borough Council setting up the Local Health and 

Social Care Plan Working Group, in partnership with the CCG, to identify priorities for the provision of 

integrated health and social care services in Hartlepool. Professor David Colin-Thomé was appointed as the 

Independent Chair of the Working Group and, based on the findings of the Group, produced the ‘Hartlepool 

Matters! Shaping the Future of Health and Social Care in Hartlepool’ report. 

In 2016 the ‘Hartlepool Matters’ report was endorsed by the Hartlepool Health and Wellbeing Board and the 

CCG and has been used to develop a Hartlepool Local Health and Social Care Plan. The development of 

this plan has identified a number of health and social care planning priorities to support the provision of 

integrated care across Hartlepool, giving prominence to community based services being delivered closer to 

home. Implementation of the Plan is now ongoing with Health (CCGs, Acute and Mental Health), Local 

Authority and GP Federation partners, with the continued involvement of the people of Hartlepool. 

Health and Wellbeing Board Stockton-on-Tees 

We continue to work with our partners to deliver the aims of our strategy, these include: 

 Give every child the best start in life, because intervening early has a long term impact on health and 

wellbeing 

 Addressing ill health prevention, because this will impact on health inequalities and in particular our 

most deprived wards, and 

 Getting the infrastructure right because we need to do things differently to make the impact we want. 

 

Over the past year, the Board has progressed a range of work, including: 

 Developed a joint strategic approach to mental and emotional wellbeing and a supporting joint 

strategic action plan 

 Overview of work to address emergency admissions to hospital for children; and local and regional 

work to develop maternity services aligned with Better Births (NHSE)  

 Published a refresh of the Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment for the Borough, in line with the 

statutory requirements of the Board 

 Continued overview and assurance regarding the Better Care Fund arrangements 



 

82 
 

 Sought assurance around local Health Protection arrangements, including immunisations, screening, 

communicable disease and emergency planning 

 Reviewed and proposed developments for the work around winter warmth and the impact this has on 

health and wellbeing e.g. the Warm Homes, Healthy People initiative 

Work to refresh the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy is currently underway.  This sits alongside a 

programme of work to further develop the Board to work innovatively as a multi-agency team, to address 

the key health and wellbeing challenges in the Borough where we can have the maximum impact across 

the population.  Both the Board and Strategy work will focus on taking a community assets-based 

approach, with engagement and co-production with communities and a range of partners at their heart.  

Communities have a wealth of strengths, networks and resources that we can support and build on.  This 

refocus from more traditional models of service provision is needed to ensure we really understand and 

address the needs of our local population and tackle health inequalities in a more sustainable way.  

Integration will also be considered as an enabler throughout the work we undertake.  The proposed 

priorities of the new Strategy are: 

 Empowering and supporting families, children and young people to give them the best start in life. 

 Empowering and supporting adults to live healthy and independent lives 

 Healthy Place – addressing the wider determinants of health 

We continue to work with a broad range of stakeholders including healthcare service providers, neighbouring 

CCGs, Healthwatch organisations, Hartlepool Borough Council and Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council as 

well as community and voluntary organisations to ensure a joined up approach to the provision and 

resourcing of healthcare in our community. We know that by working closely with partner organisations who 

have similar priorities and challenges to ourselves we can achieve so much more.  

The CCG is part of the North of Tees Partnership Board. This acts as a multiple organisational planning 

forum (where the various organisations that make up the health economy come together to identify shared 

strategic priorities). The Board reviews and agrees its priorities and plans to deliver health and social care 

services that will improve health and social care outcomes for the people of Hartlepool and Stockton-on-

Tees. This ensures a co-ordinated approach to the delivery of the Sustainability and Transformation Plans 

(STPs) locally; the 2 year operational plan; QIPP / efficiency programmes; Better Care Fund plans; as well 

as a number of service improvement and related activities and initiatives developed by member 

organisations.  

Flu Campaign 

As a CCG, we supported the NHS Flu campaign encouraging those who were eligible for the free flu 

vaccination to take up the offer. It was predominantly targeted at those with long-term health conditions, 

pregnant women and parents of children aged 2-4. The message was promoted through planned media 

including supplements in local newspapers as well as in GP columns, via the CCG website and e-bulletins to 

key stakeholders.  

 

 

Ali Wilson 

Accountable Officer 

29 May 2018 
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ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ali Wilson 

Accountable Officer  

29 May 2018  
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Corporate Governance Report 

Members Report 

Member practices 

In 2017/18 the CCG was made up of the following 34 member practices: 

Practice Address 

Alma Medical Centre Nolan Place, Stockton-on-Tees, TS18 2BP 

Arrival Medical Practice Endurance House, Clarence Street, Stockton-on-Tees, 
TS18 2EP 

Birchtree Practice The Health Centre, Lawson Street, Stockton-on-Tees 
TS18 1HU 

Densham Surgery The Health Centre, Lawson Street, Stockton-on-Tees 
TS18 1HU 

Dovecot Surgery The Health Centre, Lawson Street, Stockton-on-Tees 
TS18 1HU 

Dr Rasool Abbey Health Centre, Finchale Avenue, Billingham 
TS23 2DG 

Eaglescliffe Medical Practice Sunningdale Drive, Eaglescliffe, Stockton-on-Tees 
TS16 9EA 

Elm Tree Surgery 51 Westbury Street, Thornaby, Stockton-on-Tees 
TS17 6NP 

Kingsway Medical Centre Kingsway, Billingham, TS23 2LS 

Marsh House Medical Centre 
 

Abbey Health Centre, Finchale Avenue, Billingham 
TS23 2DG 

Melrose Medical Centre 
 

38 Melrose Avenue, Billingham, Stockton 
TS23 2JW 

Norton Medical Centre Billingham Road, Norton, TS20 2UZ 

Park Lane Surgery 
 

Redmarshall Street, Stillington, Stockton-on-Tees 
TS21 1JS 

Queens Park Medical Centre Farrer Street, Stockton-on-Tees, TS18 2AW 

Queenstree Practice 
 

Billingham Health Centre, Queensway, Billingham 
TS23 2LA 

Riverside Medical Practice Alma Street, Stockton-on-Tees, TS18 2AP 

Roseberry Practice 
 

Abbey Health Centre, Finchale Avenue, Billingham 
TS23 2DG 

Tennant Street 
 

Tennant Street, High Newham Road, Stockton-on-Tees 
TS18 2AT 

Thornaby & Barwick Medical Group Thornaby Health Centre, Trenchard Avenue, Stockton-
on-Tees, TS17 0EE 

Woodbridge Medical Practice Thornaby Health Centre, Trenchard Avenue, Stockton-

on-Tees, TS17 0EE 

Woodlands Family Medical Centre 
 

106 Yarm Lane, Stockton, TS18 1YE 

Yarm Medical Practice 1 Worsall Road, Yarm, Stockton, TS15 9DD 

Hart Medical Practice 1 Surgery Lane, Hartlepool, TS24 9DN 
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Practice Address 

McKenzie Group Practice 17 Kendal Road, Hartlepool, TS25 1QU 

The Headland Medical Centre 2 Grove Street, The Headland, Hartlepool, TS24 0NZ 

Hartfields Medical Centre Hartfields Manor, Hartlepool, TS26 0US 

Drs Koh and Trory 
The Health Centre, Victoria Road, Hartlepool, TS26 
8DF 

Gladstone House Surgery 
The Health Centre, Victoria Road, Hartlepool, TS26 
8DF 

Bankhouse Surgery One Life Centre, Park Road, Hartlepool, TS24 7PW 

Chadwick Practice One Life Centre, Park Road, Hartlepool, TS24 7PW 

Havelock Grange Practice One Life Centre, Park Road, Hartlepool, TS24 7PW 

Seaton Surgery Station Lane, Seaton Carew, Hartlepool, TS25 1AX 

West View Millennium Surgery West View Road, Hartlepool, TS24 9LJ 

Wynyard Road Medical Centre Wynyard Road, Hartlepool, TS25 3DQ 

Clinical Council of Members 

The Clinical Council of Members is the mechanism through which the individual member 

practice representatives come together for collective decision-making as a member 

organisation.  This ensures active participation by each member practice in the functions of 

the CCG in accordance with its constitution, standing orders and scheme of reservation and 

delegation. Each practice nominates a representative of the practice to participate in 

meetings. 

Governing Body and Director Profiles  

Dr Boleslaw Posmyk, Chair 

Dr Posmyk qualified as a doctor in Leeds in 1981 and became a GP in Hartlepool from 1986 

where he still practices while living in Wolviston.  He gradually became interested in medical 

management via the Diabetes Local Implementation Team, and then joined the Hartlepool 

PCT Professional Executive Committee. He then became a representative on the Hartlepool 

PBC Group prior to becoming Chair.  Dr Posmyk was elected to be the Locality GP 

Representative and Chair of the then Hartlepool Shadow Pathfinder Committee and has now 

been elected to his third term as the Chair of the Governing Body for the CCG.   

Ali Wilson, Chief Officer 

Ms Wilson has worked in the public sector for more than 30 years, with the last 14 of those 

on Teesside. Ali has many years’ experience in health services commissioning working at 

Board level.  This is informed by a background that includes health services research, 

service improvement, medical education, and in hospital and general practice based clinical 

practice.  Ali was one of the country’s first Master’s nurse practitioner graduates. As a former 

Fulbright Fellow in the University of Minnesota, USA, Ali maintains a keen interest in patient 

and public participation, the focus of her Fulbright experience.  She was appointed as 

(Accountable) Chief Officer in January 2013 and also as (Accountable) Chief Officer for NHS 

Darlington CCG in May 2016. 
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John Flook, Lay Member (Audit and Governance)  

As lay member for Governance and Audit, John will draw on his wealth of NHS and financial 

expertise. A qualified accountant, he has worked in the Health Service for forty eight years 

including twenty as Director of Finance in the North East. He has advised Ministers and 

served on several national bodies including the NHS Counter Fraud Authority, the General 

Pharmaceutical Council and Sport England Audit Committee. He is also currently the Senior 

Non Executive Board member on NHS Professionals.  

Andie Mackay, Lay Member for Finance 

Andie served as a firefighter for over 28 years, gaining strategic management experience 

with the County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service. Andie joined Stockton BC 

as a senior manager leading Construction and Facility Services as part of the Community 

Services directorate of the council.   

Graeme Niven, Chief Finance Officer  

Mr Niven is an experienced NHS Executive Director and has worked in Teesside since 2003. 

He qualified as a Chartered Institute of Management Accountant in 1994. He was appointed 

as Chief Finance Officer for Darlington CCG in January 2017 as part of the joint 

management arrangements with Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG where he has been 

Chief Finance Officer since the CCG’s inception.    He has worked in the NHS for over 30 

years in varying roles including in a community and mental health provider, regional role and 

commissioning roles. 

Jean Golightly, Director of Quality and Nursing 

As a Registered Nurse, Ms Golightly has previous experience of working in areas from 

across the healthcare landscape, including time spent overseas. Following this, she returned 

to the NHS to work in a number of large hospital Trusts, holding posts in Clinical 

Governance and management of a variety of clinical services, prior to joining the CCG. Ms 

Golightly’s role is a joint appointment with South Tees CCG.  As the CCGs’ Director of 

Nursing and Quality, in addition to Child and Adult Safeguarding, her portfolio includes 

monitoring the quality and safety of patient care, as well the experiences that patients have 

when receiving care from our commissioned services. 

Dr Saleem Hassan, Stockton-on-Tees locality lead and GP member 

Dr Hassan qualified as a doctor in Aberdeen in 2000 and completed the Northumbria GP 

vocational training scheme in 2005.  He has been working as a GP in a large Stockton 

surgery since then.  He also performs minor surgery within his practice.  He joined the CCG 

in June 2016.  He also has extensive experience of working in local urgent care services for 

many years.      

Dr Nick Timlin, Hartlepool locality lead and GP member  

Dr Timlin qualified as a doctor in Manchester in 1984 and completed the Cleveland 

vocational training scheme, starting work as a GP principal in 1990. Nick is also a fully 

qualified forensic medical examiner and occupational physician and has worked for 

Cleveland police and local firms. He is also a GP trainer, working at Durham and Tees 

Valley Vocational Training Scheme. He currently practices as a GP in Hartlepool. 
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Dr David Hodges, GP member  

Dr Hodges works as a full-time GP at Alma Medical Centre in Stockton- on-Tees.  

Dr Salvi Patel, GP member  

Dr Patel qualified from The University of Liverpool in 2007, after this she obtained a diploma 

in Obstetrics and Gynaecology, qualifying as a GP in 2012. After this she worked as a GP in 

inner city Liverpool before moving back to the North East.  She is a GP at Seaton Surgery in 

Hartlepool. Salvi is a non-executive board member for Hartlepool on the Governing body.  

Hilary Thompson, Lay Member (patient and public involvement)  

Mrs Thompson taught for many years in nursery and primary schools in both Stockton and 

Hartlepool. In 1993, she became a full-time lecturer in Early Years at New College, Durham 

and later taught part-time at Middlesbrough College and New College. In 2009, Hilary was 

elected Hartlepool Borough Councillor for Elwick Ward and held cabinet posts with 

responsibility for Culture, Leisure and Tourism and Performance and Adult Services and 

Public Health, before stepping down in 2012. Hilary has special responsibility for patient and 

public involvement and serves as Deputy Chair of the Governing Body. 

Dr Charles Stanley, Secondary Care Consultant 

Dr Stanley is a consultant child and adolescent psychiatrist and currently undertakes this 

role in Leeds. He is an honorary senior lecturer in child and adolescent psychiatry at the 

University of Leeds. He is also an associate medical director at Leeds Community 

Healthcare NHS Trust. Prior to training in psychiatry, he worked as a hospital-based 

paediatrician. Charles is the Secondary Care Consultant on the Governing Body. 

 

Other key Director roles: 

Dr Andrea Jones, Chief Clinical Officer 

Dr Andrea Jones, who has worked as Darlington GP for over 20 years is now working 

alongside other clinicians and managers in supporting the CCG in improving NHS services. 

In her role, she has chaired the Governing Body, the decision making board of GPs, 

clinicians and lay members for NHS Darlington CCG. 

Originally from Leeds, Dr Jones, gained her MB BS medical qualification in 1986 at 

Newcastle University before undertaking GP training at Denmark Street Surgery in 

Darlington. Qualifying as a GP in 1990, she joined the former Netherlaw Surgery, now 

Blacketts, in 1991.  Dr Jones, whose involvement with the former Primary Care Trust began 

when, as musculoskeletal lead, she established a service based in the community for 

patients with arthritis, joint and soft tissue problems, aiming was to improve access to 

support and treatment for patients, without necessarily needing to attend hospital. With her 

background and experience, she has supported a team improving the services for the most 

common cause of back problems that is currently being rolled out across the North East. 

Karen Hawkins, Director of Commissioning and Transformation  

Karen has spent her entire career in public service, she took up the joint post of Director of 

Commissioning and Transformation across Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees and Darlington 

CCGs in December 2016. Before this she was Associate Director for Commissioning and 

Delivery for Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG.  Karen has a strong commissioning and 
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contracting background and has held a variety of senior positions in the NHS, across both 

primary and acute care.  

Lisa Tempest, Director of Planning and Assurance  

Lisa joined Darlington CCG from South Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, where she 

was Chief Operating Officer for the Community Services Division.  Prior to joining the NHS in 

2008, Lisa worked for BASF plc, National Power plc and Nike Inc. 

Audit and Risk Committee 

An Audit and Risk Committee has operated throughout the year, chaired by John Flook, Lay 

member for audit and governance.   The Committee meets together with the equivalent 

Committee in Darlington CCG as ‘Committees in Common’ to enable common issues to be 

discussed together and facilitate joint working across both CCGs. 

Members of the Audit and Risk Committee are:   

John Flook Lay Member (Audit and Governance) 

Hilary Thompson     Lay Member (patient and public involvement) 

Andie Mackay  Lay Member 

Dr David Hodges Governing Body GP 

 

Other committee structures are referenced fully in the Governance Statement and the 

Remuneration and Staff Report details members of the Remuneration Committee. 
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Register of Interests 
All members of the Governing Body and its committees are required to declare any interests 

they have in accordance with the CCG’s Standards of Business Conduct and Declarations of 

Interest Policy.  They are required to review and update their declarations of interest on an 

annual basis and also highlight any new interests within 28 days of them becoming 

apparent.  The Registers of Declarations of Interest and Gifts & Hospitality are maintained 

throughout the year and will be kept for 6 years.  The registers are made available to the 

public on request or via the CCG’s website at: 

http://www.hartlepoolandstocktonccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Copy-of-2017-

2018-Dton-HaST-CCG-DoI-Registration-updated-Q4-HAST.pdf 

Where interests are identified within meetings, these are declared by the individual and 

appropriate action is agreed, including whether the individual needs to withdraw from 

discussions.   

In January 2018, NHS England issued a letter mandating annual conflicts of interest training 

for all relevant individuals in the CCG.  To further support CCGs to manage conflicts of 

interest, NHSE have launched new online training. The training package has been 

developed in collaboration with NHS Clinical Commissioners and aims to raise awareness of 

the risks of conflicts of interest and how to identify and manage them. The training has been 

rolled out to all relevant staff. 

Personal data related incidents  

There have been no personal data related incidents or data security breaches during 

2017/18 that required disclosure to the Information Commissioner. 

Statement of Disclosure to Auditors  

Each individual who is a member of the CCG at the time the Members’ Report is approved 
confirms:  

 so far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the 
CCG’s auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of their audit 
report  

 the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to 
make him or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that 
the CCG’s auditor is aware of it.  

Modern Slavery Act  

Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG supports the Government’s objectives to eradicate 

modern slavery and human trafficking. Our Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement for the 

financial year ending 31 March 2018 is published on our website at 

http://www.hartlepoolandstocktonccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Modern-slavery-

Statement-HAST.pdf 

http://www.hartlepoolandstocktonccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Copy-of-2017-2018-Dton-HaST-CCG-DoI-Registration-updated-Q4-HAST.pdf
http://www.hartlepoolandstocktonccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Copy-of-2017-2018-Dton-HaST-CCG-DoI-Registration-updated-Q4-HAST.pdf
http://www.hartlepoolandstocktonccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Modern-slavery-Statement-HAST.pdf
http://www.hartlepoolandstocktonccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Modern-slavery-Statement-HAST.pdf
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Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities  

The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical 

Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be appointed 

by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England).  NHS England has appointed the Chief 

Officer to be the Accountable Officer of Darlington CCG. 

The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health Service 

Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical Commissioning Group 

Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.  They include responsibilities for:  

 The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer 

is answerable,  

 For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at 

any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable them 

to ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts Direction),  

 For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for taking 

reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities). 

 The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public Money, 

 Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically (in 

accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)) 

and with a view to securing continuous improvement in the quality of services (in 

accordance with Section14R of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)), 

 Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H to 223J 

of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each 

Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year financial statements in the 

form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The financial statements are 

prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 

Clinical Commissioning Group and of its net expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity and 

cash flows for the financial year. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the 

requirements of the Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and in 

particular to: 

 Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant 

accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies 

on a consistent basis; 

 Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis; 

 State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Group 

Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health have been followed, and 

disclose and explain any material departures in the financial statements; and, 

 Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. 
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To the best of my knowledge and belief, and subject to the disclosures set out below (eg. 

directions issued, s30 letter issued by internal auditors) I have properly discharged the 

responsibilities set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing 

Public Money and in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment 

Letter. 

I also confirm that:  

 as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the CCG’s 

auditors are unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I have taken all the steps 

that I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any relevant audit information 

and to establish that the CCG’s auditors are aware of that information.  

 that the annual report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and 

understandable and that I take personal responsibility for the annual report and 

accounts and the judgments required for determining that it is fair, balanced and 

understandable  

 

 

 

Ali Wilson 

Accountable Officer 

29 May 2018 
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Governance Statement 

Introduction and context 

NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG is a body corporate established by NHS 

England on 1 April 2013 under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 

The clinical commissioning group’s statutory functions are set out under the National Health 

Service Act 2006 (as amended).  The CCG’s general function is arranging the provision of 

services for persons for the purposes of the health service in England.  The CCG is, in 

particular, required to arrange for the provision of certain health services to such extent as it 

considers necessary to meet the reasonable requirements of its local population.   

As at 1 April 2017, the clinical commissioning group was not subject to any directions from 

NHS England issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act 2006. 

Scope of responsibility 

As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal 

control that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s policies, aims 

and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally 

responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public 

Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out under the National Health Service 

Act 2006 (as amended) and in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer 

Appointment Letter. 

I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered prudently 

and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding 

financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of 

the system of internal control within the clinical commissioning group as set out in this 

governance statement. 

Governance arrangements and effectiveness 

The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made appropriate 

arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and 

economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of good governance as 

are relevant to it. 

The CCG has a Constitution based on the Department of Health’s Model Template. The 

Constitution was reviewed during 2017/18 in order to ensure it remained legally compliant 

and took into account any guidance provided and legal requirements put in place since its 

adoption.  This included updating the Constitution to reflect the Revised Statutory Guidance 

for CCGs on Managing Conflicts of Interest (2017) and the formation of a Joint CCG 

Committee across Cumbria and the North East.    

The review of the Constitution confirmed that it complies with the elements of the self-

certification checklist, including: 
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- specifying the arrangements made by the CCG for the discharge of its functions; 

- specifying the arrangements made by the CCG for the discharge of the functions of 

the Governing Body; 

- the procedures to be followed by the CCG in making decisions; 

- the arrangements it has made to secure that individuals to whom health services are 

being, or may be, provided pursuant to its commissioning arrangements are involved; 

- arrangements made by the CCG for discharging its duties in respect of registers of 

interest and management of conflicts of interest; 

- arrangements made by the CCG for ensuring that there is transparency about the 

decisions of the group and the manner in which they are made. 

Throughout 2017/18 the CCG has continued to operate with a governance structure that 

reflects guidance and best practice. In light of the implementation of a shared management 

structure for NHS Darlington CCG and NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG, revised 

governance arrangements have been in place throughout the year and were reviewed in 

March 2018 to confirm that they continued to be effective across both organisations.  Where 

appropriate, the CCG continues to hold meetings in-common with Hartlepool and Stockton-

on-Tees CCG; these include:  Governing Body, Audit and Risk Committee; Primary Care 

Commissioning Committee, Remuneration Committee and the Quality, Performance and 

Finance Committee.   

The committee structure in place throughout 20117/18 is shown below. 
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Governance Structure

Council of Members

Governing Bodies Meeting 
In-Common

Sustainability and 
Transformation Programme 

(STP) Joint Committee

South IFR Panel

Primary Care 
Commissioning 

Committee

Quality, 
Performance 
and Finance 
Committee

Audit and Risk 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Cumbria and the North East 
CCG Joint Committee

Finance Sub- 
Committee

 

Council of Members 

The Council of Members comprises a representative of each member practice and ensures 

that the Group’s activities retain a clear clinical focus with member engagement.  

The main areas covered by the Council of Members during this year include: 

 Sustainability and Transformational Plans - delivering the GP 5 year forward view 

 Updates on the CCG’s financial position 

 Reviewing the achievements and to provide Council of Members with an overview of 

work undertaken in 2016/17 & to highlight challenges for 17/18. 

The Council of Members delegate approval of a range of functions to the Governing Body.  

Membership of the Council of Members consists of the healthcare professional nominated by 

each member practice to act on its behalf in dealings with the CCG and to represent that 

member practice at meetings of the Members Assembly. Attendance at Members Assembly 

is shown below. 
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Figure 1: Members Assembly Attendance Record.    

Practice Address Attended 

Council of 

Members 

Alma Medical Centre Nolan Place, Stockton-on-Tees, TS18 2BP Yes 

Arrival Medical Practice Endurance House, Clarence Street, Stockton-on-

Tees, TS18 2EP 

- 

Bankhouse Surgery One Life Centre, Park Road, Hartlepool, TS24 7PW - 

Birchtree Practice The Health Centre, Lawson Street, Stockton-on-

Tees, TS18 1HU 

- 

Chadwick Practice One Life Centre, Park Road, Hartlepool, TS24 7PW Yes 

Densham Surgery The Health Centre, Lawson Street, Stockton-on-

Tees, TS18 1HU 

Yes 

Dovecot Surgery The Health Centre, Lawson Street, Stockton-on-

Tees, TS18 1HU 

- 

Dr Rasool Abbey Health Centre, Finchale Avenue, Billingham 

TS23 2DG 

- 

Drs Koh and Trory The Health Centre, Victoria Road, Hartlepool, TS26 

8DF 

- 

Eaglescliffe Medical 

Practice 

Sunningdale Drive, Eaglescliffe, Stockton-on-Tees 

TS16 9EA 

- 

Elm Tree Surgery 51 Westbury Street, Thornaby, Stockton-on-Tees 

TS17 6NP 

- 

Gladstone House 

Surgery 

The Health Centre, Victoria Road, Hartlepool, TS26 

8DF 

- 

Hart Medical Practice 1 Surgery Lane, Hartlepool, TS24 9DN - 

Hartfields Medical 

Centre 

Hartfields Manor, Hartlepool, TS26 0US - 

Havelock Grange 

Practice 

One Life Centre, Park Road, Hartlepool, TS24 7PW Yes 

Kingsway Medical 

Centre 

Kingsway, Billingham, TS23 2LS Yes 

Marsh House Medical 

Centre 

Abbey Health Centre, Finchale Avenue, Billingham Yes 
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Practice Address Attended 

Council of 

Members 

TS23 2DG 

McKenzie Group 

Practice 

17 Kendal Road, Hartlepool, TS25 1QU Yes 

Melrose Medical Centre 38 Melrose Avenue, Billingham, Stockton 

TS23 2JW 

- 

Norton Medical Centre Billingham Road, Norton, TS20 2UZ - 

Park Lane Surgery Redmarshall Street, Stillington, Stockton-on-Tees 

TS21 1JS 

- 

Queens Park Medical 

Centre 

Farrer Street, Stockton-on-Tees, TS18 2AW - 

Queenstree Practice Billingham Health Centre, Queensway, Billingham 

TS23 2LA 

Yes 

Riverside Medical 

Practice 

Alma Street, Stockton-on-Tees, TS18 2AP - 

Roseberry Practice Abbey Health Centre, Finchale Avenue, Billingham 

TS23 2DG 

Yes 

Seaton Surgery Station Lane, Seaton Carew, Hartlepool, TS25 1AX - 

Tennant Street Tennant Street, High Newham Road, Stockton-on-

Tees, TS18 2AT 

- 

The Headland Medical 

Centre 

2 Grove Street, The Headland, Hartlepool, TS24 

0NZ 

Yes 

Thornaby & Barwick 

Medical Group 

Thornaby Health Centre, Trenchard Avenue, 

Stockton-on-Tees, TS17 0EE 

Yes 

West View Millennium 

Surgery 

West View Road, Hartlepool, TS24 9LJ - 

Woodbridge Medical 

Practice 

Thornaby Health Centre, Trenchard Avenue, 

Stockton-on-Tees, TS17 0EE 

- 

Woodlands Family 

Medical Centre 

106 Yarm Lane, Stockton, TS18 1YE Yes 

Wynyard Road Medical 

Centre 

Wynyard Road, Hartlepool, TS25 3DQ - 

Yarm Medical Practice 1 Worsall Road, Yarm, Stockton, TS15 9DD - 
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A description of the Governing Body and its Committees is provided below, together with a 

record of attendance. 

Figure 2:  Governing Body and Committee Members attendance record  

Name Title Audit and 

Risk 

Committee  

(5) 

Quality, 

Performance 

and Finance 

Committee  

(11) 

Governing 

Body  

(6) 

Remuneration 

Committee 

(2) 

Primary Care 

Commissioning 

Committee  

(8) 

Ali Wilson Chief Officer  8/11 6/6  5/8 

Andie 

Mackay 

Lay member  3/5 10/11 5/6  5/8 

Dr Andrea 

Jones 

(October 

2017 

onwards) 

Clinical Chief 

Officer 

 5/6 4/6  2/4 

Dr 

Boleslaw 

Posmyk 

Chair of the 

Governing 

Body 

  5/6 2/2  

Dr Charles 

Stanley 

Secondary 

Care Doctor 

  6/6 2/2 1/8 

David 

Hodges 

GB Member 

Stockton 

2/5  3/6   

Graeme 

Niven 

Chief 

Finance 

Officer  

 11/11 6/6  8/8 

Hilary 

Thompson 

Lay Member 

PPI 

5/5  6/6 2/2 8/8 

Jean 

Golightly 

Director of 

Nursing and 

Quality 

 8/11 4/6  2/8 

John Flook Lay Member- 

Audit and 

Governance  

5/5  4/6 2/2  

Dr Nick 

Timlin 

GP Locality 

Lead 

 9/11 5/6   
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Governing Body 

During the year 2017/18, the CCG’s Governing Body met on 6 occasions in public.   A 

number of ‘In Committee meetings’ were also held do discuss work in progress and items of 

a confidential nature prior to public disclosure.  An annual cycle of business was in place, 

which enables it to discharge the duties conferred upon it.  Agendas are structured to deal 

with strategic, performance, quality assurance, risk and governance issues.  The 

arrangements meet the requirements of best practice guidance in respect of risk 

management and ensure that a strong accountability framework has been established.  They 

reflect the public service values of accountability, probity and openness and specify as 

Accountable Officer my responsibility for ensuring that these values are met within the CCG. 

Key areas of discussion throughout the year have included: 

- approval of CCG strategic and operational plans, including aims and objectives; 

- review and approval of CCG budgets; 

- review and approval of decisions relating to commissioned services, including for 

example: respite services for people with learning disabilities and/or autism, Podiatry 

Services and the procurement of Stockton Health Centre.  

- review and approval of corporate governance arrangements including: policies, terms 

of reference and arrangements for risk, and 

- review of progress against plans, financial targets, performance, measures and 

clinical quality standards. 

The Governing Body also receives confirmed minutes from each of its committees to enable 

it to consider the work and effectiveness of the respective committee and to receive 

assurance relating to delivery of their terms of reference.  

Throughout the year the Governing Body undertook a process of ‘critique’ to review the 

effectiveness of the meetings. This process ensures continuous learning and development to 

improve effectiveness.  

 

Dr Saleem 

Hassan 

GP Locality 

Lead 

 11/11 4/6   

Dr Salvi 

Patel 

(Long term 

leave) 

GB Member 

Hartlepool 

  1/6   
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Established Committees 

The Governing Body committees have authority under the Scheme of Delegation to 

establish sub-committees or sub-groups to enable them to fulfil their role.  Each of the 

Governing Body committees has detailed terms of reference. Each committee is authorised 

by the Governing Body to pursue any activity within their terms of reference and within the 

scheme of reservation and delegation. 

Remuneration Committee 

The Remuneration Committee is a statutory committee established to advise/recommend to 

the Governing Body the appropriate remuneration and terms of service for the Chief Officer 

and other staff paid through the Very Senior Manager Pay Framework. The committee also 

advises/recommends to the Governing Body remuneration for the role of Chair, 

remuneration and terms of service of Governing Body clinical representatives and any 

independent lay members and reviews any business cases for early retirement and 

redundancy. Full details of the membership and attendance of the Committee is included at 

Figure 2: Governing Body and Committee Meetings Attendance Record.  The committee’s 

terms of reference are referenced within the CCG’s Constitution and are available on the 

CCG’s website.  

Key areas that the Committee have focussed on during the year include: 

 Governing Body Member Appraisal Process 

 Remuneration for Senior Manager Roles in the Shared Management Structure. 

 

Audit and Risk Committee  

Full details of the membership and attendance of the Committee is included at Figure 1: 

Governing Body and Committee Meetings Attendance Record. 

The Audit and Risk Committee supports the Governing Body in its function of ensuring the 

CCG has made appropriate arrangements to ensure functions are exercised effectively, 

efficiently and economically and that all relevant principles of good governance are adhered 

to. 

In line with the requirements of the NHS Audit Committee Handbook and NHS Codes of 

Conduct and Accountability, the committee provides the organisation with an independent 

and objective review of systems of internal control, risk and governance processes and 

arrangements and compliance with laws, guidance and regulations governing the NHS.   

The committee Chair is a lay member of the Governing Body and has no executive powers, 

other than those specifically delegated in its terms of reference. The committee’s terms of 

reference are referenced within the CCG’s Constitution and are available on the CCG’s 

website. Annually, the committee review the terms of reference and also carries out a self-
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assessment of its effectiveness, which is undertaken with support from Internal Audit and the 

committee considered itself to be operating effectively. 

The committee’s cycle of business includes review of the CCG Governing Body Assurance 

Framework and corporate risk register as well as considering the work of both internal audit 

(including counter fraud) and external audit. 

Significantly during the year through its cycle of business, the Audit and Risk Committee 

have received the following assurances:  

 Internal Audit Progress Reports 

 External Audit Progress Reports 

 Chief Finance Officer Reports 

 Head of Internal Audit Opinion 

 Approval of Audit and Counter Fraud Plans 

 Review of Risk Register and Assurance Framework  

 Annual Report and Accounts 

 Review of business continuity planning arrangements and response to Plan activation 

 Consideration of assurances provided relating to the CCG’s governance responsibilities 

(including: equality & diversity, health & safety, business continuity, corporate 

governance, information governance, mandatory training and research & development). 

 

Quality, Performance and Finance Committee   

This Committee provides assurance to the Governing Body of effective management in 

relation to finance, contracts, performance and quality, including the delivery of Quality, 

Innovation, Productivity and Performance (QIPP). The Committee’s cycle of business 

includes overseeing that commissioned services are being delivered in a high quality and 

safe manner and performance is managed according to the agreed terms of the Service 

Level Agreements and formal Contracts and that appropriate corrective action is being 

taken to address areas of underperformance, including changes to future contracts where 

necessary.  

Full details of the membership and attendance of the Committee is included at Figure 1: 

Governing Body and Committee Meetings Attendance Record. The Committee’s terms of 

reference are referenced within the CCG’s Constitution and are available on the CCG’s 

website.  

One of the Quality, Performance and Finance Committee’s key responsibilities is to seek 

assurance that the CCG is commissioning safe care for patients and this is undertaken by 

monitoring provider performance and adherence to quality standards. 

Significantly during the year through its cycle of business, the Quality Performance and 

Finance Committee has considered the following issues:   

 Overall financial position of the CCG 
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 Quality monitoring reports on provider commissioned services, including the reporting 

of serious untoward incidents 

 Provider reports in relation to complaints, claims and untoward incidents  

 Provider healthcare acquired infections 

 Achievement of QIPP 

 Performance monitoring of provider contracts 

 Monitoring delivery of the 2017/18 financial plan (supported by the Finance Sub-Group) 

 Operational and financial plans. 

Annually the committee review the terms of reference and review its effectiveness on an 

ongoing basis also producing an annual report of its work.   

Primary Care Commissioning Committee 

The Committee has a primary purpose of commissioning primary medical services for the 

people of Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees.  Three of these meetings were held in public.  

Healthwatchs, the Local Authorities and the Local Medical Committee were invited to attend 

all meetings.  

The role of the Committee is to carry out the functions relating to the commissioning of 

primary medical services under Section 83 of the NHS Act, except those relating to 

individual GP performance management, which have been reserved to NHS England.  This 

includes the following activities:   

 GMS, PMS and APMS contracts (including the design of PMS and APMS contracts, 

monitoring of contracts, taking contractual action such as issuing breach/remedial 

notices; removing a contract) 

 Directed enhanced services 

 Design of GP services as alternatives to the Quality Outcomes Framework (QOF) 

 Approving practice mergers, boundary changes and list closures 

 Decision making on whether to establish new GP practices in an area 

 Making decisions on discretionary payment (eg. returner/retainer schemes). 

In performing its role the Committee will exercise its management of the delegated functions 

in accordance with the Agreement entered into between NHS England and the CCG, which 

will sit alongside the delegation and terms of reference which are reviewed annually. 

Funding Panel 

The Funding Panel, which is a collaboration between CCGs and is accountable to the CCG’s 

Governing Body, considers all Individual Funding Requests and decides whether or not to 

support individual requests on the basis of the information provided with the request to the 

committee. Requests are assessed for access to treatment within the commissioning 

authority of the CCG. 

During the course of the year, it has developed and agreed protocols for accessing services 

or treatment outwith core commissioned services, either for NHS or non-NHS providers 
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where a service level agreement or contract does not exist. The Governing Body has 

previously approved and keeps under review the terms of reference for the Funding Panel. 

Joint Committees 

Sustainability and Transformation Programme (STP) Joint Committee  

The STP Joint Committee of Clinical Commissioning Groups (hereafter referred to as the 

Joint Committee) is a joint committee of: NHS Darlington CCG, NHS Durham Dales, 

Easington and Sedgefield CCG, NHS Hambleton, Richmondshire and Whitby CCG, NHS 

Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG and NHS South Tees CCG with the primary purpose 

of arranging formal public consultation in relation to service reconfiguration. 

The Joint Committee’s primary purpose is to arrange and undertake the formal public 

consultation and then make decisions on the issues relating to reconfiguration.  During the 

year 2017/18, the Joint Committee met on 3 occasions and has considered the following 

issues:   

 Ratification of the Draft Consultation Plan and 

 Ratification of the Scope and the Decision Making Process. 

The role of the Joint Committee, therefore, shall be to carry out the functions relating to 

making decisions about future acute service configuration and service change, undertaking 

formal pubic consultation and making decisions on the issues that are the subject of the 

consultation in relation to the STP.  

Cumbria and the North East CCG Joint Committee 

During 2017/18, the CCG made arrangements via a change in its Constitution and Scheme 

of Delegation to enter into Joint Committee arrangements with other CCGs in the North 

East and Cumbria, these include: 

- NHS Darlington CCG 

- NHS Durham Dales, Easington & Sedgefield CCG 

- NHS Hambleton, Richmondshire & Whitby CCG 

- NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG 

- NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG 

- NHS North Cumbria CCG 

- NHS North Durham CCG 

- NHS Northumberland CCG 

- NHS North Tyneside CCG 

- NHS South Tees CCG 

- NHS South Tyneside CCG. 

The role of this Committee is to make decisions on subjects recommended to it by the 

Northern CCG Forum which will develop an annual work plan for the Joint Committee to be 

approved by each of the CCGs as part of the annual review of the Terms of Reference. 
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These will be confined to issues that pertain to all CCG areas in Cumbria and the North 

East, namely the commissioning of: 

 Specialist acute services 

 111 services. 

UK Corporate Governance Code 

Although NHS Bodies are not required to comply with the UK Code of Corporate 

Governance, the CCG takes a robust approach to its application of good governance 

principles and continuous improvement.  Throughout 2017/18, this has included carrying out 

post-meeting critiques of the Governing Body to ensure that immediate improvements can 

be made where feasible; dedicated development sessions held with the Governing Body as 

well as staff development days that have also incorporated elements of governance to 

ensure an embedded approach. 

The guidance contained within the Code enables assessment of Governing Body 

effectiveness against the criteria of: leadership, effectiveness, accountability, remuneration 

and relations with stakeholders.  There are numerous arrangements in place within the 

CCG’s assurance processes that capture performance and progress against these, for 

example the 360 Stakeholder Survey and the Improvement Assessment Framework carried 

out by NHS England. 

Discharge of Statutory Functions 

During establishment of the CCG, the arrangements put in place to govern the organisation 

were developed with extensive expert, external legal input to ensure compliance with all 

relevant legislation.  That legal advice also informed the matters reserved for the Council of 

Members and Governing Body decisions and scheme of delegation.  All subsequent 

changes to the Constitution or Scheme of Delegation have been confirmed as appropriate by 

NHS England. 

In light of recommendations of the 1983 Harris Review, the CCG has reviewed all of the 

statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as 

amended) and other associated legislative and regulations.  As a result, I can confirm that 

the clinical commissioning group is clear about the legislative requirements associated with 

each of the statutory functions for which it is responsible, including any restrictions on 

delegation of those functions. 

Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director.  

Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability and 

capacity to undertake all of the clinical commissioning group’s statutory duties.   

Risk management arrangements and effectiveness  

As we respond to new challenges and the continually changing demands of the local health 

economy, so does our system of risk management and internal control.   The risk 

management framework provides a number of ways in which we identify and mitigate risks. 
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We have an established corporate policy set which informs our knowledge, and guides our 

actions and behaviours. These policies ensure we conduct our business appropriately, 

comply with legal requirements and protect our patients and staff from avoidable harm.  

Our risk management strategy continues to be compliant with good practice and legislation 

and sets out our organisation wide approach to managing risk at all levels within the CCG. 

Our aims are: 

 to ensure that risks to the achievement of CCG’s’ objectives are understood and 

effectively managed 

 to maintain a risk management framework to assure the Governing Body that 

strategic and operational risks are being effectively managed 

 to ensure that risk management is a cohesive element of the internal control 

systems within the CCG’s  corporate governance framework 

 to ensure that risk management is an integral part of the CCG culture and its 

operating systems 

 to ensure that the CCG meets its statutory obligations including those relating to 

health and safety and data protection 

 to assure all stakeholders, staff and partner organisations that the CCG is 

committed to managing risk appropriately. 

Capacity to handle risk 

Strong leadership and an effective governance structure are vital elements of the CCG’s 

capacity to handling risk.  The governance arrangements as outlined above meet the 

requirements of best practice guidance in respect of risk management and ensure that a 

strong accountability framework has been established and is maintained. 

The CCG has clear lines of accountability with defined responsibilities and objectives relating 

to all aspects of risk reporting and management.  The Accountable Officer has overall 

responsibility for ensuring the implementation of an effective risk management strategy, 

systems and controls.  Each of the CCG’s directors is responsible for the management of 

strategic and operational risk in their specific areas, including ensuring that all risks are 

assessed appropriately, in a timely manner and actions are taken to mitigate against the risk. 

Our risk appetite has been discussed by the senior managers of the CCG and agreed by the 

Governing Body.  As with all organisations, there is a level of risk inherent within healthcare 

commissioning. Risks that are regarded as normal business are managed at an operational 

level and are not escalated onto the Strategic Risk Register unless it is considered that the 

risk could adversely impact upon the CCG’s ability to deliver its strategic aims and statutory 

duties.   If the CCG’s assessment of a risk indicates that it is becoming more likely to have a 
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significant impact, then it is also included on the CCG’s Assurance Framework that is 

considered by the Governing Body. 

 

Risk Assessment and review 

Risk is identified in accordance with the CCG’s Risk Management Strategy and risk 

management is embedded in the organisation via a number of mechanisms. Risk 

identification is undertaken in a number of ways, through horizon scanning by the executive 

team, through identification by sub-committees of the Governing Body, through identification 

and escalation by individual executive directors and also by the Governing Body.  The 

assessment is carried out using the CCG’s risk assessment guidance that is based on 

current national guidance. 

There is an established process in place within the CCG that includes the review of the risk 

register and the assessment of the effectiveness of the identified controls.  

Corporate risks are reviewed at four levels within the CCG. The first level is during the day-

to-day operations of the CCG, where our staff work within the policies of the CCG. Risks are 

identified within departments and the CCG management team. Our Corporate Governance & 

Risk Officer liaises with all risk owners to discuss and assess risks at this level. 

The second level is a full review of the risk register with the CCG’s Executive Committee.   

This review allows GPs, senior CCG officers and some members of the CSU the opportunity 

to consider the range and severity of the risks the CCG is assessing. This is an important 

step in the consideration of risks as it gives the opportunity for a broader discussion on the 

risks, controls and actions as well as a form of peer review to highlight related risks or impact 

on other areas. 

The third level is the corporate oversight provided by the Audit and Risk Committee. This 

committee reviews the CCG’s risk register and Assurance Framework at each meeting, 

validating the scoring identified and seeking further assurances if required. 

The fourth level of review is at the Governing Body where the Governing Body Assurance 

Framework is considered at most meetings. Risks with a residual score of 15 are 

automatically included in the Assurance Framework. 

Furthermore, the incident reporting system identifies the risks that have already (or nearly) 

occurred from incidents or near misses. Our strategic planning system ensures that all 

organisational objectives are rated for risks to achievement of delivery; and our performance 

management system rates all objectives for risk to delivery. In addition, all Governing Body 

reports are assessed for equality impact and all reports are assessed to provide evidence of 

assurance for the Assurance Framework and/or mitigate risk included on the CCG’s Risk 

Register. 

As at the end of the year, the CCG was actively managing 18 corporate risks. All of these 

risks have key controls identified against them and also the delivery of both external and 
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internal assurance regarding these risks. They also include mitigating actions where 

appropriate and are subject to an action plan.   

None of the risks have been assessed as impacting upon the CCG’s licence or governance, 

risk management and internal control processes. 

Principal risks 

The table below gives an overview of the risks that the Governing Body consider to be the 

most significant (at 31/3/2018) and gives some examples of the actions that have been 

taken to mitigate against them.   

Principal Risks Key actions and controls 

If the CCG is unable to deliver its QIPP 

agenda, there is a risk of non-delivery of the 

financial position including the 1% surplus 

business rules. 

 Financial plan in place 

 Financial Recovery Plan and monitoring 

regime in place 

 Bi-monthly monitoring of the financial 

position at the QPF Committee 

 Finance sub-committee in place 

 NECS provision of financial services to 

the CCG 

 Ongoing monitoring of overall financial 

position on a monthly basis 

 Contingency reserve in place 

 Bi-monthly monitoring of financial 

position by Governing Body 

 Revised Financial Governance 

Arrangements 

 GP Variation Process 

 

Other sources of assurance  

Internal Control Framework 

A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the CCG to 

ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives.  It is designed to identify and prioritise the 

risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be 

realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. 

The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than 

eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of 

effectiveness.  The system of internal control has been in place in the CCG for the year 

ended 31 March 2018 and up to the date of the approval of the Annual Report and 

Accounts. 
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Internal control is driven by our policies and procedures and embedded in our programme of 

mandatory staff training.  

A significant feature of our organisational structure continues to be the large proportion of 

the administrative function of the CCG that is provided via a contract with a commissioning 

support unit (North of England Commissioning Support). Our policies and procedures are 

designed to reflect this organisational arrangement, as well as the service level agreement 

with the North of England Commissioning Support unit containing performance metrics 

relevant to their performance of this role. The commissioning support unit works with NHS 

Shared Business Services who provide the transaction processing services and financial 

ledger facilities for NHS England and all CCGs. 

We work closely with the commissioning support unit to ensure tight budgetary control, 

where we gain a good understanding of debtors and creditors to facilitate accurate cash-flow 

forecasting and to ensure the NHS Shared Business Services financial ledger is accurate to 

enable NHS England to carry out their reporting requirements. We achieve this through 

regular dialogue between the CSU and the CCG’s CFO, monthly reconciliation sign off 

controls by the CCG and the production of clear, concise and accurate reporting. 

In addition, we work with NHS England primary care financial team in relation to primary 

care financial transactions.  We receive reports on this on a monthly basis. 

We contract with other support service providers and their sub-contractors. The CCG’s 

payroll services are provided by Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust using the 

electronic staff record service provided by McKesson UK. 

These support services commission service auditor reports that are available to their clients’ 

auditors to assess internal control risk for the purposes of planning and executing their 

financial audit.  The CCG itself continually reviews its financial performance and is subject to 

monthly reviews of its ledgers by NHS England.  

Annual audit of conflicts of interest management  

The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs (published June 

2016) requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of conflicts of interest 

management. To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS England has published a 

template audit framework.  

The audit of conflicts of interest management has been undertaken during the year by the 

CCG’s internal auditors (AuditOne) in line with the published audit framework.  The following 

issues were in the scope of the audit and a ‘good’ level of assurance has been indicated: 

• Governance arrangements, including that: policies/procedures comply with legal 

requirements and statutory guidance; appropriate number of lay members and a conflict of 

interest guardian is/are appointed; and required training has been provided;  

• Declarations of interests and gifts and hospitality, including that: declarations are 

being made and recorded in accordance with legal requirements and statutory guidance;  



 

108 
 

• Registers of interests, gifts and hospitality and procurement decisions, including that: 

each of these registers are maintained and published in accordance with legal requirements 

and statutory guidance; 

• Decision making processes and contract monitoring, including that: there are 

mechanisms for the management of conflicts within meetings, when making procurement 

decisions and in relation to contract management;  

• Reporting concerns and identifying and managing breaches/ non-compliance, 

including that: processes are in place for managing breaches and for the publications of 

anonymised details of breaches on the CCG’s website.  

Recommendations made by the Auditors are minor and relate to occasional instances of 

forms not being fully completed and an instance of non-publication of public Primary Care 

Committee papers.  There were no control issues that were considered by the Auditors as 

high risk. 

Data Quality 

The CCG has an approved Data Quality Policy which clearly defines data and explains data 

standards and the importance of data validation.  Assurance on the quality of data is 

provided through the data quality procedures and policies put in place including NHS 

number compliance, pseudonymisation, compliance with new ISNs, Reference Cost Audits, 

Information Governance Toolkit data quality requirements. Data Quality requirements are 

also built into contract with providers and within the SLA in place with NECS. Any data 

provided to the Governing Body is verified by directors’ responsible for those areas before it 

is formally presented. 

We rely on a significant number of data and information flows. These include: 

 Activity information from providers 

 submissions into the NHS Secondary Uses Service. 

 Performance and quality information directly received from providers. 

 Financial information managed within the national Integrated Single Financial 

Environment. 

 National performance and quality measurement systems. 

 Right Care information packs 

These systems are reviewed by our internal and external auditors as part of their routine 

work. Additional scrutiny comes from NHS England as part of their assurance process. The 

Governing Body and its committees are satisfied these systems are sufficiently robust and 

can be relied upon. 

Information Governance - Management of risks related to data security 

In common with other NHS organisations the CCG uses the NHS Information Governance 

Framework. This defines the processes and procedures by which the NHS handles 
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information about patients and employees, in particular personal identifiable information.   

The NHS Information Governance Framework is supported by an Information Governance 

Toolkit and the annual submission process provides assurances to the CCG, other 

organisations and to individuals that personal information is dealt with legally, securely, 

efficiently and effectively. 

Our Governing Body delegates the monitoring of information governance to the Audit and 

Risk Committee.   Dr Kai Sander is the Caldicott Guardian and Mr Graeme Niven is the 

Senior Information Risk Owner. 

We place high importance on ensuring that there are robust information governance systems 

and processes in place to help protect information.  We have an Information Governance 

Framework in place comprising an approved strategy and a set of approved policies and 

procedures in line with the Information Governance Toolkit.   

We ensure that all staff undertake annual data security awareness training and have 

reviewed our staff information governance handbook to ensure that staff are aware of their 

information governance roles and responsibilities.  We have embedded a programme of  

‘spot checks’ and confidentiality questionnaires so we can understand staff’s understanding 

of key IG issues and provide support, advice and additional training as required.  This 

approach has resulted in the production of fact sheets, one-to-one coaching and focussed 

attention to specific areas where required. 

We use NHS Digital’s ‘Checklist for Reporting, Managing and Investigating Information 

Governance and Cyber Security Serious Untoward Incidents Requiring Investigation’.  We 

use a suite of policies to mitigate data security breaches including, Information Governance 

Risk Policy, Information Access Policy, Information Security Policy and Acceptable Use of 

Email and Internet Policy. 

There is a process for incident reporting and investigation of serious incidents. The process 

outlines the scope of responsibilities and details the reporting procedures to be used in the 

event of a data security breach. We are continuing to review and develop information risk 

assessment and management procedures and we continue to further instil an information 

risk culture throughout the organisation. 

The Information Governance Toolkit is provided by NHS Digital to monitor progress on 

Information Governance in the NHS.  The CCG has published its Information Governance 

Toolkit and has been self-assessed as being 78% compliant (an increase from 74% in 

2016/17), which confirms our organisation’s rating as overall ‘satisfactory’ in this regard. This 

compliance level demonstrates a continued improvement since the CCG was established.  

We have worked closely with the CSU during 2017/18 to gain assurances that robust 

processes are in place in all areas where the CSU handles personal identifiable data on 

behalf of the CCG.   

Our internal audit plan for 2017/18 included an audit of the IG Toolkit self-assessment to 

provide assurance that the process for determining scores against individual requirements 

was adequate and no significant areas of concern were raised.   
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There have been no reportable information governance breaches in year 2017/18.  

Our contracts for the health care services with hospital trusts and other providers use the 

NHS Standard Contract. This contract requires them to achieve level 2 of the NHS 

Information Governance Toolkit standards ensuring satisfactory levels of data quality and 

data protection.  

The CCG complies with its statutory duty to respond to requests for information. During the 

year, the CCG received 247 requests for information under the Freedom of Information Act 

2000 and 2 requests for information under the Data Protection Act 1998. 

Health and Safety 

The CCG has legal obligations under the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 and 

subsequent regulations to ensure the health, safety and welfare of our employees and those 

visiting our premises.  To ensure compliance with health and safety, fire and security we 

have a Health & Safety Strategy, which sets out our framework for health and safety within 

the organisation including annual health and safety audits to ensure compliance with all 

relevant legislation and policies and procedures that are in place and detail organisational 

and individual responsibilities.  The CCG is compliant with legal and statutory obligations 

under the current regulations.   

Business Critical Models 

The Commissioning Support Unit delivers a range of business critical models that are used 

by the CCG.  The services provided by the CSU are:  

 Service Planning 

 Service Reform 

 Procurement and Market Management 

 Provider Management 

 Joint Commissioning  

 Continuing Healthcare  

 Medicines Optimisation  

 Clinical Quality 

 Governance including Risk Management and Incident Reporting 

 Research and Development  

 Commissioning Finance 

 Financial Control 

 Financial Accounting  

 Business Information Services  

 Business Information Services Information Communication Technology (ICT) 

 Human Resources  

 Organisation Development  

 Communications and Engagement. 
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The CCG has received assurance that an appropriate framework and environment is in 

place to provide quality assurance of business critical models, in line with the 

recommendations in the Macpherson report. Further assurance has been given that all 

business critical models have been identified and that information about quality assurance 

processes for those models has been provided to the Analytical Oversight Committee, 

chaired by the Chief Analyst in the Department of Health. 

Third party assurances 

Many of the CCG’s support services in Finance and Human Resources are outsourced to 

the North of England Commissioning Support Unit (NECS), hosted by NHS 

England.  Assurance is provided by NHS England’s internal auditors, Deloitte LLP, via two 

ISAE 3402 Type II reports.  The two reports cover a combined period of 1 March 2017 to 31 

March 2018.  The mandated National Payroll and Finance systems operated by NHS Shared 

Business Services underpin these functions and are also subject to annual independent 

audit under the same international standard. In addition, the CCG’s internal auditors have 

undertaken a review of whole system, processes and controls in Continuing Healthcare 

Clinical and administration systems, with significant input from NECS in to a Report issued in 

March 2018, and NECS is collaborating with the CCG on the implementation of relevant 

recommendations. 

Control Issues 

No significant control issues have been identified during the year requiring disclosure within 

this governance statement. 

Review of economy, efficiency & effectiveness of the use of resources 

The CCG has well developed systems and processes in place for managing its resources. 

The Quality, Performance and Finance Committee and Finance Sub-Committee have 

continuously monitored the financial position of the CCG throughout the year and highlighted 

risks to the Governing Body regarding the effective and efficient use of resources. 

The Governing Body approved the CCG’s financial plans for 2017/18 and has received an 

updated financial position at each of their Governing Body meetings. This includes the 

opportunity to ask questions of the Executive relating to assurance of the delivery of the 

CCG’s financial objectives.  They have also actively sought assurance from the Quality, 

Performance and Finance Committee as well as from the Audit and Risk Committee via 

internal and external audit reports that the CCG is ensuring value for money in the use of its 

resources.  

As part of the planning process, a range of benchmarking tools are used including the 

commissioning for value packs and CCG outcomes benchmarking support packs published 

by NHS England.  These tools provide comparative information on the CCG’s spending and 

resulting outcomes, allowing the effectiveness of CCG spending to be assessed and 

incorporated into strategic plans and budgets.  This benchmarking is a key element for all 

commissioning processes to help determine value for money for new services and 

pathways. 
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Central management costs, known as the CCG’s running cost allowance was £6,333,000 for 

2017/18. The CCG operated within the running cost allowance during the year.  

For 2017/18 NHS Resolution Provisions Report identified that Hartlepool and Stockton-on-

Tees CCG have not received any clinical negligence claims. 

Internal Audit reports have been undertaken in relation to financial management 

arrangements and performance reporting to NHS England, and financial planning and 

budget setting. Significant assurance has been provided in relation to these areas.  

As part of their annual audit, the CCG’s external auditors are required to satisfy themselves 

that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness in the use of its resources. They do this by examining documentary evidence 

and through discussions with senior managers. Their audit work is made available to and 

reviewed by the Audit and Risk Committee. 

As part of the CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework (IAF) developed by NHS 

England, the quality of the CCG’s leadership is assessed. The quality of leadership indicator 

is one of the 50+ indicators in the IAF, assessing the quality of a CCG’s leadership, how 

CCGs work with partners and the governance arrangements that CCGs have in place to 

ensure they act with integrity. 

The CCG has self-assessed its final performance against the quality of leadership indicators 

for 2017/18 as green star (the top rating available).  Performance against this indicator is 

currently being assessed by NHSE and will be made available at www.nhs.uk/service-

search/scorecard/results/1175 .  The latest published available assessment of the CCG 

against the quality of leadership indicator relates to 2016/17 and is available on theMy NHS 

website.  

Delegation of functions 

This is covered under third party assurances section. 

Counter fraud arrangements 

The CCG adheres to NHS Protect Standards for Commissioners: Fraud, Bribery and 

Corruption.  A comprehensive counter fraud service, including an accredited Counter Fraud 

Specialist, is commissioned through our internal auditors (AuditOne) to undertake counter 

fraud work proportionate to identified risks.  A full assessment against the SRT was 

undertaken during March 2018 and reflected the more in-depth approach to counter fraud 

work that will become more embedded in the coming year.  

Counter fraud activity plays a key part in determining risks to the organisation’s financial 

viability and probity and an in-year review of AuditOne’s counter fraud service has resulted in 

a more in-depth approach to risk identification and assessment.  This will continue to 

develop over the coming year. 

http://www.nhs.uk/service-search/scorecard/results/1175
http://www.nhs.uk/service-search/scorecard/results/1175
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The CCG Audit and Risk Committee receive a report against each of the Standards for 

Commissioners on annual basis as part of the counter-fraud annual report. 

The CCG’s Chief Finance Officer continues to be the executive lead for counter-fraud 

matters. Any issue relating to tackling fraud, bribery and corruption is supported by the Chief 

Finance Officer who in accordance with the Counter-Fraud policy would reported such 

incidents to the Audit and Risk Committee.  

Head of Internal Audit Opinion  

Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the clinical 

commissioning group, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective 

opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning group’s system of 

risk management, governance and internal control.  

The purpose of my annual Head of Internal Audit Opinion is to contribute to the assurances 

available to the Accountable Officer and the Governing Body which underpins the 

organisation’s own assessment of the effectiveness of the system of internal control. This 

Opinion will in turn assist in the completion of the Annual Governance Statement. 

Overall Opinion 

 

 

 

 

 

Basis of the Opinion  

The basis for forming my opinion is as follows: 

1. An assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning Assurance 

Framework and supporting processes for governance and the management of risk; 

2. An assessment of the range of individual opinions arising from audit assignments, 

contained within risk-based plans that have been reported throughout the year. This 

assessment has taken account of the relative materiality of these areas and 

management’s progress in respect of addressing control weaknesses; 

3. Brought forward Internal Audit assurances; 

4. An assessment of the organisation’s response to Internal Audit recommendations; 

and 

5. Consideration of significant factors outside the work of Internal Audit. 

 

 

Commentary 

The below commentary provides the context for my opinion and together with the opinion 

should be read in its entirety. 

From my review of your systems of internal control, I am providing good 

assurance that the system of internal control has been designed to meet the 

organisation’s objectives, and that controls are generally being consistently 

applied.  
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Opinion Area 

 

Commentary 

Design and operation 
of the Assurance 
Framework and 
supporting processes 

The Business Assurance Framework has been updated for 
2017/18 and presented to both the Audit and Risk Committee and 
the Governing Body throughout the year.  
 
Our review of the CCG’s governance and risk management 
arrangements identified no issues of concern and was assigned 
‘good assurance’.  On this basis we are content that the Board 
Assurance Framework provides a reasonable basis to support the 
CCG’s Annual Governance Statement. 

Outturn of Internal 
Audit Plan 
 
 

During the year 2017/18 we have undertaken our work in 
accordance with the Internal Audit annual plan.  A table of 
individual opinions arising from audit assignments reported 
throughout the year is contained below.  We have reported our 
findings to the Chief Finance Officer and Chief Officer (and other 
Executive colleagues where applicable).  Our progress reports to 
the Audit and Risk Committee set out the areas covered by internal 
audit work during the year, our results and matters arising. 
 
All reports issued during the year (where an assurance level has 
been given) have been assigned an assurance level of substantial 
or good. No significant issues have been identified.  The CGG 
should review our findings in order to satisfy itself that any 
significant control issues have been recognised and appropriately 
disclosed in its Annual Governance Statement. 
 
At the time of compiling this report two audits are in progress and 
where the audit fieldwork has been satisfactorily completed they 
have been considered as part of the Head of Internal Audit 
Opinion. 
 
By way of commentary, it should also be noted that there have 
been no ‘limited assurance’ final reports issued for 2017/18. 

Brought forward 
Internal Audit 
assurances 

A ‘good assurance’ Head of Internal Audit Opinion was given for 
the year ended 31 March 2017; and there are no material 
outstanding matters brought forward that will impact on the Head of 
Internal Audit Opinion for 2017/18.  

Response to Internal 
Audit 
recommendations 
 
 

There is a formal process in place to follow up on outstanding 
actions to address issues identified in internal audit reports. 
Progress against outstanding actions is reported in regular 
progress reports to the Audit and Risk Committee, with specific 
attention drawn to any actions where the target date has been 
deferred, or where no update has been received from officers 
within the CCG.  There are no significant outstanding issues that 
impact upon the overall opinion. 

Significant factors 
outside the work of 
internal audit 
 
 

Whilst the Head of Internal Audit Opinion provides the CCG with 
assurances in relation to the areas covered by the internal audit 
plan, it is only one of the sources of assurance available to the 
CCG.  As the CCG outsources many of its functions, assurances 
from third parties are equally as important when the CCG is 
preparing its Annual Governance Statement.  Although we have 
reviewed the third party reports available, we have not taken 
account of these in providing our overall Head of Internal Audit 
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Opinion Area 

 

Commentary 

Opinion.  
 
It is for the CCG to decide if any of the weaknesses identified in the 
issued reports should be included within the CCG’s Annual 
Governance Statement, and that they provide the CCG with 
sufficient assurance that these key controls were operating 
throughout the year. 
 

 

During the year, Internal Audit issued the following audit reports:  

Area of Audit Level of Assurance Given  

Financial Planning & Budget Setting Good Assurance 

Governance & Risk Management Good Assurance 

Financial Management & Performance 

Reporting 

Substantial Assurance 

Conflicts of Interest  Good Assurance 

Information Governance Toolkit N/A – no assurance level assigned 

Performance Management of Contracts and 

Quality of Commissioned Services  

Good Assurance 

Review of the effectiveness of governance, risk management and internal control 

My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of the 

internal auditors, executive managers and clinical leads within the clinical commissioning 

group who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control 

framework. I have drawn on performance information available to me. My review is also 

informed by comments made by the external auditors in their annual audit letter and other 

reports.  

Our assurance framework provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that 

manage risks to the clinical commissioning group achieving its principles objectives have 

been reviewed.  

I have been advised on the implications of the result of this review by:  

 The Governing Body 

 The Audit and Risk Committee 
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 The Quality, Performance & Risk Committee 

 Internal audit. 

The corporate management team also make a significant contribution to the overall 

effectiveness of the system. [Each director and senior executive has provided an annual 

assurance statement which describes any significant issues and confirms the work 

undertaken to manage risk and comply with duties. Furthermore, it has enabled me as 

Accountable Officer to gain on-going assurance regarding compliance with statutory duties 

and risk].   

The CCG commission and receive support from a number of systems and from a number of 

organisations.  The CCG can seek assurance via a Service Auditor Report, and/or seeking 

internal audit assurance and/or placing its own internal controls. During the year, the Audit 

and Risk Committee has reviewed these risks and have provided assurance that systems 

are in place to minimise the risks and I have placed reliance on them to form this Annual 

Governance Statement.  

 SUS  

 NECS System  

 Payroll   

 Prescribing Spend  

 ESR  

 Procurement and Creditor Payments  

 General Ledger. 

My review for 2017/18 is also informed by: 

 Regular executive reporting to my Executive Committee (senior executive meeting) 

and to the Governing Body and escalation processes through the Audit and Risk 

Committee. 

 Third Party Assurance provided for the functions carried out on behalf of the CCG.  

 NHS England Assurance processes. 
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Conclusion  

My review confirms that NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG has a sound system of 

internal control that supports the achievement of its policies, aims and objectives. Where 

weaknesses have been identified, actions have been put in place for 2017/18. 

 

 

Ali Wilson 

Accountable Officer 

29 May 2018 
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Remuneration and Staff Report  

Remuneration Report   

Remuneration Committee 

The Remuneration Committee was established to advise/recommend to the Governing Body 

the appropriate remuneration and terms of service for the Chief Officer and other staff paid 

through the Very Senior Manager Pay Framework. The committee also 

advises/recommends to the Governing Body remuneration for the role of Chair, 

remuneration and terms of service of Governing Body clinical representatives and any 

independent lay members and reviews any business cases for early retirement and 

redundancy. 

 

The Remuneration Committee is established in accordance with the CCG’s constitution, 

standing orders and scheme of delegation. The committee is made up as follows:  

 

• Hilary Thompson, Lay Member (Patient and Public Involvement) - Chair of Remuneration 

Committee  

• John Flook, Lay Member (Audit and Governance)   

• Dr Boleslaw Posmyk, Chair of the Governing Body  

• Dr Charles Stanley, Governing Body Secondary Care Consultant  

 

The Chief Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Human Resources Advisor have provided 

advice and guidance to the committee in relation to pay rates and terms and conditions for 

its clinical members, although they were specifically excluded from discussions in relation to 

their own pay rates and terms and conditions.  

Policy on the remuneration of senior managers  

The remuneration for senior managers for current and future financial years is determined in 

accordance with relevant guidance, best practice and national policy.  

 

Continuation of employment for all senior managers is subject to satisfactory performance. 
Performance in post and progress in achieving set objectives is reviewed annually. There 
were no individual performance review payments made to any senior managers during the 
year and there are no plans to make such payments in future years. This is in accordance 
with standard NHS terms and conditions of service and guidance issued by the Department 
of Health and Social Care. 
  
Contracts of employment in relation to the majority of senior managers employed by the 
CCG are permanent in nature and subject to between three and six months’ notice of 
termination by either party. The GP Clinical Leads, practice manager and practice nurse 
representatives are employed on a fixed term of 24 months.  
 
Termination payments are limited to those laid down in statute and those provided for within 

NHS terms and conditions of service and under the NHS Pension Scheme Regulations for 

those who are members of the scheme. No awards have been made during the year to past 

senior managers. 
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For the purpose of this remuneration report, the CCG has considered the definition of ‘senior 
managers’ within the 2017/18 CCG Annual Reporting Guidance and the Government 

Financial Reporting Manual and considers that the Governing Body members represent 
the senior managers of the CCG.  
 
Details of the relevant salaries and allowances for all of the senior managers of the CCG 

can be found in the tables below, both for 2017/18 and also relevant comparative figures 

for 2016/17. 

 

Remuneration of Very Senior Managers 

There are no senior managers paid more than £150,000 per annum.
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Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG Senior Officers Salaries and allowances – 2017/18 (subject to audit): 

Name  Title 2017/18 

    

Salary & 
Fees 

(bands of 
£5000) 

 
£000 

Expense 
payments 

(taxable  to 
nearest £00) 

 
£00 

 
Performance 

Pay and 
Bonuses 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

 
£000 

Long-term 
Performance 

Pay and 
Bonuses 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

 
£000 

 
All Pension 

Related 
Benefits 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

 
£000 

 
 
 

Total 
(bands of 

£5,000) 
 

£000 

Ali Wilson Chief Officer 50-55 8 - - - 50-55 

Dr Boleslaw 
Posmyk 

Chair of Governing Body 45-50 - - - - 45-50 

Dr Charles 
Stanley 

Governing Body Member, 
Secondary Care Doctor 

10-15 - - - - 10-15 

Graeme Niven Chief Finance Officer 70-75 57 - - 15-17.5 95-100 

Hilary Thompson 
Governing Body Lay Member 
(Patient and Public Involvement) 

10-15 - - - - 10-15 

Dr Nick Timlin 
GP Governing Body Member 
Hartlepool Locality Lead  

25-30 - - - 2.5-5 30-35 

Dr Adam Hassan 
GP Governing Body Member 
Stockton-on-Tees Locality Lead 

25-30 - - - - 25-30 

John Flook 
Governing Body Lay Member 
(Audit and Governance) 

5-10 - - - - 5-10 

Andie Mackay Governing Body Lay Member 5-10 - - - - 5-10 

Jean Golightly Director of Nursing and Quality 45-50 - - - 32.5-35 75-80 

Dr David Hodges Governing Body GP Member 5-10 - - - 0-2.5 5-10 

Dr Salvi Patel Governing Body GP Member 0-5 - - - 0 0-5 

Lisa Tempest 
Director of Planning, Performance 
& Assurance 

70-75 - - - 20-22.5 90-95 

Karen Hawkins 
Director of Commissioning  & 
Transformation 

70-75 - - - 62.5-65 135-140 

Dr Andrea Jones Chief Clinical Officer 20-25 - - - 15-17.5 35-40 

Diane Murphy Director of Nursing and Quality 10-15 - - - - 10-15 



 

121 
 

Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG Senior Officers Salaries and allowances – 2016/17 (subject to audit): 

Name  Title 2016/17 

    

Salary & 
Fees 

(bands of 
£5000) 

 
£000 

Expense 
payments 

(taxable  to 
nearest £00) 

 
£00 

 
Performance 

Pay and 
Bonuses 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

 
£000 

Long-term 
Performance 

Pay and 
Bonuses 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

 
£000 

 
All Pension 

Related 
Benefits 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

 
£000 

 
 
 

Total 
(bands of 

£5,000) 
 

£000 

Ali Wilson Chief Officer 60-65 13 - - - 60-65 

Dr Boleslaw 
Posmyk 

Chair of Governing Body 55-60 - - - 5-7.5 60-65 

Dr Charles 
Stanley 

Governing Body Member, 
Secondary Care Doctor 

10-15 - - - - 10-15 

Graeme Niven Chief Finance Officer 90-95 68 - - 45-47.5 145-150 

Hilary Thompson 
Governing Body Lay Member 
(Patient and Public Involvement) 

10-15 - - - - 10-15 

Dr Nick Timlin 
GP Governing Body Member 
Hartlepool Locality Lead  

20-25 - - - 0-2.5 25-30 

Dr Paul Williams 
(up until 30th April 
2016) 

GP Governing Body Member 
Stockton-on-Tees Locality Lead 

0-5 - - - - 0-5 

Dr Adam Hassan 
(from 1st June 
2016) 

GP Governing Body Member 
Stockton-on-Tees Locality Lead 

20-25 - - - - 20-25 

Steve Smith 
(up until 31st May 
2016) 

Governing Body Lay Member 
(Audit and Governance) 

0-5 - - - - 0-5 

John Flook 
(from 1st August 
2016) 

Governing Body Lay Member 
(Audit and Governance) 

0-5 - - - - 0-5 

Andie Mackay Governing Body Lay Member 0-5 - - - - 0-5 

Jean Golightly Director of Nursing and Quality 40-45 - - - 30-32.5 75-80 

Dr David Hodges Governing Body GP Member 0-5 - - - 0-2.5 5-10 

Dr Salvi Patel Governing Body GP Member 5-10 - - - - 5-10 



 

122 
 

Lisa Tempest 
Director of Planning, Performance 
& Assurance 

15-20 - - - 25-27.5 40-45 

Karen Hawkins 
Director of Commissioning  & 
Transformation 

75-80 - - - 55-57.5 125-130 

 
Notes: 
 
The taxable benefits included in the tables above all relate to lease car benefits.  
 
No performance related benefits have been agreed for any senior officers.  
 
All pension related benefits disclosed in this report relate to ‘officer employment’ only, i.e. for any general practitioners, the 
figures exclude any benefits derived from practitioner employment.  
 
Following a review of off-payroll arrangements in previous years, all senior officer remuneration is now provided through the 
CCG’s payroll, including all remuneration disclosed in the tables above for 2017/18 and 2016/17. 
 
The following senior officers are not employed by the CCG and receive no remuneration from the CCG for their role as Governing 
Body members: 
 
Dr Paul Edmondson - Interim Director of Public Health Hartlepool 
Sarah Bowman-Abouna - Director of Public Health Stockton 

 
Staff Sharing – South Tees CCG 
 
The following Senior Officer is employed by Hartlepool and Stockton CCG but also works for South Tees CCG as part of a 50/50 
staff sharing arrangement. The salary disclosed above shows the Hartlepool and Stockton CCG share of remuneration. Their banded 
total remuneration in the financial year 2017/18 was £90,000 to £95,000. 
 
Jean Golightly – Director of Nursing and Quality 

 
Staff Sharing – Darlington CCG 
 
The following Senior Officer is employed by Hartlepool and Stockton-on Tees CCG but has also works for Darlington CCG  as Chief 
Officer as part of a 50/50 staff sharing arrangement. Part way through the year their working hours reduced. 
 
Ali Wilson – Chief Officer 
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The following Senior Officers have worked across Hartlepool and Stockton-on Tees CCG and Darlington CCG as part of a joint 
management structure.  
 
Graeme Niven - Chief Finance Officer 
Lisa Tempest - Director of Planning, Performance & Assurance 
Karen Hawkins - Director of Commissioning & Transformation 
 
The following Senior Officer is employed by Darlington CCG but has worked for Hartlepool and Stockton-on Tees CCG in a joint role 
from 1st October 2017 as part of a 50/50 staff sharing arrangement. 
 
Dr Andrea Jones – Chief Clinical Officer 
 
The following Senior Officers are employed by Darlington CCG but have worked for Hartlepool and Stockton-on Tees CCG in a joint 
role as part of a 50/50 staff sharing arrangement. 
 
John Flook - Governing Body Lay Member (Audit and Governance) 
Andie Mackay – Governing Body Lay Member 
 
The tables above show the Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG share of all the above staff sharing arrangements with Darlington 
CCG. The following table shows total remuneration across the two CCG's: 

 
Name  Title 2017/18 

    

Salary & 
Fees 

(bands of 
£5000) 

 
£000 

Expense 
payments 

(taxable  to 
nearest £00) 

 
£00 

 
Performance 

Pay and 
Bonuses 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

 
£000 

Long-term 
Performance 

Pay and 
Bonuses 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

 
£000 

 
All Pension 

Related 
Benefits 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

 
£000 

 
 
 

Total 
(bands of 

£5,000) 
 

£000 

Ali Wilson Chief Officer 105-110 16 - - - 110-115 

Graeme Niven Chief Finance Officer 95-100 76 - - 15-17.5 120-125 

John Flook 
Governing Body Lay Member 
(Audit and Governance) 

10-15 - - - - 10-15 

Andie Mackay Governing Body Lay Member 10-15 - - - - 10-15 

Lisa Tempest 
Director of Planning, Performance 
& Assurance 

90-95 - - - 20-22.5 115-120 
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Karen Hawkins 
Director of Commissioning  & 
Transformation 

90-95 - - - 62.5-65 155-160 

Dr Andrea Jones Chief Clinical Officer 45-50 - - - 15-20 60-65 

Diane Murphy Director of Nursing and Quality 55-60 - - - - 55-60 

 

Pay multiples  

Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest-paid director in their organisation 
and the median remuneration of the organisation's workforce. 
 
The banded total remuneration of the highest paid director in the CCG in the financial year 2017/18 was £70-£75k (2016/17: £90-
£95k), a reduction due to the full year effect of joint management arrangements with Darlington CCG. This was 1.39 times (2016/17: 
1.85 times) the median remuneration of the workforce, which was £53,818 (2016/17: £50,467). 
 
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay and benefits-in-kind, but not severance payments.  It 
does not include employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.  2017/18 values have been 
calculated after annualising the Governing Body members. 
 
Revised Pay Multiples (excluding Lay Members and Non-Executive GPs) 
 

  
 

2017/18 2016/17 

   
 Band of Highest Paid Director's Total Remuneration (£'000) 70-75 90-95 

    

Median Total Remuneration (£) 53,818 50,467 

    

Ratio 1.39 1.85 

   
  

The Median Total Remuneration has reduced by £3,351 between 2016/17 and 2017/18 when all pay information is considered.  

 

The ratio change for 2016/17 to 2017/18 is a reduction of 0.46. This ratio has altered for the following reasons 

 The change of band of highest paid director as noted above 
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 adjustment to the number or composition of the general workforce – partly in relation to the full year effect of the shared 

management arrangements with Darlington CCG  

 Agenda for Change terms and conditions staff subject to a 1% pay award.  
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Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG Senior Officers Pension Benefits 2017/2018 (subject to audit): 

Name and Title Real increase / 
(reduction) in 

pension at age 
60 (bands of 

£2500) 

 Real increase 
/ (reduction) in 
Pension Lump 
Sum at aged 
60 (bands of 

£2500)  

Total accrued 
pension at age 
60 at 31 March 
2018 (bands of 

£5000) 

Lump Sum at 
aged 60 

related to 
accrued 

pension at 31 
March 2018 
(bands of 

£5000) 

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer Value 
at  31 March 

2017 

Real increase 
in Cash 

Equivalent 
Transfer Value 

at 31 March 
2018 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

value at 31 
March 2018 

Employer’s 
contribution 

to 
stakeholder 

pension 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Ali Wilson 
Chief Officer 

-0-2.5 2.5-5 50-55 160-165 1,211 - -  

Dr Boleslaw Posmyk 
Chair of Governing Body 

- - - - - - -  

Dr Charles Stanley 
Governing Body Member 
Secondary Care Doctor 

- - - - - - -  

Graeme Niven 
Chief Finance Officer 

0-2.5 -0-2.5 40-45 110-115 737 58 795  

Hilary Thompson 
Governing Body Lay Member 
(Patient and Public 
Involvement) 

- - - - - - -  

Dr Nick Timlin 
GP Governing Body Member 
Hartlepool Locality Lead  

0-2.5 0-2.5 10-15 30-35 217 13 230  

Dr Adam Hassan Governing 
GP Governing Body Member 
Stockton-on-Tees Locality 
Lead 

- - - - - - -  

John Flook 
Governing Body Lay Member 
(Audit and Governance) 

- - - - - - -  
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Name and Title Real increase / 
(reduction) in 

pension at age 
60 (bands of 

£2500) 

 Real increase 
/ (reduction) in 
Pension Lump 
Sum at aged 
60 (bands of 

£2500)  

Total accrued 
pension at age 
60 at 31 March 
2018 (bands of 

£5000) 

Lump Sum at 
aged 60 

related to 
accrued 

pension at 31 
March 2018 
(bands of 

£5000) 

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer Value 
at  31 March 

2017 

Real increase 
in Cash 

Equivalent 
Transfer Value 

at 31 March 
2018 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

value at 31 
March 2018 

Employer’s 
contribution 

to 
stakeholder 

pension 

Andie Mackay 
Governing Body Lay Member 

- - - - - - -  

Jean Golightly 
Director of Nursing and Quality 

0-2.5 5-7.5 15-20 55-60 332 59 391  

Dr David Hodges 
Governing Body GP Member 

0-2.5 -0-2.5 0-5 0-5 5 1 6  

Dr Salvi Patel 
Governing Body GP Member 

-0-2.5 -0-2.5 0-5 0-5 5 -1 4  

Lisa Tempest  
Director of Planning, 
Performance & Assurance 

0-2.5 - 15-20 - 153 27 180  

Karen Hawkins 
Director of Commissioning  & 
Transformation 

2.5-5 5-7.5 15-20 40-45 215 50 265  

Dr Andrea Jones  
Chief Clinical Officer 

0-2.5 2.5-5 10-15 35-40 222 31 253  

Diane Murphy 
Director of Nursing and Quality 

- - - - - - -  

 

Cash equivalent transfer values  

A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a 

particular point in time. The benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or other allowable beneficiary’s) 

pension payable from the scheme. 
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A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when 

the member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures shown relate to the 

benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a senior 

capacity to which disclosure applies (in which case this fact will be noted at the foot of the table). 

The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the 

individual has transferred to the NHS pension scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of 

their purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework 

prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.  

Real increase in CETV 

This reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer. It does not include the increase in accrued pension due to inflation or 

contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement) and uses common 

market valuation factors for the start and end of the period. 

Compensation on early retirement of for loss of office 

No compensation on early retirement or for loss of office has been made during the year. 

Payments to past members 

No awards have been made during the year to past senior managers. 

 

 

Staff Report  

Number of senior managers 

There are six senior managers not under a pay band, three very senior managers and one senior manager under the Agenda for Change band 

9. There are also three lay members who are excluded. 
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No pay band VSM Agenda For Change Total 

6                       3 1 10* 

 

*Excludes lay members. 

Staff numbers and costs 

Details of staffing costs for the year and the average number of employees can be found in notes 3.1 and 3.2 of the financial statements 
respectively. 

Staff composition 

HAST - Gender makeup of the CCG:  

  
 

    Male Female 

Governing Body members including all 

very senior managers 
8 4 

CCG employees (excluding Governing 

Body Members) 
16 31 
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Sickness absence data 

The table below provides staff sickness absence data for the 12 months ended 31 December 2017 (with comparative figures for the 12 months 

to December 2016), showing the total number of full time equivalent (FTE) staff days lost to sickness absence and the total number of FTE 

years available, based on the total number of FTE staff members within the CCG.  This equates to an average number of days’ sickness per 

FTE member of staff of 7 (9 for the 12 months to 31 December 2016): 

  
2017 2016 

Number of days Number of days 

Total number of days lost to sickness absence 210 237 

Total staff years 30 26 

Average number of working days lost to 
sickness absence  

    

7 9 

 

Staff policies 

We can demonstrate fair and equitable recruitment, workforce engagement and employment terms and conditions to ensure levels of pay and 

related terms and conditions are fairly determined for all posts, with staff doing equal work, and work rated as of equal value, being entitled to 

equal pay. 

 

Two Tick Disability Symbol  

The CCG has successfully renewed its accreditation as a Two Tick Disability employer for 2016/17. The symbol, awarded by Jobcentre Plus, 

demonstrates our commitment to employ, retain and develop the abilities of disabled staff. As a Two Tick Disability Symbol employer we have 

displayed five commitments regarding recruitment, training, retention, consultation and disability awareness:  



 

131 
 

•To interview all disabled applicants who meet the minimum criteria for a job vacancy and to consider them on their abilities.  

•To discuss with disabled employees, at any time but at least once a year, what both parties can do to make sure disabled employees can 

develop and use their abilities.  

•To make every effort when employees become disabled to make sure they stay in employment.  

•To take action to ensure that all employees develop the appropriate level of disability awareness needed to make these commitments work.  

•To review these commitments each year and assess what has been achieved, plan ways to improve on them and let employees and 

Jobcentre Plus know about progress and future plans 

 

Expenditure on consultancy 

Details of expenditure on consultancy services can be found in note 4 of the financial statements, with expenditure on agency staff shown in 

note 3.1 of the financial statements.   

 

Off-payroll engagements  

Following a review of off-payroll engagements in previous years, all senior officers were transferred on to the CCG’s payroll and all senior 

officer remuneration for the year has been transacted through payroll.   

There have been no off-payroll engagements during the year of greater than £245 per day and lasting longer than 6 months. 
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Exit packages, including special (non-contractual) payments 

No exit packages have been agreed during the year, in 2016/17 £80k was included for exit packages as a result of the joint management 

restructure with Darlington CCG. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ali Wilson 
 
Accountable Officer 
 
29 May 2018
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Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report 

NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report. Disclosures on remote 

contingent liabilities, losses and special payments, gifts, and fees and charges are included as notes in the Financial Statements of this report 

at pages 139 to 155. An audit certificate and report is also included in this Annual Report at page 156. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Ali Wilson 
 
Accountable Officer 
 
29 May 2018
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NHS Hartlepool & Stockton-on-Tees CCG - Annual Accounts 2017/18

Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended

31 March 2018
2017/18 2016/17

Note £000 £000

Administration costs and programme expenditure

Gross employee benefits 3.1 1,623                1,316        

Other costs 4 448,406            441,247    

Other operating revenue 2 (302)                  (426)          

Net operating costs 449,727            442,137    

Investment revenue 7 -                        -                

Other (gains)/losses 8 -                        -                

Finance costs 9 -                        -                

Net operating costs for the financial year 449,727            442,137    

Of which:

Administration costs

Gross employee benefits 3.1 1,480                1,163        

Other costs 4 4,241                4,299        

Other operating revenue 2 -                        -                

Net administration costs 5,721                5,462        

Programme expenditure

Gross employee benefits 3.1 143                   153           

Other costs 4 444,165            436,948    

Other operating revenue 2 (302)                  (426)          

Net programme expenditure 444,006            436,675    

Total comprehensive net expenditure for the year 449,727            442,137    
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NHS Hartlepool & Stockton-on-Tees CCG - Annual Accounts 2017/18

Statement of Financial Position as at

31 March 2018
31 March 2018 31 March 2017

Note £000 £000

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 11 1,650                 1,598                

Cash and cash equivalents 12 166                    371                   

Total current assets 1,816                 1,969                

Total assets 1,816                 1,969                

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 13 (25,402)              (21,362)             

Provisions 14 -                     (3)                      
Total current liabilities (25,402)              (21,365)             

Total assets less total current liabilities (23,586)              (19,396)             

Financed by taxpayers’ equity

General fund (23,586)              (19,396)             

Total taxpayers' equity (23,586)              (19,396)             

The notes on pages 139 to 155 of the Annual Report form part of this statement.

Ali Wilson

Accountable Officer

29 May 2018

The financial statements on pages 135 to 155 of the Annual Report were approved and authorised for issue by the 

Governing Body on 22 May 2018 and signed on its behalf by:
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NHS Hartlepool & Stockton-on-Tees CCG - Annual Accounts 2017/18

Statement of Changes In Taxpayers' Equity for the year ended

31 March 2018

General fund

Total 

reserves

£000 £000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2017/18:

Balance at 1 April 2017 (19,396) (19,396)

Changes in CCG taxpayers’ equity for 2017/18

Net operating costs for the financial year (449,727) (449,727)

Net recognised CCG expenditure for the financial year (449,727) (449,727)

Net Parliamentary funding 445,537 445,537

Balance at 31 March 2018 (23,586) (23,586)

General fund

Total 

reserves

£000 £000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2016/17:

Balance at 1 April 2016 (19,969) (19,969)

Changes in CCG taxpayers’ equity for 2016/17

Net operating costs for the financial year (442,137) (442,137)

Net recognised CCG expenditure for the financial year (442,137) (442,137)

Net Parliamentary funding 442,710 442,710

Balance at 31 March 2017 (19,396) (19,396)
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NHS Hartlepool & Stockton-on-Tees CCG - Annual Accounts 2017/18

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended

31 March 2018
2017/18 2016/17

Note £000 £000

Cash flows from operating activities

Net operating costs for the financial year (449,727)        (442,137)        

(Increase) / decrease in trade and other receivables 11 (52)                 274                

Increase / (decrease) in trade and other payables 13 4,040             (420)               

(Decrease) in provisions 14 (3)                   (302)               

Net cash outflow from operating activities (445,742)        (442,585)        

Net cash outflow before financing (445,742)        (442,585)        

Cash flows from financing activities

Net funding received 445,537         442,710         

Net cash inflow from financing activities 445,537         442,710         

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents 12 (205)               125                

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 371                246                

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 166                371                
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NHS Hartlepool & Stockton-on-Tees CCG - Annual Accounts 2017/18

Notes to the financial statements

1 Accounting Policies

NHS England has directed that the financial statements of CCGs shall meet the accounting requirements of the  

Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. Consequently, the following 

financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Group Accounting Manual 2017/18 issued by the 

Department of Health and Social Care. The accounting policies contained in the Group Accounting Manual follow 

International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to CCGs, as 

determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board.  Where the Group 

Accounting Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most 

appropriate to the particular circumstances of the CCG for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been 

selected. The particular policies adopted by the CCG are described below. They have been applied consistently in 

dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.

1.1 Going Concern

These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis.

Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the 

future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.

Where a CCG ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same 

assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set 

of financial statements.  If services will continue to be provided, the financial statements are prepared on the going 

concern basis.

1.2 Accounting Convention

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of 

property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.3 Acquisitions and Discontinued Operations

Activities are considered to be ‘acquired’ only if they are taken on from outside the public sector. Activities are 

considered to be ‘discontinued’ only if they cease entirely. They are not considered to be ‘discontinued’ if they 

transfer from one public sector body to another.

1.4 Movement of Assets within the Department of Health and Social Care Group

Transfers as part of reorganisation are to be accounted for by use of absorption accounting in line with the 

Government Financial Reporting Manual, issued by HM Treasury. The Government Financial Reporting Manual 

does not require retrospective adoption, so prior year transactions (which have been accounted for under merger 

accounting) have not been restated. Absorption accounting requires that entities account for their transactions in 

the period in which they took place, with no restatement of performance required when functions transfer within the 

public sector.  Where assets and liabilities transfer, the gain or loss resulting is recognised in the Statement of 

Comprehensive Net Expenditure, and is disclosed separately from operating costs.

Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the Department of Health and Social Care Group are accounted for 

in line with IAS 20 and similarly give rise to income and expenditure entries.
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1. Accounting policies (continued)

1.5 Pooled Budgets

Where the CCG has entered into a pooled budget arrangement under Section 75 of the National Health Service Act 

2006, the CCG accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the activities of the 

pooled budget, identified in accordance with the pooled budget agreement.

If the CCG is in a “jointly controlled operation”, the CCG recognises:

                the assets the CCG controls;

                the liabilities the CCG incurs;

                the expenses the CCG incurs; and,

                the CCG’s share of the income from the pooled budget activities.

If the CCG is involved in a “jointly controlled assets” arrangement, in addition to the above, the CCG recognises:

                the CCG’s share of the jointly controlled assets (classified according to the nature of the assets);

                the CCG’s share of any liabilities incurred jointly; and,

                the CCG’s share of the expenses jointly incurred.

1.6 Critical Accounting Judgements and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the CCG’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and 

assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The 

estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be 

relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates, and the estimates and underlying assumptions are continually 

reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision 

affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 

periods.

1.6.1  Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management has 

made in the process of applying the CCG’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts 

recognised in the financial statements:

•  determining whether income and expenditure should be disclosed as either administrative or programme expenditure; 

•  determining whether a substantial transfer of risks and rewards has occurred in relation to leased assets; and

•  determining whether a provision or contingent liability should be recognised in respect of certain potential future 

obligations, particularly in respect of continuing healthcare.

1.6.2 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the CCG’s accounting 

policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

•  the assumptions applied in the estimation of activity not yet invoiced, including partially completed treatment spells as 

at the Statement of Financial Position date;    

•  the estimate of potential future liabilities in respect of continuing healthcare services; and                                                                                    

•  to estimate an accrual for two months of prescribing expenditure based on the ten months of actual charges received 

from the Prescription Pricing Division.

1.7  Revenue

Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is 

measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable.

Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.
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1. Accounting policies (continued)

1.8 Employee Benefits

1.8.1 Short-term Employee Benefits

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received 

from employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken.

The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial 

statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.

1.8.2 Retirement Benefit Costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. The scheme is an 

unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under 

the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that 

would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the 

scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the CCG of participating in the 

scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.

For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the 

scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the CCG 

commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.

1.9 Other Expenses

Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. 

They are measured at the fair value of the consideration payable.

Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when the CCG has a present legal or constructive 

obligation, which occurs when all of the conditions attached to the payment have been met.

1.10 Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred 

to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

1.10.1 The CCG as Lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease 

incentives are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis 

over the lease term.

Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

1.11 Cash & Cash Equivalents

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more 

than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and 

that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable 

on demand and that form an integral part of the CCG’s cash management.
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1. Accounting policies (continued)

1.12 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the CCG has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, 

it is probable that the CCG will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the 

amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to 

settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a 

provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the present 

value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:

                Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years inclusive): Minus 2.420% (2016/17: minus 2.70%)

                Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years inclusive): Minus 1.85% (2016/17: minus 1.95%)

                Timing of cash flows (over 10 years): Minus 1.56% (2016/17: minus 0.80%)

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third 

party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the 

amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

A restructuring provision is recognised when the CCG has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring 

and has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement 

the plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision 

includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those amounts that are both 

necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with on-going activities of the entity.

1.13 Clinical Negligence Costs

NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the CCG pays an annual contribution to NHS 

Resolution which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. 

Although NHS Resolution is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases the legal liability remains 

with the CCG.

1.14 Non-clinical Risk Pooling

The CCG participates in the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. This is a risk pooling scheme under which the CCG 

pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution and, in return, receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. 

The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to 

operating expenses as and when they become due.

1.15 Continuing healthcare risk pooling

In 2014/15, a risk pool scheme was introduced by NHS England for continuing healthcare claims, for claim periods 

prior to 31 March 2013.  Under the scheme CCGs contribute annually to a pooled fund, which is used to settle the 

claims.  Any claims after the 31 March 2013 are managed as part of the CCG's normal business.

1.16 Contingencies

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed 

only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the 

CCG, or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required to 

settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is 

disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the 

occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the CCG. A 

contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present value.
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1.17 Financial Assets

Financial assets are recognised when the CCG becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of 

trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the 

contractual rights have expired or the asset has been transferred.

Financial assets are classified into the following categories:

                Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss;

                Held to maturity investments;

                Available for sale financial assets; and

                Loans and receivables.

The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial 

recognition.

All CCG assets have been classified as loans and receivables.

1.17.1 Loans and Receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not 

quoted in an active market. After initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 

method, less any impairment.  Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.

Fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices where possible, otherwise by valuation techniques.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life 

of the financial asset, to the initial fair value of the financial asset.

At the end of the reporting period, the CCG assesses whether any financial assets, other than those held at ‘fair 

value through profit and loss’ are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses recognised if there 

is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events which occurred after the initial recognition of 

the asset and which has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the asset.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference 

between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the 

asset’s original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in expenditure and the carrying amount of the asset is 

reduced through a provision for impairment of receivables.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 

objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is 

reversed through expenditure to the extent that the carrying amount of the receivable at the date of the impairment 

is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

1.18 Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised on the Statement of Financial Position when the CCG becomes party to the 

contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services 

have been received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the 

liability has been paid or has expired.

1.18.1 Other Financial Liabilities

After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 

method, except for loans from the Department of Health and Social Care, which are carried at historic cost. The 

effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the life of the asset, 

to the net carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.
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1.19 Value Added Tax

1.20 Losses and Special Payments

1.21 Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted

2. Other Operating Revenue
2017/18 2017/18 2017/18 2016/17

Admin Programme Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

Non-patient care services to other bodies -                    302                302                426                     

Total other operating revenue -                    302                302                426                     

Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or 

passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures 

compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are 

handled.

Most of the activities of the CCG are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on purchases is 

not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed 

assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

Programme revenue is revenue received that is directly attributable to the provision of healthcare or healthcare services.

Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn down directly into the bank account of the CCG and 

credited to the General Fund.

Revenue is totally from the supply of services. The CCG receives no revenue from the sale of goods.

                IFRS 9: Financial Instruments (application from 1 January 2018)

                IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts (not applicable to DHSC group bodies)

                IFRS 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers (application from 1 January 2018)

The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2017/18, were they applied in that year.

The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2017/18. 

These standards are still subject to FREM adoption and early adoption is not therefore permitted.

Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which 

would have been made good through insurance cover had the CCG not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then being 

included as normal revenue expenditure).

                IFRS 16: Leases (application from 1 January 2019)

                IFRS 17: Insurance Contracts (application from 1 January 2021)

                IFRIC 22: Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration (application from 1 January 2018)

                IFRIC 23: Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments (application from 1 January 2019)
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3. Employee benefits and staff numbers

3.1.1 Employee benefits 2017/18

Total

Permanent 

Employees Other Total

Permanent 

Employees Other Total

Permanent 

Employees Other

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Employee Benefits

Salaries and wages 1,313            1,313                -                     1,196            1,196            -                     117                117                -                     

Social security costs 142                142                   -                     130                130                -                     12                  12                  -                     

Employer contributions to NHS Pension scheme 168                168                   -                     154                154                -                     14                  14                  -                     

Gross employee benefits expenditure 1,623            1,623                -                     1,480            1,480            -                     143                143                -                     

No amounts were recovered in respect of employee benefits and no employee benefits were capitalised during the year (2016/17: none).

3.1.1 Employee benefits prior year 2016/17

Total

Permanent 

Employees Other Total

Permanent 

Employees Other Total

Permanent 

Employees Other

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Employee Benefits

Salaries and wages 1,017            997                   20                  875                855                20                  142                142                -                     

Social security costs 102                102                   -                     95                  95                  -                     7                    7                    -                     

Employer contributions to NHS Pension scheme 117                117                   -                     113                113                -                     4                    4                    -                     

Termination benefits 80 80                     -                     80 80 -                     0 0 -                     

Gross employee benefits expenditure 1,316 1,296 20 1,163 1,143 20 153 153 0

3.2 Average number of people employed
2016/17

Total

Permanently 

employed Other Total

Number Number Number Number

Total 34                  34                     -                     23                  

None of the above people were engaged on capital projects (2016/17: none).

3.3  Staff sickness absence and ill health retirements
2017/18 2016/17

Number Number

Total Days Lost 210 237

Total Staff Years 30 26

Average working days lost 7 9

The staff sickness absence data for 2017/18 is based on the 12 months ended 31 December 2017 (2016/17: 12 months ended 31 December 2016).

No staff retired early on ill health grounds during the financial year (2016/17: none).

3.4 Exit packages agreed in the financial year

No exit packages have been agreed in the financial year (2016/17: £80k).

Admin ProgrammeTotal

Total Admin Programme

2017/18

Redundancy and other departure costs have been paid in accordance with the provisions of the NHS Scheme.  Where the CCG has agreed early retirements, the additional 

costs are met by the CCG and not the NHS Pension scheme.
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3. Employee benefits and staff numbers (continued)

3.5 Pension costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits payable and rules of 

the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/Pensions.

Both Schemes are unfunded, defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the 

direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The Schemes are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS 

bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.

Therefore, each Scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the CCG of participating in the Scheme is 

taken as equal to the contributions payable to that Scheme for the accounting period.

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would be 

determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be four 

years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows:

3.5.1 Full actuarial (funding) valuation

A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s Department) as at the 

end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated 

membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting 

purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2018, is based on valuation data at 31 March 2017, updated to 31 March 

2018 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, 

relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms part of the annual NHS 

Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published annually. Copies can also be 

obtained from The Stationery Office.

3.5.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the Scheme (taking into account its 

recent demographic experience), and to recommend the contribution rates to be paid by employers and scheme members. The last 

published actuarial valuation undertaken for the Scheme was completed for the year ending 31 March 2012. The Scheme Regulations 

allow for the level of contribution rates to be changed by the Secretary of State for Health, with the consent of HM Treasury, and 

consideration of the advice of the Scheme Actuary and employee and employer representatives as deemed appropriate. 

The next actuarial valuation is to be carried out as at 31 March 2016 and is currently being prepared. The direction assumptions are 

published by HM Treasury which are used to complete the valuation calculations, from which the final valuation report can be signed off by 

the scheme actuary.  This will set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019 and will consider the cost of the Scheme relative 

to the employer cost cap. There are provisions in the Public Service Pension Act 2013 to adjust member benefits or contribution rates if 

the cost of the Scheme changes by more than 2% of pay. Subject to this ‘employer cost cap’ assessment, any required revisions to 

member benefits or contribution rates will be determined by the Secretary of State for Health after consultation with the relevant 

stakeholders.

For 2017/18, employer's contributions of £167,732 (2016/17: £116,977) were payable to the NHS Pension Scheme at the rate of 14.38%

of pensionable pay. The Scheme’s actuary reviews employer contributions, usually every four years and now based on HMT Valuation

Directions, following a full scheme valuation. The latest review used data from 31 March 2012 and was published on the Government

website on 9 June 2012. These costs are included in the NHS pension line of Note 3.1.
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4. Operating expenses
2017/18 2017/18 2017/18 2016/17

Admin Programme Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

Gross employee benefits

Employee benefits excluding governing body members 1,235           143              1,378           981              

Executive governing body members 245              -                   245              335              

Total gross employee benefits 1,480           143              1,623           1,316           

Other costs

Services from other CCGs and NHS England 3,449           8,273           11,722         12,296         

Services from foundation trusts -                   275,983       275,983       268,072       

Services from other NHS trusts -                   612              612              813              

Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies -                   71,132         71,132         69,171         

Chair and Non Executive Members 96                -                   96                101              

Supplies and services – clinical -                   834              834              936              

Supplies and services – general 243              (33)               210              256              

Consultancy services -                   -                   -                   39                

Establishment 54                79                133              172              

Transport 2                  -                   2                  2                  

Audit fees 37                -                   37                65                

Other non statutory audit expenditure

·          Internal audit services 28                -                   28                30                

Prescribing costs -                   47,963         47,963         50,406         

General ophthalmic services -                   5                  5                  -                   

GPMS/APMS and PCTMS -                   38,808         38,808         37,847         

Other professional fees excl. audit 162              1                  163              261              

Legal Fees (5)                 8                  3                  -                   

Clinical negligence 4                  -                   4                  5                  

Education and training 3                  -                   3                  -                   

Provisions -                   -                   -                   (302)             

CHC Risk Pool contributions -                   -                   -                   337              

Total other costs 4,241           444,165       448,406       441,247       

Total operating expenses 5,721           444,308       450,029       442,563       

The CCGs contract for external audit services provides for a limitation of the auditor’s liability of £1,000,000.
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5.1 Better Payment Practice Code

Measure of compliance 2017/18 2017/18 2016/17 2016/17

Number £000 Number £000

Non-NHS Payables

Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the year 13,880 108,272 15,687 109,176

Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 13,743 107,560 15,370 108,224

Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target 99.01% 99.34% 97.98% 99.13%

NHS Payables

Total NHS Trade invoices paid in the year 2,264 288,542 2,188 284,269

Total NHS Trade invoices paid within target 2,262 288,536 2,184 284,261

Percentage of NHS Trade invoices paid within target 99.91% 100.00% 99.82% 100.00%

5.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998

There were no payments made in respect of late payments of commercial debts in 2017/18 (2016/17: none).

6. Income Generation Activities

The CCG does not undertake any income generation activities (2016/17: none).

7. Investment revenue

There was no investment revenue in 2017/18 (2016/17: none).

8. Other (gains) and losses

There were no other (gains) and losses in 2017/18 (2016/17: none).

9. Finance costs

There were no finance costs in 2017/18 (2016/17: none).

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of 

a valid invoice, whichever is later.
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10. Operating Leases

10.1 As lessee

10.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense 2017/18 2017/18 2017/18 2016/17

Buildings Other Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

Payments recognised as an expense

Minimum lease payments 663                  3                      666                  729        

Total 663                  3                      666                  729        

10.1.2 Future minimum lease payments 2017/18 2017/18 2017/18 2016/17

Buildings Other Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

Payable:

No later than one year -                       -                       -                       76          

Between one and five years -                       -                       -                       11          

Total -                       -                       -                       87          

The CCG has entered into a small number of formal operating lease arrangements, relating to leased cars, none of which are 

individually significant.  Specific lease terms vary by individual arrangement but are based upon standard practice for the type of 

arrangement involved.

The CCG occupies property owned and managed by NHS Property Services Limited and Community Health Partnership's 

Limited.  The charges shown in note 10.1.1 from NHS Property Services Limited are intended to reflect the cost of occupancy, or 

void space, attributable to the CCG, calculated based on market rents by NHS Property Services Limited. 

While our arrangements with NHS Property Services Limited and Community Health Partnership's Limited fall within the definition 

of operating leases, the rental charge for future years has not yet been agreed.  Consequently, this note does not include future 

minimum lease payments for these arrangements.
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11.  Trade and other receivables Current Non-current Current Non-current

31 March 2018 31 March 2018 31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000 £000 £000

NHS receivables: Revenue 355                    -                         1,128                 -                         

Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue 996                    -                         169                    -                         

Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments 300                    -                         246                    -                         

Provision for the impairment of receivables (1)                       -                         -                         -                         

VAT -                         -                         55                      -                         

Total trade and other receivables 1,650                 -                         1,598                 -                         

Total current and non current 1,650                 1,598                 

11.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired 31 March 2018 31 March 2017

£000 £000

By up to three months 96                      22                      

By three to six months -                         8                        

By more than six months -                         14                      

Total 96                      44                      

£0.5k of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the Statement of Financial Position date.

The CCG did not hold any collateral against receivables outstanding at 31 March 2018 (31 March 2017: none).

11.2  Provision for impairment of receivables 31 March 2018 31 March 2017

£000 £000

Balance at 1 April 2017 -                     (19)                     

Amounts written off during the year -                     19                      

(Increase) in receivables impaired (1)                       -                     

Balance at 31 March 2018 (1)                       -                     

The great majority of trade is with other NHS bodies, including other CCGs as commissioners for NHS patient care services.  As CCGs 

are funded by Government to commission NHS patient care services, no credit scoring of them is considered necessary.
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12. Cash and cash equivalents

2017/18 2016/17

£000 £000

Balance at 1 April 371 246

Net change in year (205) 125

Balance at 31 March 166 371

Made up of:

Cash with the Government Banking Service 166 371

Cash and cash equivalents as in Statement of Financial Position 166 371

Balance at 31 March 166 371

The CCG held £nil cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 2018 on behalf of patients (31 March 2017: £nil).

13. Trade and other payables
Current Non-current Current Non-current

31 March 2018 31 March 2018 31 March 2017 31 March 2017

£000 £000 £000 £000

NHS payables: revenue 3,348                 -                         3,424                 -                         

NHS accruals 1,820                 -                         1,278                 -                         

Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue 1,257                 -                         1,214                 -                         

Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals 18,270               -                         15,061               -                         

Social security costs 27                      -                         17                      -                         

Tax 28                      -                         21                      -                         

Other payables 652                    -                         347                    -                         

Total trade and other payables 25,402               -                         21,362               -                         

Total current and non-current 25,402               21,362               

Other payables include £309k in respect of outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2018 (31 March 2017: £308k).

14. Provisions

There were no provisions to recognise in the financial statements at 31 March 2018 (31 March 2017: £3k).

15. Contingencies

There were no contingent assets or liabilities at 31 March 2018 (31 March 2017: none).

At 31 March 2018, the CCG had no liabilities due in future years under arrangements to buy out the liability for early retirement over 5 years (31 

March 2017: none).
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16. Commitments

17. Financial instruments

17.1 Financial risk management

17.1.1 Currency risk

17.1.2 Interest rate risk

17.1.3 Credit risk

17.1.4 Liquidity risk

The CCG has no borrowings and has only limited powers to borrow funds from government for capital 

expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS England. The CCG therefore has low exposure to 

interest rate fluctuations.

Because the majority of the CCG's revenue comes from parliamentary funding, the CCG has low exposure to 

credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as 

disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.

The CCG is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources 

voted annually by Parliament. The CCG draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The CCG 

is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during 

the period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.

As the CCG is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced 

by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk 

than would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The CCG 

has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-

to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the CCG in undertaking its 

activities.

Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined 

formally within the CCG's standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury 

activity is subject to review by the CCG's internal auditors.

The CCG is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities 

being in the UK and sterling based. The CCG has no overseas operations. The CCG therefore has low 

exposure to currency rate fluctuations.

There were no contracted or non-cancellable contracts entered into by the CCG at 31 March 2018 which are 

not otherwise included in these financial statements (31 March 2017: none).
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17. Financial instruments (continued)

17.2 Financial assets

Loans and 

Receivables Total

Loans and 

Receivables Total

31 March 2018 31 March 2018 31 March 2017 31 March 2017

£000 £000 £000 £000

Receivables:

·          NHS 355                   355                   1,128                1,128                

·          Non-NHS 995                   995                   169                   169                   

Cash at bank and in hand 166                   166                   371                   371                   

Total at 31 March 1,516                1,516                1,668                1,668                

17.3 Financial liabilities

Other Total Other Total

31 March 2018 31 March 2018 31 March 2017 31 March 2017

£000 £000 £000 £000

Payables:

·          NHS 5,168 5,168 4,702 4,702

·          Non-NHS 20,179 20,179 16,622 16,622

Total at 31 March 25,347 25,347 21,324 21,324

18. Operating segments

19. Pooled budgets

The CCG entered into a pooled budget in relation to the loan of community equipment with:

- Middlesbrough Council

- Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council

- Hartlepool Borough Council

- NHS South Tees CCG

2017/18 2016/17
£000 £000

Income 1,295 1,181

Expenditure (1,282) (1,152)

Net Underspend 13 29

- Hartlepool Borough Council (Better Care Fund) 2017/18 2016/17
£000 £000

Income 6,923 7,839

Expenditure (6,923) (7,414)

Net Underspend 0 425

- Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council (Better Care Fund) 2017/18 2016/17
£000 £000

Income 18,820 14,536

Expenditure (17,486) (12,943)

Net Underspend 1,334 1,593

The CCG contribution to the pooled budget in 2017/18 was £18,808k which was used to commission a range of health and social care services in line with the 

agreed objectives of the Better Care Fund (2016/17: £17,769k).  The Better Care Fund provides a vehicle for furthering integration between health and social 

care to support the transformation that is required to address the sustainability in the  system.  This contribution to the Better Care Fund is recognised within the 

financial statements as CCG expenditure.

The CCG has considered the definition of an operating segment contained within IFRS 8 in determining its operating segments, in particular considering the 

internal reporting to the CCG's Governing Body, considered to be the 'chief operating decision maker' of the CCG, which was used for the purpose of resource 

allocation and assessment of performance.

All activity performed by the CCG relates to its role as a commissioner of healthcare for its relevant population.  As a result, the CCG considers that it has only 

one operating segment, being the commissioning of healthcare services.

An analysis of both the income and expenditure and net assets relating to the segment can be found in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure and 

Statement of Financial Position respectively.

The CCG entered into a pooled budget arrangement with Hartlepool Borough Council and Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council in respect of the Better Care 

Fund, with effect from 1 April 2015, through a section 75 agreement.  

The pool for Tees Community Equipment Services is hosted by Middlesbrough Council.  Under the arrangement, funds are pooled under Section 75 of the NHS 

Act 2006 for the loan of community equipment. The memorandum account for the pooled budget is:
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20. Related party transactions

CCG Governing Body Role Dates Related Party

Payments to 

Related 

Party

Receipts 

from 

Related 

Party

Amounts 

owed to 

Related 

Party

Amounts 

due from 

Related 

Party

£000 £000 £000 £000

Dr Andrea Jones Chief Clinical Officer 01/10/2017 - 31/03/2018 NHS Darlington CCG 426              374          15          -             

Ali Wilson Chief Officer 01/04/2017 - 31/03/2018 NHS Darlington CCG 426              374          15          -             

Ali Wilson Chief Officer 01/04/2017 - 31/03/2018

County Durham & Darlington NHS FT (North East 

Leadership academy) 1,414           -               102        -             

Ali Wilson Chief Officer 01/04/2017 - 31/03/2018 North of England Commissioning Support 5,774           -               111        -             

Dr Boleslaw Posmyk Chair of Governing Body 01/04/2017 - 31/03/2018 Havelock Grange Practice 1,708           -               4            -             

Dr Boleslaw Posmyk Chair of Governing Body 01/04/2017 - 31/03/2018 Hartlepool & Stockton Health LTD 1,863           -               31          -             

Graeme Niven Chief Financial Officer 01/04/2017 - 31/03/2018 NHS Darlington CCG 426              374          15          -             
Lisa Tempest Director of Planning, Performance & Assurance 01/04/2017 - 31/03/2018 NHS Darlington CCG 426              374          15          -             

Karen Hawkins Director of Commissioning & Transformation 01/04/2017 - 31/03/2018 NHS Darlington CCG 426              374          15          -             

Jean Golightly Executive Nurse 01/04/2017 - 31/03/2018 NHS South Tees CCG 4,460           77            98          193        

Dr Nick Timlin GP Governing Body Member 01/04/2017 - 31/03/2018 McKenzie House Surgery 2,890           -               -             -             

Dr Nick Timlin GP Governing Body Member 01/04/2017 - 31/03/2018 Hartlepool & Stockton Health LTD 1,863           -               31          -             

Dr David Hodges Governing Body Member 01/04/2017 - 31/03/2018 Alma Medical Centre 1,173           -               2            -             

Dr David Hodges Governing Body Member 01/04/2017 - 31/03/2018 Hartlepool & Stockton Health LTD 1,863           -               31          -             

Dr David Hodges Governing Body Member 01/04/2017 - 31/03/2018 Queens Park Medical Centre 2,391           -               8            -             

Hilary Thompson Lay member for public and patient involvement 01/04/2017 - 31/03/2018 Hartlepool Families First 1                  -               -             -             

Dr Adam Hassan GP Governing Body Member 01/04/2017 - 31/03/2018 Woodlands Family Medical Centre 1,582           -               4            -             

Dr Adam Hassan GP Governing Body Member 01/04/2017 - 31/03/2018 Hartlepool & Stockton Health LTD 1,863           -               31          -             

Dr Adam Hassan GP Governing Body Member 01/04/2017 - 31/03/2018 Elm Tree practice 616              -               1            -             

Andie MacKay Governing Body Lay Member 01/04/2017 - 31/03/2018 Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council 11,251         38            1,508     -             

Andie MacKay Governing Body Lay Member 01/04/2017 - 31/03/2018 NHS Darlington CCG 426              374          15          -             

John Flook Governing Body Lay Member 01/04/2017 - 31/03/2018 NHS Darlington CCG 426              374          15          -             

All of these transactions were undertaken under standard terms and conditions in the normal course of business.

• NHS England (including North of England Commissioning Support Unit); • NHS Resolution; and,

• NHS Foundation Trusts; • NHS Business Services Authority.

• NHS Trusts; • NHS Property Services.

2016/17 comparative figures:

Governing Body member Dates Related Party

Payments to 

Related 

Party

Receipts 

from 

Related 

Party

Amounts 

owed to 

Related 

Party

Amounts 

due from 

Related 

Party

£000 £000 £000 £000

Ali Wilson Chief Officer 01/04/2016 - 31/03/2017

Academic Health Science Network for the North East 

& North Cumbria Ltd 15                -               -             -             

Ali Wilson Chief Officer 01/04/2016 - 31/03/2017

County Durham & Darlington NHS FT (North East 

Leadership academy) 1,284           -               67          -             

Ali Wilson Chief Officer 01/04/2016 - 31/03/2017 NHS Darlington CCG 131              -               136        123        

Dr Boleslaw Posmyk Chair of Governing Body 01/04/2016 - 31/03/2017 Havelock Grange Practice 1,657           4              96          -             

Dr Boleslaw Posmyk Chair of Governing Body 01/04/2016 - 31/03/2017 Hartlepool & Stockton Health LTD 1,365           -               310        -             

Graeme Niven Chief Financial Officer 01/01/2017 - 31/03/2017 NHS Darlington CCG 131              -               136        123        

Dr Nick Timlin GP Governing Body Member 01/04/2016 - 31/03/2017 McKenzie House Surgery 1,953           39            128        -             

Dr Nick Timlin GP Governing Body Member 01/04/2016 - 31/03/2017 Hartlepool & Stockton Health LTD 1,365           -               310        -             

Dr Paul Williams GP Governing Body Member 01/04/2016 - 30/04/2017 Arrival Practice 325              -               38          -             

Dr Paul Williams GP Governing Body Member 01/04/2016 - 30/04/2017 Hartlepool & Stockton Health LTD 1,365           -               310        -             

Jean Golightly Executive Nurse 01/04/2016 - 31/03/2017 NHS South Tees CCG 6,516           153          -             43          

Dr David Hodges Governing Body Member 01/04/2016 - 31/03/2017 Alma Medical Centre 1,238           -               38          -             

Dr David Hodges Governing Body Member 01/04/2016 - 31/03/2017 Hartlepool & Stockton Health LTD 1,365           -               310        -             

Dr David Hodges Governing Body Member 01/04/2016 - 31/03/2017 Queens Park Medical Centre 2,415           10            19          -             

Dr David Hodges Governing Body Member 01/04/2016 - 31/03/2017 Northern Doctors Urgent Care 2,144           -               -             -             

Dr Salvi Patel GP Member 01/04/2016 - 31/03/2017 Hartlepool & Stockton Health LTD 1,365           -               310        -             

Dr Salvi Patel GP Member 01/04/2016 - 31/03/2017 Seaton Surgery 385              7              -             -             

Dr Adam Hassan GP Governing Body Member 01/06/2016 - 31/03/2017 Woodlands Family Medical Centre 1,644           -               68          -             

Dr Adam Hassan GP Governing Body Member 01/06/2016 - 31/03/2017 Hartlepool & Stockton Health LTD 1,365           -               310        -             

Andie MacKay Governing Body Lay Member 01/01/2017 - 31/03/2017 Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council 16,569         36            85          -             

During 2016/17 the CCG undertook transactions with the following Governing Body members or members of the key management staff, or parties related to any of them:

During the year the CCG has undertaken transactions with the following CCG Governing Body members or members of the key management staff, or parties related to any of them:

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the clinical commissioning group has had a significant number of material transactions with entities for which the Department is 

regarded as the parent Department. For example:

In addition, the CCG has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local government bodies. Most of these transactions have been with Stockton-on-

Tees Borough Council and Hartlepool Borough Council.

The increase in related parties disclosed in the table above relate to the Joint Management Structure from the 1st January 2017, where CCG Governing Members are jointly appointed across Hartlepool and 

Stockton-on-Tees CCG and Darlington CCG.
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21. Events after the end of the reporting period

22. Losses and special payments

There are 2 losses identified in 2017/18 totalling £1k relating to administrative write-offs (2016/17: none).

23. Financial performance targets

CCGs have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).

The CCG's performance against those duties was as follows:

2017/18 2017/18 2016/17 2016/17

Target Performance Target Performance

Expenditure not to exceed income 452,298          449,727          451,564            442,137          

Capital resource use does not exceed the amount 

specified in Directions -                  -                  -                   -                  

Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount 

specified in Directions 452,298          449,727          451,564            442,137          

Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not 

exceed the amount specified in Directions -                  -                  -                   -                  

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does 

not exceed the amount specified in Directions 39,960            38,640            39,273              37,671            

Revenue administration resource use does not 

exceed the amount specified in Directions 6,552              5,721              6,403                5,462              

Performance against the revenue expenditure duties is further analysed below:

2017/18 2017/18 2017/18
Programme 

Resource

Administration 

Resource Total

£000 £000 £000

Revenue resource 445,746          6,552                452,298          

Net operating cost for the financial year 444,006          5,721                449,727          

Underspend against revenue resource 1,740              831                   2,571              

2016/17 2016/17 2016/17
Programme 

Resource

Administration 

Resource Total

£000 £000 £000

Revenue resource 445,161          6,403                451,564          

Net operating cost for the financial year 436,675          5,462                442,137          

Underspend against revenue resource 8,486              941                   9,427              

There are no post balance sheet events which will have a material effect on the financial statements of the CCG.

The CCG received no capital resource during 2017/18 and incurred no capital expenditure (2016/17: none).

During 2017/18, all CCGs were mandated by NHS England to hold 0.5% of their total funding allocation uncommitted as a ‘risk 

reserve’.  For NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG this equated to £2,028k.  During 2017/18 NHS England also held 

the Category M drugs rebate which would otherwise have been available to CCGs, the value of which for NHS Hartlepool and 

Stockton-on-Tees CCG was £543k.  In March 2018, NHS England confirmed that all CCGs were required to improve the 

reported position by the value of the 0.5% risk reserve together with the Category M drugs rebate which was being returned to 

CCGs.  This has resulted in an in-year underspend against revenue resource in 2017/18 of £2,571k shown above.  

Previously NHS England has reported CCG financial performance by reference to the cumulative surplus/deficit position.  For 

2017/18 onwards, CCG financial performance is now reported on an in-year basis.  Accordingly, the 2017/18 figures within this 

note reflect only the in-year position, being the difference between the in-year allocation (plus any pre-approved surplus 

drawdown) and total expenditure, rather than the total cumulative surplus position shown in 2016/17.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE GOVERNING BODY 
OF NHS HARTLEPOOL AND STOCKTON-ON-TEES CLINICAL COMMISSIONING 
GROUP 
 
Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees Clinical 
Commissioning Group for the year ended 31 March 2018 under the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014. The financial statements comprise the Statement of Comprehensive 
Net Expenditure, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in 
Taxpayers’ Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows and the related notes 1 to 23. The financial 
reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, and 
as interpreted and adapted by the 2017/18 HM Treasury’s Financial Reporting Manual (‘the 
2017/18 FReM’) as contained in the Department of Health and Social Care Group 
Accounting Manual 2017/18 and the Accounts Direction issued by the NHS Commissioning 
Board with the approval of the Secretary of State as relevant to the National Health Service 
in England (‘the Accounts Direction’). 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements: 
 
► give a true and fair view of the financial position of NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-

Tees Clinical Commissioning Group as at 31 March 2018 and of its net operating costs 
for the year then ended; and 

► have been properly prepared in accordance with the Health and Social Care Act 2012 
and the Accounts Directions issued thereunder. 

 
Basis for opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (‘ISAs 
(UK)’) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in 
the ‘Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ section of our report 
below. We are independent of the CCG in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical 
Standard and the Comptroller and Auditor General’s (‘C&AG’) AGN01, and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. 

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the members of the Governing Body of NHS Hartlepool and 
Stockton-on-Tees CCG in accordance with Part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014 and for no other purpose. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state 
to the members of the Governing Body of the CCG those matters we are required to state to 
them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, 
we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the members as a body, for 
our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs 
(UK) require us to report to you where: 



► the Accountable Officer’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the 
preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate; or 

► the Accountable Officer has not disclosed in the financial statements any identified 
material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the CCG’s ability to continue 
to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months 
from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue. 

 
Other information 
 
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report, other than 
the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The Accountable Officer is 
responsible for the other information. 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to 
the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to 
be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the 
financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other 
information, we are required to report that fact. 
 
We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Health and Social Care Act 2012 
 
In our opinion, the part of the Remuneration and Staff Report to be audited has been 
properly prepared in accordance with the Health and Social Care Act 2012 and the Accounts 
Directions issued thereunder. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
 
We are required to report to you if:  
 
► in our opinion, the Governance Statement does not comply with the guidance issued by 

the NHS Commissioning Board; or 

► we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 because we have reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer 
of the CCG, is about to make, or has made, a decision which involves or would involve 
the body incurring unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has begun to take a 
course of action which, if followed to its conclusion , would be unlawful and likely to 
cause a loss or deficiency; or 

► we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014; or 

► we make a written recommendation to the CCG under section 24 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014; or 



► we are not satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 
March 2018. 

We have nothing to report in these respects.  
 
Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer 
 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities set out on 
pages 90 and 91, the Accountable Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view and is also responsible 
for ensuring the regularity of expenditure and income. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is responsible for assessing 
the CCG’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Accountable 
Officer either intends to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

As explained in the Governance Statement, the Accountable Officer is responsible for the 
arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the CCG's 
resources. We are required under Section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014 to be satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. Section 21(5)(b) of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 requires that our report must not contain our opinion if we are 
satisfied that proper arrangements are in place. 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements.   

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located 
on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at 
https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.  This description forms part of our auditor’s 
report. 
 
Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in the use of resources 
 
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having 
regard to the guidance on the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller and Auditor 
General in August 2017, as to whether the CCG had proper arrangements to ensure it took 
properly informed decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable 
outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The Comptroller and Auditor General determined 
this criterion as that necessary for us to consider under the Code of Audit Practice in 
satisfying ourselves whether the CCG put in place proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 
2018. 
 



We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice.  Based on our risk 
assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary to form a view on 
whether, in all significant respects, the CCG had put in place proper arrangements to secure 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 
 
We are required under Section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to be 
satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources. Section 21(5)(b) of the Local Audit and Accountability 
Act 2014 requires that our report must not contain our opinion if we are satisfied that proper 
arrangements are in place. 
 
We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the CCG’s 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are 
operating effectively. 
 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
 
Regularity opinion 
 
We are responsible for giving an opinion on the regularity of expenditure and income in 
accordance with the Code of Audit Practice prepared by the Comptroller and Auditor 
General as required by the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (‘the Code of Audit 
Practice’). 
 
We are required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the 
expenditure and income recorded in the financial statements have been applied to the 
purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities 
which govern them. 
 
In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income reflected in the financial 
statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial 
transactions conform to the authorities which govern them. 
 
Certificate 
 
We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of NHS Hartlepool and 
Stockton-on-Tees CCG in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice. 
 
 
 
 
 
Nicola Wright (Key Audit Partner) 
Ernst & Young LLP (Local Auditor) 
Newcastle upon Tyne 
29 May 2018 
 
 
The maintenance and integrity of the NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG web site is the 
responsibility of the members; the work carried out by the auditors does not involve consideration of 
these matters and, accordingly, the auditors accept no responsibility for any changes that may have 
occurred to the financial statements since they were initially presented on the web site. 
Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial 
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 
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